



Council of the
European Union

Brussels, 16 January 2018
(OR. en)

5296/18

**Interinstitutional File:
2016/0224 (COD)**

LIMITE

**ASILE 2
CODEC 40**

NOTE

From:	Presidency
To:	Delegations
No. Cion doc.:	11317/16
Subject:	Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a common procedure for international protection in the Union and repealing Directive 2013/32/EU (First reading)

Presidency compromise proposals were discussed in relations to Articles 1-50 during five meetings of the Asylum Working Party (26-27 September, 5-6 October, 24-25 October, 21-22 November and 4-5 December 2017) and the second examination of the proposal was finalised.

This document contains compromise proposals suggested by the Presidency in relation to Articles 1-43 (third examination). The Presidency deems it is important to issue a document that contains a larger number of compromise proposals in order to provide delegations with the opportunity to follow the changes and the links between the relevant provisions.

Taking into account that the examination of the Dublin Regulation has been resumed, the compromise proposals should be read in conjunction with the compromise proposals made in relation to the Dublin Regulation.

The CLS is still examining the provisions concerning data retention, therefore no changes have been proposed in this regard.

The proposed amendments by the Presidency can be summarised as follows:

- technical adaptations to reflect changes in the Qualification Regulation and in the Reception Conditions Directive;
- changes aiming to keep a system of legal assistance, without representation, free of charge in the administrative procedure, and to maintain free legal assistance and representation in the appeal procedure, as provided for in the Asylum Procedure Directive;
- changes aiming to alleviate the administrative burden for the authorities by providing an opportunity for the Commission to draw up a common leaflet to be used for the purposes of providing information to the applicants on their rights and obligations;
- adaptations of the provisions regarding minors mirroring the Council’s mandate for negotiations with the EP on the Reception Conditions Directive;
- adaptations of the provisions related to the Dublin Regulation, in particular as regards the admissibility assessment;
- other clarifications.

Suggested modifications are indicated as follows:

- new text compared to the Commission proposal is in **bold**;
- new text compared to the previous version is in **bold underline**;
- deleted text is in ~~striketrough~~.

Comments made by delegations orally and in writing, as well as explanations given by the Commission and the Presidency appear in the footnotes of the Annex.

2016/0224 (COD)

Proposal for a

REGULATION OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL

establishing a common procedure for international protection in the Union and repealing Directive 2013/32/EU¹

THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL OF THE EUROPEAN UNION,

Having regard to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, and in particular Article 78(2)(d) thereof,

Having regard to the proposal from the European Commission,

Having regard to the opinion of the European Economic and Social Committee,

Having regard to the opinion of the Committee of the Regions,

Acting in accordance with the ordinary legislative procedure,

¹ **HU, IT, NL, SI:** parliamentary reservation. **AT, BE, CZ, EL, ES, FI, FR, HU, IE, IT, LT, NL, PL, PT, SE, SI:** scrutiny reservation. **FR, PL, SK:** Directive instead of a Regulation.

Whereas:

- (1) The objective of this Regulation is to streamline, simplify and harmonise the procedural arrangements of the Member States by establishing a common procedure for international protection in the Union. To meet that objective, a number of substantive changes are made to Directive 2013/32/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council² and that Directive should be repealed and replaced by a Regulation. References to the repealed Directive should be construed as references to this Regulation.
- (2) A common policy on asylum, including a Common European Asylum System which is based on the full and inclusive application of the Geneva Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees of 28 July 1951, as amended by the New York Protocol of 31 January 1967 (Geneva Convention), is a constituent part of the European Union's objective of establishing progressively an area of freedom, security and justice open to those who, forced by circumstances, legitimately seek protection in the Union. Such a policy should be governed by the principle of solidarity and fair sharing of responsibility, including its financial implications, between the Member States.
- (3) The Common European Asylum System is based on common standards for asylum procedures, recognition and protection offered at Union level, reception conditions and a system for determining the Member State responsible for asylum seekers. Notwithstanding progress achieved so far in the progressive development of the Common European Asylum System, there are still significant disparities between the Member States in the types of procedures used, the recognition rates, the type of protection granted, the level of material reception conditions and benefits given to applicants and beneficiaries of international protection. These divergences are important drivers of secondary movements and undermine the objective of ensuring that in a Common European Asylum System all applicants are equally treated wherever they apply in the Union.

² Directive 2013/32/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on common procedures for granting and withdrawing international protection (recast) (OJ L180, 29.6.2013, p. 60).

- (4) In its Communication of 6 April 2016,³ the Commission set out its options for improving the Common European Asylum System, namely to establish a sustainable and fair system for determining the Member State responsible for asylum seekers, to reinforce the Eurodac system, to achieve greater convergence in the EU asylum system, to prevent secondary movements within the Union and a new mandate for the European Union Agency for Asylum. That Communication is in line with calls by the European Council on 18-19 February 2016⁴ to make progress towards reforming the EU's existing framework so as to ensure a humane and efficient asylum policy. It also proposes a way forward in line with the holistic approach to migration set out by the European Parliament in its own initiative report of 12 April 2016.
- (5) For a well-functioning Common European Asylum System, substantial progress should be made regarding the convergence of national asylum systems. The current disparate asylum procedures in all Member States should be replaced with a common procedure for granting and withdrawing international protection applicable across all Member States pursuant to Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX of the European Parliament and of the Council (Qualification Regulation)⁵ ensuring the timeliness and effectiveness of the procedure. Applications made by the third-country nationals and stateless persons for the international protection should be examined in a procedure, which is governed by the same rules, regardless of the Member State where the application is lodged to ensure equity in the treatment of applications for international protection, clarity and legal certainty for the individual applicant.

³ COM(2016) 197 final.

⁴ EUCO 19.02.2016, SN 1/16.

⁵ OJ L [...], [...], p. [...].

- (6) A common procedure for granting and withdrawing international protection should limit the secondary movements of applicants for international protection between Member States, where such movements would be caused by differences in legal frameworks, by replacing the current discretionary provisions with harmonised rules and by clarifying the rights and obligations of applicants and the consequences of non-compliance with those obligations, and create equivalent conditions for the application of Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation) in Member States.
- (7) This Regulation should apply to all applications for international protection made in the territory of the Member States, including those made at the external border, on the territorial sea or in the transit zones of Member States, and the withdrawal of international protection. Persons seeking international protection who are present on the territorial sea of a Member State should be disembarked on land and have their applications examined in accordance with this Regulation.
- (8) This Regulation should apply to applications for international protection in a procedure where it is examined whether the applicants qualify as beneficiaries of international protection in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation). In addition to the international protection, the Member States may also grant under their national law other national humanitarian statuses to those who do not qualify for the refugee status or subsidiary protection status. In order to streamline the procedures in Member States, the Member States should have the possibility to apply this Regulation also to applications for any kind of such other protection.
- (9) With respect to the treatment of persons falling within the scope of this Regulation, Member States are bound by obligations under instruments of international law to which they are party.

- (10) The resources of the Asylum, Migration and Integration Fund should be mobilised to provide adequate support to Member States' efforts in applying this Regulation, in particular to those Member States which are faced with specific and disproportionate pressures on their asylum and reception systems.
- (11) The European Union Agency for Asylum should provide Member State with the necessary operational and technical assistance in the application of this Regulation, in particular by providing experts to assist national authorities to receive, register, and examine applications for international protection and by providing updated information on third countries, including country of origin information and guidance on the situation in specific countries of origin. When applying this Regulation, Member States should take into account operational standards, indicators, guidelines and best practices developed by the European Union Agency for Asylum.
- (12) In the interests of a correct recognition of those persons in need of protection as refugees within the meaning of Article 1 of the Geneva Convention or as persons eligible for subsidiary protection, every applicant should have an effective access to the procedure, the opportunity to cooperate and properly communicate with the responsible authorities so as to present the relevant facts of his or her case and sufficient procedural guarantees to pursue his or her case throughout all stages of the procedure.

- (13) The applicant should be provided with an effective opportunity to present all relevant elements at his or her disposal to the determining authority. For this reason, the applicant should, subject to limited exceptions, enjoy the right to be heard through a personal interview on the admissibility or on merits of his or her application, as appropriate. For the right to a personal interview to be effective, the applicant should be assisted by an interpreter and be given the opportunity to provide his or explanations concerning the grounds for his or her application in a comprehensive manner. The applicant should be given sufficient time to prepare and consult with his or her legal adviser or counsellor, and he or she may be assisted by the legal adviser or counsellor during the interview. The personal interview should be conducted under conditions which ensure appropriate confidentiality and by adequately trained and competent personnel, including where necessary, personnel from authorities of other Member States or experts deployed by the European Union Agency for Asylum. The personal interview may only be omitted when the determining authority is to take a positive decision on the application or is of the opinion that the applicant is unfit or unable to be interviewed owing to enduring circumstance beyond his or her control. Given that the personal interview is an essential part of the examination of the application, the interview should be recorded and the applicants and their legal advisers should be given access to the recording, as well as to the report or transcript of the interview before the determining authority takes a decision, or in the case of an accelerated examination procedure, at the same time as the decision is made.

- (14) It is in the interests of both Member States and applicants to ensure a correct recognition of international protection needs already at the stage of the administrative procedure by providing good quality information and legal support which leads to more efficient and better quality decision-making. For that purpose, access to legal assistance and representation should be an integral part of the common procedure for international protection. In order to ensure the effective protection of the applicant's rights, particularly the right of defence and the principle of fairness, and to ensure the economy of the procedure, applicants should, upon their request and subject to conditions set out in this Regulation, be provided with free legal assistance and representation during the administrative procedure and in the appeal procedure. The free legal assistance and representation should be provided by persons competent to provide them under national law.
- (15) Certain applicants may be in need of special procedural guarantees due, *inter alia*, to their age, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity, disability, serious illness, mental disorders or as a consequence of torture, rape or other serious forms of psychological, physical, sexual or gender-based violence. It is necessary to systematically assess whether an individual applicant is in need of special procedural guarantees and identify those applicants as early as possible from the moment an application is made and before a decision is taken.
- (16) To ensure that the identification of applicants in need of special procedural guarantees takes place as early as possible, the personnel of the authorities responsible for receiving and registering applications should be adequately trained to detect signs of vulnerability signs and they should receive appropriate instructions for that purpose. Further measures dealing with identification and documentation of symptoms and signs of torture or other serious acts of physical or psychological violence, including acts of sexual violence, in procedures covered by this Regulation should, *inter alia*, be based on the Manual on Effective Investigation and Documentation of Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (Istanbul Protocol).

- (17) Applicants who are identified as being in need of special procedural guarantees should be provided with adequate support, including sufficient time, in order to create the conditions necessary for their effective access to procedures and for presenting the elements needed to substantiate their application for international protection. Where it is not possible to provide adequate support in the framework of an accelerated examination procedure or a border procedure, an applicant in need of special procedural guarantees should be exempted from those procedures. The need for special procedural guarantees of a nature that could prevent the application of accelerated or border procedures should also mean that the applicant is provided with additional guarantees in cases where his or her appeal does not have automatic suspensive effect, with a view to making the remedy effective in his or her particular circumstances.
- (18) With a view to ensuring substantive equality between female and male applicants, examination procedures should be gender-sensitive. In particular, personal interviews should be organised in a way which makes it possible for both female and male applicants to speak about their past experiences in cases involving gender-based persecution. For this purpose, women should be given an effective opportunity to be interviewed separately from their spouse, partner or other family members. Where possible, women and girls should be provided with female interpreters and interviewers. Medical examinations on women and girls should be carried out by female medical practitioners, in particular having regard to the fact that the applicant may have been a victim of gender-based violence. The complexity of gender-related claims should be properly taken into account in procedures based on the concept of first country of asylum, the concept of safe third country, the concept of safe country of origin and in the notion of subsequent applications.
- (19) When, in the framework of an application being processed, the applicant is searched, that search should be carried by a person of the same sex. This should be without prejudice to a search carried out, for security reasons, on the basis of national law.

- (20) The best interests of the child should be a primary consideration of Member States when applying this Regulation, in accordance with Article 24 of the Charter and the 1989 United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child. In assessing the best interests of the child, Member States should in particular take due account of the minor's well-being and social development, including his or her background. In view of Article 12 of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child concerning the child's right to be heard, the determining authority shall provide a minor the opportunity of a personal interview unless this is manifestly not in the minor's best interests.
- (21) The common procedure streamlines the time-limits for an individual to accede to the procedure, for the examination of the application by the determining authority as well as for the examination of first level appeals by judicial authorities. Whereas a disproportionate number of simultaneous applications may risk delaying access to the procedure and the examination of the applications, a measure of flexibility to exceptionally extend those time-limits may at times be needed. However, to ensure an effective process, extending those time-limits should be a measure of last resort considering that Member States should regularly review their needs to maintain an efficient asylum system, including by preparing contingency plans where necessary, and considering that the European Union Agency for Asylum should provide Member States with the necessary operational and technical assistance. Where Member States foresee that they would not be able to meet the set time-limits, they should request assistance from the European Union Agency for Asylum. Where no such request is made, and because of the disproportionate pressure the asylum system in a Member State becomes ineffective to the extent of jeopardising the functioning of Common European Asylum System, the Agency may, based on an implementing decision of the Commission, take measures in support of that Member State.

- (22) Access to the common procedure should be based on a three-step approach consisting of the making, registering and lodging of an application. Making an application is the first step that triggers the application of this Regulation. A third-country national or stateless person is considered to have made an application when expressing a wish to receive international protection from a Member State. Such a wish may be expressed in any form and the individual applicant need not necessarily use specific words such as international protection, asylum or subsidiary protection. The defining element should be the expression by the third country national or the stateless person of a fear of persecution or serious harm upon return to his or her country of origin, or in the case of a stateless person, to his or her country of former habitual residence. In case of doubt whether a certain declaration may be construed as an application for international protection, the third-country national or stateless person should be expressly asked whether he or she wishes to receive international protection. The applicant should benefit from rights under this Regulation and Directive XXX/XXX/EU (Reception Conditions Directive)⁶ as soon as he or she makes an application.
- (23) An application should be registered as soon as it is made. At this stage, the authorities responsible for receiving and registering applications, including border guards, police, immigration authorities and authorities responsible for detention facilities should register the application together with the personal details of the individual applicant. Those authorities should inform the applicant of his or her rights and obligations, as well as the consequences for the applicant in case of non-compliance with those obligations. The applicant should be given a document certifying that an application has been made. The time limit for lodging an application starts to run from the moment an application is registered.

⁶ OJ L [...], [...], p. [...].

- (24) The lodging of the application is the act that formalises the application for international protection. The applicant should be given the necessary information as to how and where to lodge his or her application and he or she should be given an effective opportunity to do so. At this stage he or she is required to submit all the elements at his or her disposal needed to substantiate and complete the application. The time-limit for the administrative procedure starts to run from the moment an application is lodged. At that time, the applicant should be given a document which certifies his or her status as an applicant, and which should be valid for the duration of the his or her right to remain on the territory of the Member State responsible for examining the application.
- (25) The applicant should be informed properly of his or her rights and obligations in a timely manner and in a language that he or she understands or is reasonably meant to understand. Having regard to the fact that where, for instance, the applicant refuses to cooperate with the national authorities by not providing the elements necessary for the examination of the application and by not providing his or her fingerprints or facial image, or fails to lodge his or her application within the set time limit, the application could be rejected as abandoned, it is necessary that the applicant be informed of the consequences for not complying with those obligations.
- (26) To be able to fulfil their obligations under this Regulation, the personnel of the authorities responsible for receiving and registering applications should have appropriate knowledge and should receive the necessary training in the field of international protection, including with the support of the European Union Agency for Asylum. They should also be given the appropriate means and instructions to effectively perform their tasks.
- (27) In order to facilitate access to the procedure at border crossing points and in detention facilities, information should be made available on the possibility to apply for international protection. Basic communication necessary to enable the competent authorities to understand if persons declare their wish to receive international protection should be ensured through interpretation arrangements.

- (28) This Regulation should provide for the possibility that applicants lodge an application on behalf of their spouse, partner in a stable and durable relationship, dependant adults and minors. This option allows for the joint examination of those applications. The right of each individual to seek international protection is guaranteed by the fact that if the applicant does not apply on behalf of the spouse, partner, dependant adult or minor within the set time-limit for lodging an application, the spouse or partner may still do in his or her own name, and the dependant adult or minor should be assisted by the determining authority. However, if a separate application is not justified, it should be considered as inadmissible.
- (29) To ensure that unaccompanied minors have effective access to the procedure, they should always be appointed a guardian. The guardian should be a person or a representative of an organisation appointed to assist and guide the minor through the procedure with a view to safeguard the best interests of the child as well his or her general well-being. Where necessary, the guardian should exercise legal capacity for the minor. In order to provide effective support to the unaccompanied minors, guardians should not be placed in charge of a disproportionate number of unaccompanied minors at the same time. Member States should appoint entities or persons responsible for the support, supervision and monitoring of the guardians in the performance of their tasks. An unaccompanied minor should lodge an application in his or her own name or through the guardian. In order to safeguard the rights and procedural guarantees of an unaccompanied minor, the time-limit for him or her to lodge an application should start to run from when his or her guardian is appointed and they meet. Where the guardian does not lodge the application within the set time limit, the unaccompanied minor should be given an opportunity to lodge the application on his or her name with the assistance of the determining authority. The fact that an unaccompanied minor chooses to lodge an application in his or her own name should not preclude him or her from being assigned a guardian.

- (30) In order to guarantee the rights of the applicants, decisions on all applications for international protection should be taken on the basis of the facts, objectively, impartially and on an individual basis after a thorough examination which takes into account all the elements provided by the applicant and the individual circumstances of the applicant. To ensure a rigorous examination of an application, the determining authority should take into account relevant, accurate and up-to-date information relating to the situation in the country of origin of the applicant obtained from the European Union Agency for Asylum and other sources such as the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. The determining authority should also take into account any relevant common analysis of country of origin information developed by the European Union Agency for Asylum. Any postponement of concluding the procedure should fully comply with the obligations of the Member States under Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation) and with the right to good administration, without prejudice to the efficiency and fairness of the procedure under this Regulation.
- (31) In order to guarantee the rights of the applicant, a decision concerning his or her application should be given in writing. Where the decision does not grant international protection, the applicant should be given reasons for the decision and information on the consequences of the decision as well as the manner in which to challenge that decision. Without prejudice to the applicant's right to remain and to the principle of *non-refoulement*, such a decision may include, or may be issued together with, a return decision issued in accordance with Article 6 of Directive 2008/115/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council.⁷

⁷ Directive 2008/115/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 2008 on common standards and procedures in Member States for returning illegally staying third-country nationals (OJ L 348, 24.12.2008, p. 98).

- (32) It is necessary that decisions on applications for international protection are taken by authorities whose personnel has the appropriate knowledge and has received the necessary training in the field of international protection, and that they perform their activities with due respect for the applicable ethical principles. This should apply to the personnel of authorities from other Member States and experts deployed by the European Union Agency for Asylum deployed to assist the determining authority of a Member State in the examination of applications for international protection.
- (33) Without prejudice to carrying out an adequate and complete examination of an application for international protection, it is in the interests of both Member States and applicants for a decision to be taken as soon as possible. Maximum time-limits for the duration of the administrative procedure as well as for the first level of appeal should be established to streamline the procedure for international protection. In this way, applicants should be able to receive a decision on their application within the least amount of time possible in all Member States thereby ensuring a speedy and efficient procedure.
- (34) In order to shorten the overall duration of the procedure in certain cases, Member States should have the flexibility, in accordance with their national needs, to prioritise the examination of any application by examining it before other, previously made applications, without derogating from normally applicable procedural time limits, principles and guarantees.
- (35) Before determining the Member State responsible in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX of the European Parliament and of the Council (Dublin Regulation),⁸ the first Member State in which an application has been lodged should examine the admissibility of that application when a country which is not a Member State is considered as a first country of asylum or safe third country for the applicant. In addition, an application should be considered to be inadmissible when it is a subsequent applicant without new relevant elements or findings and when a separate application by a spouse, partner, dependent adult or minor is not considered to be justified.

⁸ OJ L [...], [...], p. [...].

- (36) The concept of first country of asylum should be applied as a ground for inadmissibility where it can reasonably be assumed that another country would grant protection in accordance with the substantive standards of the Geneva Convention or the applicant would be provided sufficient protection in that country. In particular, the Member States should not examine the merits of an application where a first country of asylum has granted the applicant refugee status or otherwise sufficient protection. Member States should proceed on that basis only where they are satisfied including, where necessary or appropriate, based on assurances obtained from the third country concerned, that the applicant has enjoyed and will continue to enjoy protection in that country in accordance with the Geneva Convention or has otherwise enjoyed and will continue to enjoy sufficient protection, particularly as regards the right of legal residence, appropriate access to the labour market, reception facilities, healthcare and education, and the right to family reunification in accordance with international human rights standards.
- (37) The concept of safe third country should be applied as a ground for inadmissibility where the applicant, due to a connection to the third country including one through which he or she has transited, can reasonably be expected to seek protection in that country, and there are grounds for considering that the applicant will be admitted or readmitted to that country. Member States should proceed on that basis only where they are satisfied including, where necessary or appropriate, based on assurances obtained from the third country concerned, that the applicant will have the possibility to receive protection in accordance with the substantive standards of the Geneva Convention or will enjoy sufficient protection, particularly as regards the right of legal residence, appropriate access to the labour market, reception facilities, healthcare and education, and the right to family reunification in accordance with international human rights standards.

- (38) An application for international protection should be examined on its merits to determine whether an applicant qualifies for international protection in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation). There need not be an examination on the merits where an application should be declared as inadmissible in accordance with this Regulation. However, where from a *prima facie* assessment it is clear that an application may be rejected as manifestly unfounded, the application may be rejected on that ground without examining its admissibility.
- (39) The examination of an application should be accelerated and completed within a maximum of two months in those instances where an application is manifestly unfounded because it is an abusive claim, including where an applicant comes from a safe country of origin or an applicant is making an application merely to delay or frustrate the enforcement of a removal decision, or where there are serious national security or public concerns, where the applicant does not apply for international protection in the first Member State of entry or in the Member State of legal residence or where an applicant whose application is under examination and who made an application in another Member State or who is on the territory of another Member State without a residence document is taken back under the Dublin Regulation. In the latter case, the examination of the application should not be accelerated if the applicant is able to provide substantiated justifications for having left to another Member State without authorisation, for having made an application in another Member State or for having otherwise been unavailable to the competent authorities, such as for instance that he or she was not informed adequately and in a timely manner of his or her obligations. Furthermore, an accelerated examination procedure may be applied to unaccompanied minors only within the limited circumstances set out in this Regulation.

- (40) Many applications for international protection are made at the border or in a transit zone of a Member State prior to a decision on the entry of the applicant. Member States should be able to provide for an examination on admissibility or an examination on the merits which would make it possible for such applications to be decided upon at those locations in well-defined circumstances. The border procedure should not take longer than four weeks and after that period applicants should be allowed entry to the territory of the Member State. It is only where a disproportionate number of applicants lodge their applications at the borders or in a transit zone, that the border procedure may be applied at locations in proximity to the border or transit zone. A border procedure may be applied to unaccompanied minors only within the limited circumstances set out in this Regulation.
- (41) The notion of public order may, *inter alia*, cover a conviction of having committed a serious crime.
- (42) As long as an applicant can show good cause, the lack of documents on entry or the use of forged documents should not *per se* entail an automatic recourse to an accelerated examination procedure or a border procedure.
- (43) Where an applicant either explicitly withdraws his or her application of his or her own motion, or does not comply with the obligations arising from this Regulation, Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation) or Directive XXX/XXX/EU (Reception Conditions Directive) thereby implicitly withdraws his or her application, the application should not be further examined and it should be rejected as explicitly withdrawn or abandoned, and any application in the Member States by the same applicant further after that decision should be considered to be a subsequent application. However, the implicit withdrawal should not be automatic but the applicant should be allowed the opportunity to report to the determining authority and demonstrate that the failure to comply with those obligations was due to circumstances beyond his control.

- (44) Where an applicant makes a subsequent application without presenting new evidence or findings which significantly increase his or her likelihood of qualifying as a beneficiary of international protection or which relate to the reasons for which the previous application was rejected as inadmissible, that subsequent application should not be subject to a new full examination procedure. In those cases, following a preliminary examination, applications should be dismissed as inadmissible or as manifestly unfounded where the application is so clearly without substance or abusive that it has no tangible prospect of success, in accordance with the *res judicata* principle. The preliminary examination shall be carried out on the basis of written submissions and a personal interview however the personal interview may be dispensed with in those instances where, from the written submissions, it is clear that the application does not give rise to relevant new elements or findings or that it is clearly without substance and has no tangible prospect of success. In case of subsequent applications, exceptions may be made to the individual's right to remain on the territory of a Member State after a subsequent application is rejected as inadmissible or unfounded, or in the case of a second or further subsequent applications, as soon as an application is made in any Member States following a final decision which had rejected a previous subsequent application as inadmissible, unfounded or manifestly unfounded.
- (45) A key consideration as to whether an application for international protection is well-founded is the safety of the applicant in his or her country of origin. Having regard to the fact that Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation) aims to achieve a high level of convergence on the qualification of third-country nationals and stateless persons as beneficiaries of international protection, this Regulation establishes common criteria for designating third countries as safe countries of origin and, in view of the need to strengthen the application of the safe country of origin concept as an essential tool to support the swift processing of applications that are likely to be unfounded, this Regulation sets out an EU common list of safe countries of origin.

- (46) The fact that a third country is on the EU common list of safe countries of origin cannot establish an absolute guarantee of safety for nationals of that country and therefore does not dispense with the need to conduct an appropriate individual examination of the application for international protection. By its very nature, the assessment underlying the designation can only take into account the general, civil, legal and political circumstances in that country and whether actors of persecution, torture or inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment are subject to sanction in practice when found liable in that country. For this reason, where an applicant shows that there are serious reasons to consider the country not to be safe in his or her particular circumstances, the designation of the country as safe can no longer be considered relevant for him or her.
- (47) As regards the designation of safe third countries at Union level, this Regulation provides for having such a designation. Third countries should be designated as safe third countries at Union level by means of an amendment to this Regulation based on the conditions set out in this Regulation and after carrying out a detailed evidence-based assessment involving substantive research and broad consultation with Member States and relevant stakeholders.
- (48) The establishment of an EU common list of safe countries of origin and an EU common list for safe third countries should address some of the existing divergences between Member States' national lists of safe countries. While Member States should retain the right to apply or introduce legislation that allows for the national designation of third countries other than those designated as safe third countries at Union level or appearing on the EU common list as safe countries of origin, the establishment of such common designation or list should ensure that the concept is applied by all Member States in a uniform manner in relation to applicants whose countries of origin are on the common list or who have a connection with a safe third country. This should facilitate convergence in the application of procedures and thereby also deter secondary movements of applicants for international protection. For that reason, the possibility of using national lists or designations should come to an end within a period of five years from entry into force of this Regulation.

- (49) The Commission, assisted by the European Union Agency for Asylum, should regularly review the situation in third countries designated as safe third countries at Union level or that are on the EU common list of safe countries of origin. In case of sudden change for the worse in the situation of such a third country, the Commission should be able to suspend the designation of that third country as safe third country at Union level or the presence of that third country from the EU common list of safe countries of origin for a limited period of time by means of a delegated act in accordance with Article 290 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union. Moreover, in this case, the Commission should propose an amendment for the third country not to be designated as a safe third country at Union level any longer or to remove that third country from the EU common list of safe country of origin within 3 months of the adoption of delegated act suspending the third country.
- (50) For the purpose of this substantiated assessment, the Commission should take into consideration a range of sources of information at its disposal including in particular, its Annual Progress Reports for third countries designated as candidate countries by the European Council, regular reports from the European External Action Service and the information from Member States, the European Union Agency for Asylum, the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, the Council of Europe and other relevant international organisations. The Commission should be able to extend the suspension of the designation of a third country as a safe third country at Union level or the presence of a third country from the EU common list of safe country of origin for a period of six months, with a possibility to renew that extension once. It is of particular importance that the Commission carries out appropriate consultations during its preparatory work, including at expert level. The Commission, when preparing and drawing up delegated acts, should ensure a simultaneous, timely and appropriate transmission of relevant documents to the European Parliament and to the Council.
- (51) When the period of validity of the delegated act and its extensions expires, without a new delegated act being adopted, the designation of the third country as safe third country at Union level or from the EU common list of safe countries of origin should no longer be suspended. This shall be without prejudice to any proposed amendment for the removal of the third country from the lists.

- (52) The Commission, with the assistance of the European Union Agency for Asylum, should regularly review the situation in third countries that have been removed from the EU common list of safe countries of origin or safe third countries, including where a Member State notifies the Commission that it considers, based on a substantiated assessment, that, following changes in the situation of that third country, it fulfils again the conditions set out in this Regulation for being designated as safe. In such a case, Member States could only designate that third country as a safe country of origin or a safe third country at the national level as long as the Commission does not raise objections to that designation. Where the Commission considers that these conditions are fulfilled, it may propose an amendment to the designation of safe third countries at Union level or to the EU common list of safe countries of origin so as to add the third country.
- (53) As regards safe countries of origin, following the conclusions of the Justice and Home Affairs Council of 20 July 2015, at which Member States agreed that priority should be given to an assessment by all Member States of the safety of the Western Balkans, the European Union Agency for Asylum organised an expert-level meeting with the Member States on 2 September 2015, where a broad consensus was reached that Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Kosovo*,⁹ the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Montenegro and Serbia should be considered as safe countries of origin within the meaning of this Regulation.
- (54) Based on a range of sources of information, including in particular reporting from the European External Action Service and information from Member States, the European Union Agency for Asylum, the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, the Council of Europe and other relevant international organisations, a number of third countries are considered to qualify as safe countries of origin.

⁹ * This designation is without prejudice to positions on status, and is in line with UNSCR 1244/99 and the ICJ Opinion on the Kosovo declaration of independence.

(55) As regards Albania, the legal basis for protection against persecution and mistreatment is adequately provided by substantive and procedural human rights and anti-discrimination legislation, including membership of all major international human rights treaties. In 2014, the European Court of Human Rights found violations in four out of 150 applications. There are no indications of any incidents of expulsion, removal or extradition of own citizens to third countries where, inter alia, there is a serious risk that they would be subjected to the death penalty, torture, persecution or other inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment, or where their lives or freedom would be threatened on account of their race, religion, nationality, sexual orientation, membership of a particular social group or political opinion, or from which there is a serious risk of an expulsion, removal or extradition to another third country. In 2014, Member States considered that 7,8 % (1040) of asylum applications of citizens from Albania were well-founded. At least eight Member States have designated Albania as a safe country of origin. Albania has been designated as a candidate country by the European Council. At the time of designation, the assessment was that Albania fulfilled the criteria established by the Copenhagen European Council of 21-22 June 1993 relating to the stability of institutions guaranteeing democracy, the rule of law, human rights and respect for and protection of minorities and Albania will have to continue to fulfil those criteria, for becoming a member in line with the recommendations provided in the Annual Progress Report.

(56) As regards Bosnia and Herzegovina, its Constitution provides the basis for the sharing of powers between the country's constituent peoples. The legal basis for protection against persecution and mistreatment is adequately provided by substantive and procedural human rights and anti-discrimination legislation, including membership of all major international human rights treaties. In 2014, the European Court of Human Rights found violations in five out of 1196 applications. There are no indications of any incidents of expulsion, removal or extradition of own citizens to third countries where, inter alia, there is a serious risk that they would be subjected to the death penalty, torture, persecution or other inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment, or where their lives or freedom would be threatened on account of their race, religion, nationality, sexual orientation, membership of a particular social group or political opinion, or from which there is a serious risk of an expulsion, removal or extradition to another third country. In 2014, Member States considered that 4,6 % (330) of asylum applications of citizens from Bosnia and Herzegovina were well-founded. At least nine Member States have designated Bosnia and Herzegovina as a safe country of origin.

(57) As regards the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, the legal basis for protection against persecution and mistreatment is adequately provided by principle substantive and procedural human rights and anti-discrimination legislation, including membership of all major international human rights treaties. In 2014, the European Court of Human Rights found violations in six out of 502 applications. There are no indications of any incidents of expulsion, removal or extradition of own citizens to third countries where, inter alia, there is a serious risk that they would be subjected to the death penalty, torture, persecution or other inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment, or where their lives or freedom would be threatened on account of their race, religion, nationality, sexual orientation, membership of a particular social group or political opinion, or from which there is a serious risk of an expulsion, removal or extradition to another third country. In 2014, Member States considered that 0,9 % (70) of asylum applications of citizens of the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia were well-founded. At least seven Member States have designated the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia as a safe country of origin. The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia has been designated as a candidate country by the European Council. At the time of designation, the assessment was that the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia fulfilled the criteria established by the Copenhagen European Council of 21-22 June 1993 relating to the stability of institutions guaranteeing democracy, the rule of law, human rights and respect for and protection of minorities. The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia will have to continue to fulfil those criteria, for becoming a member in line with the recommendations provided in the Annual Progress Report.

- (58) As regards Kosovo*, the legal basis for protection against persecution and mistreatment is adequately provided by substantive and procedural human rights and anti-discrimination legislation. The non-accession of Kosovo* to relevant international human rights instruments such as the ECHR results from the lack of international consensus regarding its status as a sovereign State. There are no indications of any incidents of expulsion, removal or extradition of own citizens to third countries where, inter alia, there is a serious risk that they would be subjected to the death penalty, torture, persecution or other inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment, or where their lives or freedom would be threatened on account of their race, religion, nationality, sexual orientation, membership of a particular social group or political opinion, or from which there is a serious risk of an expulsion, removal or extradition to another third country. In 2014, Member States considered that 6,3 % (830) of asylum applications of citizens of Kosovo* were well-founded. At least six Member States have designated Kosovo* as a safe country of origin.
- (59) This Regulation is without prejudice to Member States' position on the status of Kosovo, which will be decided in accordance with their national practice and international law. In addition, none of the terms, wording or definitions used in this Regulation constitute recognition of Kosovo by the Union as an independent State nor does it constitute recognition by individual Member States of Kosovo in that capacity where they have not taken such a step. In particular, the use of the term "countries" does not imply recognition of statehood.

(60) As regards Montenegro, the legal basis for protection against persecution and mistreatment is adequately provided by substantive and procedural human rights and anti-discrimination legislation, including membership of all major international human rights treaties. In 2014, the European Court of Human Rights found violations in one out of 447 applications. There are no indications of any incidents of expulsion, removal or extradition of own citizens to third countries where, inter alia, there is a serious risk that they would be subjected to the death penalty, torture, persecution or other inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment, or where their lives or freedom would be threatened on account of their race, religion, nationality, sexual orientation, membership of a particular social group or political opinion, or from which there is a serious risk of an expulsion, removal or extradition to another third country. In 2014, Member States considered that 3,0 % (40) of asylum applications of citizens of Montenegro were well-founded. At least nine Member States have designated Montenegro as a safe country of origin. Montenegro has been designated as a candidate country by the European Council and negotiations have been opened. At the time of designation, the assessment was that Montenegro fulfilled the criteria established by the Copenhagen European Council of 21-22 June 1993 relating to the stability of institutions guaranteeing democracy, the rule of law, human rights and respect for and protection of minorities. Montenegro will have to continue to fulfil those criteria, for becoming a member in line with the recommendations provided in the Annual Progress Report.

(61) As regards Serbia, the Constitution provides the basis for self-governance of minority groups in the areas of education, use of language, information and culture. The legal basis for protection against persecution and mistreatment is adequately provided by substantive and procedural human rights and anti-discrimination legislation, including membership of all major international human rights treaties. In 2014, the European Court of Human Rights found violations in 16 out of 11 490 applications. There are no indications of any incidents of expulsion, removal or extradition of own citizens to third countries where, inter alia, there is a serious risk that they would be subjected to the death penalty, torture, persecution or other inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment, or where their lives or freedom would be threatened on account of their race, religion, nationality, sexual orientation, membership of a particular social group or political opinion, or from which there is a serious risk of an expulsion, removal or extradition to another third country. In 2014, Member States considered that 1,8 % (400) of asylum applications of citizens from Serbia were well- founded. At least nine Member States have designated Serbia as a safe country of origin. Serbia has been designated as a candidate country by the European Council and negotiations have been opened. At the time of designation, the assessment was that Serbia fulfilled the criteria established by the Copenhagen European Council of 21-22 June 1993 relating to the stability of institutions guaranteeing democracy, the rule of law, human rights and respect for and protection of minorities. Serbia will have to continue to fulfil those criteria, for becoming a member in line with the recommendations provided in the Annual Progress Report.

- (62) As regards Turkey, the legal basis for protection against persecution and mistreatment is adequately provided by substantive and procedural human rights and anti-discrimination legislation, including membership of all major international human rights treaties. In 2014, the European Court of Human Rights found violations in 94 out of 2 899 applications. There are no indications of any incidents of expulsion, removal or extradition of own citizens to third countries where, inter alia, there is a serious risk that they would be subjected to the death penalty, torture, persecution or other inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment, or where their lives or freedom would be threatened on account of their race, religion, nationality, sexual orientation, membership of a particular social group or political opinion, or from which there is a serious risk of an expulsion, removal or extradition to another third country. In 2014, Member States considered that 23,1 % (310) of asylum applications of citizens of Turkey were well-founded. One Member State has designated Turkey as a safe country of origin. Turkey has been designated as a candidate country by the European Council and negotiations have been opened. At the time, the assessment was that Turkey sufficiently meets fulfilled the political criteria established by the Copenhagen European Council of 21-22 June 1993 relating to stability of institutions guaranteeing democracy, the rule of law, human rights and respect for and protection of minorities, and Turkey will have to continue to fulfil those criteria, for becoming a member in line with the recommendations provided in the Annual Progress Report.
- (63) With respect to the withdrawal of refugee or subsidiary protection status, and in particular in view of the regular status review to be carried out on the basis of Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation), Member States should ensure that persons benefiting from international protection are duly informed of a possible reconsideration of their status and that they are given the opportunity to submit their point of view, within a reasonable time, by means of a written statement and in a personal interview, before the authorities can take a reasoned decision to withdraw their status.

- (64) Decisions taken on an application for international protection, including the decisions concerning the explicit or implicit withdrawal of an application, and the decisions on the withdrawal of refugee or subsidiary protection status should be subject to an effective remedy before a court or tribunal in compliance with all requirements and conditions laid down in Article 47 of the Charter. To ensure the effectiveness of the procedure, the applicant should lodge his or her appeal within a set time-limit. For the applicant to be able to meet those time-limits and with a view to ensuring effective access to judicial review, he or she should be able to be assisted by an interpreter as well as be entitled to free legal assistance and representation.
- (65) For an applicant to be able to exercise his or her right to an effective remedy, he or she should be allowed to remain on the territory of a Member State until the time-limit for lodging a first level of appeal expires, and when such a right is exercised within the set time-limit, pending the outcome of the remedy. It is only in limited cases set out in this Regulation that the suspensive effect of an appeal is not automatic and where the applicant would need to request the court or tribunal to stay the execution of a return decision or the court would act of its own motion to this effect. Where an exception is made to the right to a remedy with automatic suspensive effect, the applicant's rights of defence should be adequately guaranteed by providing him or her with the necessary interpretation and legal assistance, as well as by allowing sufficient time for the applicant to prepare and submit his or her request to the court or tribunal. Furthermore, in this framework, the court or tribunal should be able to examine the decision refusing to grant international protection in terms of fact and law. The applicant should be allowed to remain on the territory pending the outcome of the procedure to rule on whether or not he or she may remain. However, that decision should be taken within one month.
- (66) Having regard to the need for equity in the management of applications and effectiveness in the common procedure for international protection, time-limits should not only be set for the administrative procedure but they should also be established for the appeal stage, at least insofar as the first level of appeal is concerned. This should be without prejudice to an adequate and complete examination of an appeal, and therefore a measure of flexibility should still be maintained in cases involving complex issues of fact or law.

- (67) In accordance with Article 72 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, this Regulation does not affect the exercise of the responsibilities incumbent upon Member States with regard to the maintenance of law and order and the safeguarding of internal security.
- (68) Regulation (EU) No 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 April 2016 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data, and repealing Directive 95/46/EC (General Data Protection Regulation) ¹⁰ applies to the processing of personal data by the Member States carried out in application of this Regulation.
- (69) Any processing of personal by the European Union Agency for Asylum within the framework of this Regulation should be conducted in accordance with Regulation (EC) No 45/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council,¹¹ as well as Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (EU Asylum Agency Regulation) ¹² and it should, in particular, respect the principles of necessity and proportionality.

¹⁰ OJ L 119, 4.5.2016, p. 1.

¹¹ Regulation (EC) No 45/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 December 2000 on the protection of individuals with regard to the processing of personal data by the Community institutions and bodies and on the free movement of such data (OJ L 8, 12.1.2001, p. 1).

¹² OJ L [...], [...], p. [...].

- (70) Any personal data collected upon registration or lodging of an application for international protection and during the personal interview should be considered to be part of the applicant's file and it should be kept for a number of years since third-country nationals or stateless persons who request international protection in one Member State may try to request international protection in another Member State or may submit further subsequent applications in the same or another Member State for years to come. Given that most third-country nationals or stateless persons who have stayed in the Union for several years will have obtained a settled status or even citizenship of a Member State after a period of ten years from when they are granted international protection, that period should be considered a necessary period for the storage of personal details, including fingerprints and facial images.
- (71) In order to ensure uniform conditions for the implementation of this Regulation, in particular as regards the provision of information, documents to the applicants and measures concerning applicants in need of special procedural guarantees including minors, implementing powers should be conferred on the Commission. Those powers should be exercised in accordance with Regulation (EU) No 182/2011 of the European Parliament and of the Council¹³ of 16 February 2011 laying down the rules and general principles concerning mechanisms for control by the Member States of the Commission's exercise of implementing powers.

¹³ Regulation (EU) No 182/2011 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 February 2011 laying down the rules and general principles concerning mechanisms for control by the Member States of the Commission's exercise of implementing powers (OJ L 55, 28.2.2011, p. 13).

- (72) In order to address sudden changes for the worse in a third country designated as a safe third country at Union level or included in the EU common list of safe countries of origin, the power to adopt acts in accordance with Article 290 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union should be delegated to the Commission in respect of suspending the designation of that third country as safe third country at Union level or the presence of that third country from the EU common list of safe countries of origin for a period of six months where the Commission considers, on the basis of a substantiated assessment, that the conditions set by this Regulation are no longer met. It is of particular importance that the Commission carry out appropriate consultations during its preparatory work, including at expert level, and that those consultations be conducted in accordance with the principles laid down in the Inter-institutional Agreement on Better Law-Making of 13 April 2016. In particular, to ensure equal participation in the preparation of delegated acts, the European Parliament and the Council receive all documents at the same time as Member States' experts, and their experts systematically have access to meetings of Commission expert groups dealing with the preparation of delegated acts.
- (73) This Regulation does not deal with procedures between Member States governed by Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation).
- (74) This Regulation should apply to applicants to whom Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation) applies, in addition and without prejudice to the provisions of that Regulation.
- (75) The application of this Regulation should be evaluated at regular intervals.
- (76) Since the objective of this Regulation, namely to establish a common procedure for granting and withdrawing international protection, cannot be sufficiently achieved by the Member States and can therefore, by reason of the scale and effects of this Regulation, be better achieved at Union level, the Union may adopt measures, in accordance with the principle of subsidiarity as set out in Article 5 of the Treaty on European Union. In accordance with the principle of proportionality, as set out in that Article, this Regulation does not go beyond what is necessary in order to achieve that objective.

(77) [In accordance with Article 3 of Protocol No 21 on the position of the United Kingdom and Ireland in respect of the area of freedom, security and justice, annexed to the Treaty on European Union and to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, those Member States have notified their wish to take part in the adoption and application of this Regulation]

OR

[In accordance with Articles 1 and 2 of Protocol No 21 on the position of the United Kingdom and Ireland in respect of the area of freedom, security and justice, annexed to the Treaty on European Union and to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, and without prejudice to Article 4 of that Protocol, those Member States are not taking part in the adoption of this Regulation and are not bound by it or subject to its application.]

OR

[(XX) In accordance with Articles 1 and 2 of Protocol No 21 on the position of the United Kingdom and Ireland in respect of the area of freedom, security and justice, annexed to the Treaty on European Union and to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, and without prejudice to Article 4 of that Protocol, the United Kingdom is not taking part in the adoption of this Regulation and is not bound by it or subject to its application.

(XX) In accordance with Article 3 of Protocol No 21 on the position of the United Kingdom and Ireland in respect of the area of freedom, security and justice, annexed to the Treaty on European Union and to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, Ireland has notified (, by letter of ...,) its wish to take part in the adoption and application of this Regulation.]

OR

[(XX) In accordance with Article 3 of Protocol No 21 on the position of the United Kingdom and Ireland in respect of the area of freedom, security and justice, annexed to the Treaty on European Union and to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, the United Kingdom has notified (, by letter of ...,) its wish to take part in the adoption and application of this Regulation.

(XX) In accordance with Articles 1 and 2 of Protocol No 21 on the position of the United Kingdom and Ireland in respect of the area of freedom, security and justice, annexed to the Treaty on European Union and to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, and without prejudice to Article 4 of that Protocol, Ireland is not taking part in the adoption of this Regulation and is not bound by it or subject to its application.]

(78) In accordance with Articles 1 and 2 of Protocol No 22 on the position of Denmark, annexed to the TEU and to the TFEU, Denmark is not taking part in the adoption of this Regulation and is not bound by it or subject to its application.

(79) This Regulation respects the fundamental rights and observes the principles recognised in particular by the Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union. In particular, this Regulation seeks to ensure full respect for human dignity and to promote the application of Articles 1, 4, 8, 18, 19, 21, 23, 24, and 47 of the Charter.

HAVE ADOPTED THIS REGULATION:

CHAPTER I

GENERAL PROVISIONS

Article 1

Subject matter

This Regulation establishes a common procedure for granting and withdrawing international protection referred to in Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation).

Article 2

Scope¹⁴

1. This Regulation applies to all applications for international protection made in the territory of the Member States, including at the external border, in the territorial sea or in the transit zones of the Member States, and to the withdrawal of international protection.¹⁵
2. This Regulation does not apply to applications for international protection and to requests for diplomatic or territorial asylum submitted to representations of Member States.¹⁶

~~*Article 3*~~

~~**Extension of the scope of application**~~

~~Member States may decide to apply this Regulation to applications for protection to which Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation) does not apply.¹⁷~~

¹⁴ **SE:** scrutiny reservation.

¹⁵ **DE:** the alternative use of "*border*" and "*external border*" in the proposal needs clarification. **COM:** the definition of the "*external border*" is the one contained in the Schengen Border Code and this term should be used in the whole text.

¹⁶ **DE:** add "*or the EU*" at the end ("*representations of Member States or the EU*"). **PRES:** currently no requests for international protection/diplomatic or territorial asylum can be made in an EU delegation

¹⁷ **DE:** why was this Article deleted?

Article 4

Definitions¹⁸

1. For the purposes of this Regulation, the following definitions ~~referred to in Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation)~~ apply:
 - (a) 'Geneva Convention';
 - (b) 'refugee';
 - (c) ~~beneficiary of subsidiary protection~~;
 - (d) 'international protection' **means refugee status and subsidiary protection status as defined in points (e) and (f)**;
 - (e) 'refugee status' **means the recognition by a Member State of a third-country national or a stateless person as a refugee**;
 - (f) 'subsidiary protection status' **means the recognition by a Member State of a third-country national or a stateless person as a person eligible for subsidiary protection**;
 - (g) 'minor';
 - (h) ~~'unaccompanied minor'~~.

¹⁸ **PL:** should be simplified by making cross-references to QR for all definitions. **LV, PT:** definitions should be aligned between the different proposals. **LU:** a definition for "family" should be included. ~~**PRES:** definitions between all CEAS acts were harmonised under MT PRES. Only the procedural definitions such as 'applicant', 'subsequent application' are included in APR:~~

2. In addition to paragraph 1, the following definitions apply¹⁹:
- (a) 'application for international protection' or 'application' means a request made by a third-country national or a stateless person for protection from a Member State, who can be understood as seeking refugee status or subsidiary protection status²⁰;
 - (b) 'applicant' means a third-country national or a stateless person who has made an application for international protection in respect of which a final decision has not yet been ~~made~~ taken²¹;
 - (c) 'applicant in need of special procedural guarantees' means an applicant whose ability to benefit from the rights and comply with the obligations provided for in this Regulation is limited due to individual circumstances²²;

¹⁹ **DE:** add a definition of the term “border” which clarifies that borders may also include internal borders within the meaning of Art. 2 (1) of Regulation (EU) 2016/399. Background: the Commission argued that the Asylum Procedure Regulation always refers to external borders, even if the word “borders” is not further specified. Germany does not share this interpretation because Art. 41 on the border procedure must apply also to MS without EU external land borders in case of a temporary reintroduction of controls at the internal borders pursuant to Chapter II of Regulation (EU) 2016/399.

²⁰ **BE:** scrutiny reservation. **EL:** the deletion of the part existing in the current acquis (“and who does not explicitly request another kind of protection outside the scope of Directive 2011/95/EU, that can be applied for separately”) might have effects on the substance; keep the sentence, it improves clarity. **IT:** add “and/or lodged” after “made”.

²¹ **BE:** scrutiny reservation. **PL:** not clear if the term “the applicant” concerns only a person who makes an application or also his family members. **PRES:** from the moment the application is made, a person is being considered as applicant.

²² **IE:** scrutiny reservation. **DE:** the definition derogates from the definition in Art. 2 (13) of RCD. The definition should be the same in all legal acts. The Commission pointed out that there is a difference between the term “applicant in need of special procedural guarantees” in the APR and the term “applicant with special reception needs”. In this case, it would be particularly important to clarify the difference by listing the most frequently affected groups of people – some of which may be different – in both definitions. **COM:** in practice the person targeted in APR and RCD could be the same but APR targets the specific procedural needs. The special needs in RCD cover a wider range.

(d) 'final decision' means a decision on whether or not a third-country national or stateless person is granted refugee status or subsidiary protection status by virtue of Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation), ~~including or~~ a decision rejecting the application as inadmissible or a decision rejecting an application as ~~explicitly withdrawn or abandoned~~ **implicitly withdrawn** and which **is no longer subject to a remedy before a court or tribunal of first instance** ~~can no longer be subject to an appeal procedure in the Member State concerned~~ **and irrespective of whether the applicant has the right to remain in accordance with this Regulation**²³;

²³ **EL, IE, SE:** scrutiny reservation. **CY:** reservation; more clarity needed - final decision should be defined as a decision issued by a court or tribunal of first instance. This should be also clarified in Art. 53. **CZ:** not clear what "*final decision*" means, not clear if it includes extraordinary remedies; change as follows: "*no longer be subject to a regular appeal procedure*" - this definition enables to consider persons who lodged further appeal to higher (highest) court instance as applicants. However the "*further appeal*" is not regulated by asylum acquis so this extensive applicant definition should be avoided. **COM:** "*final decision*" depends on the way the national system is organised, it includes all instances. **BE:** "*final decision*" is problematic, should revert to the drafting of the current acquis. **PL:** supports those MS (CZ e.g.) who postulate to define a final decision as a decision issued by first appeal body. This definition should be defined in a more precise way. Implementation of this definition in accordance with interpretation provided by the Commission (final decision is a decision which cannot be appealed further) would cause a situation in which an applicant is under procedure until such a decision is made. Such situation could cause an extension of many procedural guarantees. Moreover, such interpretation may cause also problems in PL (different definition of a final decision clause in the Code of Administrative Proceedings). **EL:** unclear why a reference to the admissibility procedure is needed. **MT:** a final decision is one that can no longer be appealed on grounds of both fact and law (i.e. a first instance level of appeal and not subsequent levels where only an appeal on grounds of law is possible). Hence, change the text as follows: "... *can no longer be subject to an appeal procedure on grounds of fact and law in the Member State concerned...*". **RO:** unclear if this includes withdrawal.

- (m) 'examination of an application for international protection' means examination of the admissibility or the merits of an application for international protection in accordance with this Regulation and Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation), by the determining authority, except for procedures for determining the Member State responsible in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation);²⁴
- (en) 'determining authority' means any quasi-judicial or administrative body in a Member State responsible for examining **and taking decisions on** applications for international protection ~~competent to take decisions at first instance~~ **at the administrative stage of the procedure and, where applicable, on the withdrawal of international protection**;²⁵
- (fo) ~~'guardian' means a person or an organisation appointed to assist and represent an unaccompanied minor with a view to safeguarding the best interests of the child and his or her general well being in procedures provided for in this Regulation and exercising legal capacity for the minor where necessary;~~²⁶
- (gp) 'withdrawal of international protection' means the decision by a determining authority **or a competent court or tribunal** to revoke, **or end, including by refusing** ~~or refuse to renew, the international protection~~ refugee status or subsidiary protection status of a person;

²⁴ **CZ, EL, MT, SE, SK:** scrutiny reservation. **CY:** reservation. **CZ, EL:** unclear what exactly should be excluded from this definition; it is not possible to exclude the whole Dublin procedure (e.g. Article 10 which states that the admissibility interview may be conducted together with the Dublin interview). **MT:** concerns in relation to the obligation to have an admissibility check for all applications. Moreover, the reference in this definition should be to the Determining Authority and not to the competent authorities. **SK:** no support for a separated procedure for determining the MS responsible; in Slovakia the Dublin procedure is part of the asylum procedure. **BE:** replace "*competent authority*" by "*determining authority*".

²⁵ **PL:** align with QR.

²⁶ **DE:** a definition of "representative" and of "temporary representative" is needed.

- (hr) ~~'remain in the Member State' means to remain in the territory, including at the border or in transit zones, of the Member State in which the application for international protection has been made or is being examined;~~
- (is) ~~'subsequent application' means a further application for international protection made in any Member State after a final decision has been taken on a previous application in any Member State, including cases where the application has been rejected as explicitly withdrawn or as abandoned following its implicitly withdrawn withdrawal~~²⁷;
- (jt) 'Member State responsible' means the Member State responsible for the examination of an application in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation)²⁸ -;

27

CZ, DE, PT, SK: scrutiny reservation. **EL, ES, IT, RO:** reservation. **SE:** scrutiny reservation regarding “in any Member State”. There are still questions regarding how this would work in practice and its relation to the Dublin Regulation. In addition, this definition must be read together with article 39 and 42 which this delegation still finds problematic. **DE:** the distinction between “*subsequent*” and “*second*” application (follow-up application filed in a different Member State than the first-time application) is not clear. **CZ:** there should not be a link with a final decision; afraid of the fact that current provision in Article 40 (1) of APD is not included in this definition; it means the possibility to examine this new application in the framework of the previous application; only such application that cannot be attached to previous application shall be considered as subsequent. The aim is to avoid the necessity to decide by separate decision on each application. **ES, FI, FR, NL, SK:** potential difficulties linked to the transfer by the first MS of all relevant information to the MS where the subsequent application is made (translations etc.). **SI:** reservation, link to Dublin, would entail a significant administrative burden and information exchange between MS. **EL, IT:** link with the Dublin (single responsibility principle which these delegations oppose). Replace “*made in any Member State*” with “*made in that Member State*”. **RO:** clarification needed regarding the introduction of the term “*made in any Member State*”. What is envisaged? there will be difficulties in exchanging information and documents between MS (effective obtaining of information / documents, translation, different system at the administrative stage). **COM:** the aim is to ensure further efficiency of the Dublin system - if a person was granted a decision in one MS, a new application in any other MS should be treated as a subsequent application; the second MS should receive all necessary information via the automated system provided by the Dublin Regulation.

28

ES: reservation.

- (u) ‘minor’ means a third-country national or a stateless person below the age of 18 years;²⁹
- (v) ‘unaccompanied minor’ means a minor who arrives on the territory of the Member States unaccompanied by an adult responsible for him or her, whether by law or by the practice of the Member State concerned, and for as long as he or she is not effectively taken into the care of such an adult; it includes a minor who is left unaccompanied after he or she has entered the territory of Member States.³⁰

Article 5

Responsible Competent authorities³¹

1. ~~Each~~ Member States shall designate a determining authority **to carry out its tasks as provided for in this Regulation and in Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation), in particular** ~~The determining authority shall have the following tasks:~~
 - (a) ~~receiving, registering and examining~~ applications for international protection;
 - (b) taking decisions on applications for international protection;
 - (c) taking decisions on ~~revoking, ending or refusing to renew~~ **the withdrawal of** the refugee or subsidiary **protection** status of a person as referred to in Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXXX (Qualification Regulation).

²⁹ **LU:** scrutiny reservation because of link to Article 21.

³⁰ **IT:** the reference to “adult” is too general and leaves room for uncertainty on what adult is responsible for him/her; replace "*an adult*" with "*a parent or a legal representative*" and "*of such an adult*" with "*the aforementioned persons*".

³¹ **AT, MT, SE:** scrutiny reservation. **DE:** explanation needed on the new structure (i.e. Articles 5 and 5a); was a special legal effect envisaged or was the text restructured for technical reasons?

2. ~~Each Member State shall provide the determining authority with appropriate means, including sufficient competent personnel to carry out its tasks in accordance with this Regulation. For that purpose, each Member State shall regularly assess the needs of the determining authority to ensure that it is always in a position to deal with applications for international protection in an effective manner, particularly when receiving a disproportionate number of simultaneous applications.~~
3. **Member States may entrust the determining authority or other relevant national** ~~The following authorities shall have, such as the police, immigration authorities, authorities responsible for detention facilities or border guards,~~ **with the task of receiving and registering applications for international protection in accordance with Article 26³² as well as informing applicants as to where and how to lodge an application for international protection:**
- ~~(a) border guards;~~
 - ~~(b) police;~~
 - ~~(c) immigration authorities;~~
 - ~~(d) authorities responsible for detention facilities~~

~~Member States may entrust also other authorities with those tasks.~~

- 3a. **Member States may provide that an authority other than the determining authority shall be responsible for the procedure for determining the Member State responsible in accordance with Regulation (EU) XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation).³³**

³² **SK:** reservation, keep "*receiving*". **BE:** reintroduce a reference to "making" and "lodging" in order to cover all three steps.

³³ **DE:** we need to be able to delegate decisions to other authorities where the person concerned has entered via a third country which is classified as a safe third country under EU law (comment valid for paras (1)-(3a)).

4. ~~The determining authority of the Member State responsible may be assisted for the purpose of receiving, registering and examining applications for international protection by:~~
- ~~(a) the authorities of another Member State who have been entrusted by that Member State with the task of receiving, registering or examining applications for international protection;~~
 - ~~(b) experts deployed by the European Union Agency for Asylum, in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (EU Asylum Agency Regulation).~~
- 4a. Member States shall provide the authorities applying this Regulation with appropriate means, including necessary competent personnel to carry out their tasks. For that purpose, each Member State shall regularly assess the needs of those authorities to ensure that they are in a position to deal with applications for international protection in an effective manner.³⁴**
5. Member States shall ensure that the personnel of **authorities applying this Regulation** ~~the determining authority, or of any other authority responsible for receiving and registering applications for international protection in accordance with paragraph 3,~~ have the appropriate knowledge and **where necessary** are provided with ~~the necessary~~ training and ~~instructions~~ **guidance** to fulfil their obligations when applying this Regulation³⁵.

³⁴ **CZ, DE:** scrutiny reservation, increased administrative burden. **PL:** this could become difficult in case of massive influx, should add "*as far as possible*". **COM:** it is an obligation for MS to see where assistance is required, where EASO help is needed etc. It is not meant only for situations of extreme pressure, but as help because of very short time limits. **NL:** not clear who will check how MS comply with their obligations under this para; EASO potential role in monitoring is unclear. **COM:** Cf EASO Regulation, the Agency may require MS to send information about the contingency plans. The para says "*regularly*" not "*periodically*". **EL:** delete "*For that purpose [...] in an effective manner*". A MS cannot predict future situations due to which it will be confronted with disproportionate number of applications in order to equip in advance its determining authority with personnel. **RO:** reservation; it would be difficult to apply in practice the assessment of needs of the MS. If this provision is maintained, clearer provisions will be needed on how to assess the needs of MS and to establish common indicators to underpin such an assessment.

³⁵ **NL:** the para is less detailed than in the Directive because of the EASO Regulation, therefore a reference to EASO Reg. should be included here.

Article 5a

Cooperation³⁶

1. **The determining authority of the Member State where an application is made or of the Member State responsible may, upon the request of that Member State, be assisted by personnel of the determining authority of another Member State in the performance of its tasks as provided for in this Regulation and in Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation). The determining authority may be assisted by experts deployed by the European Union Agency for Asylum in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (EU Asylum Agency Regulation).**

2. **The authorities of the Member State where an application is made may, upon the request of that Member State, be assisted with registering applications by the authorities of another Member State in which they are entrusted with that same task. They may also be assisted by experts deployed by the European Union Agency for Asylum, in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (EU Asylum Agency Regulation).**

Article 5b [former Article 18]

The role of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees

1. **Member States shall allow the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees:**
 - (a) **to have access to applicants, including those in reception centres, detention, at the border and in transit zones;**

³⁶ **NL, SE:** scrutiny reservation. **RO:** clarify if the legal and administrative aspects of this assistance will be agreed by the States concerned or a provision to that effect under the Regulation should be introduced.

- (b) to have access to information on individual applications for international protection, on the course of the procedure and on the decisions taken, subject to the consent of the applicant;
 - (c) to present its views, in the exercise of its supervisory responsibilities under Article 35 of the Geneva Convention, to any competent authorities regarding individual applications for international protection at any stage of the procedure.
2. Paragraph 1 shall also apply to an organisation which is working in the territory of the Member State concerned on behalf of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees pursuant to an agreement with that Member State.³⁷

Article 6

Confidentiality principle³⁸

1. The authorities applying this Regulation shall ~~safeguard the confidentiality of any information they obtain in the course of their work~~ **be bound by the principle of confidentiality as defined in national law in relation to any information they obtain in the course of their work**³⁹. **Where necessary for security reasons, information may be provided to relevant authorities of Member States in accordance with national law.**

³⁷ **CZ:** unclear if this provision is still used by MS in practice (could be obsolete).

³⁸ **SE:** scrutiny reservation. **DE:** how does this provision articulate with the Data Protection Regulation?

³⁹ **IT:** confidentiality should not be in conflict with security; therefore, this paragraph should read as follows: "*The authorities applying this Regulation shall safeguard the confidentiality of any information they obtain in the course of their work. Where necessary for security reasons, information may be provided to relevant authorities of Member States in compliance with national law.*" **DE:** do MS need to transpose this provision into national law? **RO:** add the following at the end of para (1): "*Para 1 shall apply to all the authorities / entities / third parties who obtain any information relating to the application for international protection or the fact that an application has been made*".

2. Throughout the procedure for international protection and after a final decision on the application has been taken, the authorities shall not⁴⁰:
- (a) disclose information regarding the individual application for international protection or the fact that an application has been made, to the alleged actors of persecution or serious harm;
 - (b) obtain any information from the alleged actors of persecution or serious harm in a manner that would result in such actors being directly informed of the fact that an application has been made by the applicant in question, and would jeopardise the physical integrity of the applicant or his or her dependants, or the liberty and security of his or her family members still living in the country of origin.

⁴⁰ **SE:** a reference to national provisions should be introduced.

CHAPTER II

BASIC PRINCIPLES AND GUARANTEES⁴¹

SECTION I

RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF APPLICANTS

Article 7

Obligations of applicants⁴²

1. The applicant shall make **and lodge** his or her application in ~~the a~~ Member State of first entry or, where he or she is legally present in a Member State, he or she shall make the application ~~in that Member State~~ as provided for in Article 4(1) **and (1a)** of Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation).⁴³

⁴¹ **PL:** Chapter II would not prevent secondary movements.

⁴² **BE, DE, FI, SE:** scrutiny reservation. **ES:** reservation; the rights should be listed first and then the obligations. **DE:** any breaches of the obligations laid down in Article 7 constitute the grounds for sanctions also in other pieces of legislation (Dublin Regulation, RCD). The obligations and sanctions should respect the principle of proportionality. Sanctions following breaches by the applicant should be imposed only if he/she has been informed of such obligations and the possible consequences of any breaches beforehand. Does this Articles also apply to UAMs (including to UAMs without a representative)?

⁴³ **PRES:** the changes in this paragraph have been made with a view to align the text with the Dublin Regulation proposal. **EL, IT:** reservation. **EL:** the provision seems to overlook the rest of the Dublin criteria. E.g. we could say that an applicant who has a family member in another MS shall lodge the application in that MS. The article refers to the obligations of the applicants, which should be observed by the MS where he/she lodges his/her application, and not the determination of the responsible state. The obligations listed below apply irrespective of whether the applicant is in the responsible m-s or not. Para 1 is superfluous, the article should start with para 2. Delete or replace as follows: "*A third country national or stateless person who intends to make an application for international protection shall make and lodge that application in the m-s where he/she is present*". **IT:** delete "*and lodge*"; in the prospect of setting up an allocation mechanism in the Dublin Regulation, lodging an application may entail the transmission of the lodged application by means of an EU IT system which is not yet in place. For the time being, we don't know whether the allocated asylum seekers will lodge an application in the MS of arrival or in the MS of allocation. This mechanism is still to be determined. **MT:** a cross-reference to Dublin is preferable.

2. The applicant shall **fully** cooperate with the responsible **competent** authorities⁴⁴ ~~for them to establish his or her identity as well as to register, enable the lodging of and examine the application by~~ **in matters covered by this Regulation, in particular, by:**
- (a) providing **his or her name, date of birth, sex, nationality and information about family members and other personal details** ~~the data referred to in points (a) and (b) of the second paragraph of Article 27(1);~~⁴⁵ **(aa) where available, providing the type and number of his or her identity or travel document and the country that issued the document;**⁴⁶
 - (ab) providing his or her place of residence or address and a telephone number where he or she may be reached, including any changes thereto;**
 - (b) providing ~~fingerprints and facial image~~ **biometric data** as referred to in Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Eurodac Regulation).⁴⁷
 - (c) lodging his or her application in accordance with Article 28 ~~within the set time limit and submitting all elements at his or her disposal needed to substantiate his or her application~~⁴⁸;

⁴⁴ **LU:** further obligations for the applicant should be added, e.g. the obligation to be submitted to a medical examination, to a linguistic test, translation of documents etc. **DE:** scrutiny reservation regarding "*in particular*"; are MS allowed to regulate further obligations in their national law? **MT:** add "*at all times*" after "*the applicant shall*".

⁴⁵ **DE:** unclear what happens if it is not possible to provide this information, e.g. if the date of birth is unknown or the nationality is unverified. **SK:** reservation; for registration purposes, it is more appropriate to refer to "*sex*" instead of "*gender*"; keep reference to Art. 27 (1). **NL:** "*identity*" instead of "*name, date of birth, gender, nationality*".

⁴⁶ **MT:** if this does not refer to documents in the applicant's possession, it should be deleted as it is already covered by the obligation in point (d), that is, to provide any documents in his or her possession, which would naturally include information related to the type, number and country of issuance. **IE:** delete "*where available*".

⁴⁷ OJ L [...], [...], p. [...].

⁴⁸ **EL:** reservation on the deadlines according to Art. 28(3).

(d) ~~hand over documents in his or her possession~~ **providing as soon as possible all the elements available to him or her which substantiate the application for international protection as refer to Article 4(2) of Regulation EU XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation) and any other information or documents** relevant to the examination of the application for the procedures in accordance with this Regulation;

(da) **attending personal interviews in accordance with Article 12.**

3. ~~Where an applicant refuses to cooperate by not providing the details necessary for the examination of the application and by not providing his or her fingerprints and facial image and the responsible authorities have properly informed that person of his or her obligations and has ensured that that person has had an effective opportunity to comply with those obligations, his or her application shall be rejected as abandoned in accordance with the procedure referred to in Article 39.~~⁴⁹
4. ~~The applicant shall inform the determining authority of the Member State in which he or she is required to be present of his or her place of residence or address, or a telephone number where he or she may be reached by the determining authority or other responsible authorities. He or she shall notify that determining authority of any changes. The applicant shall accept any communication at the most recent place of residence or address which he or she has indicated accordingly to the competent authorities in particular when he or she lodges an application in accordance with Article 28~~⁵⁰.

⁴⁹ **DE, IE:** scrutiny reservation on the deletion. **PRES:** this paragraph was deleted as it is covered by Article 39. **BE:** keep reference to Art. 39 in Art. 7. **NL:** keep para (3) without reference to Art. 39.

⁵⁰ **CZ** (supported by **SK**): add the following before the last sentence: "*The change of place of residence may be subject to previous approval by the determining authority*". **DE:** para (4) second sentence: clarification needed whether that public notification pursuant to the national law of the MS remains admissible. **ES:** difficult to oblige someone to do that; the consequences in case of failure to meet this obligation need to be clarified. **HU:** the obligation of notification of any changes makes sense only if the place of residence/address have not been appointed by the authority. **SK:** add the following sentence: "*The change of place of residence may be subject to previous approval by the determining authority*". **SE:** delete this para; if deemed necessary it could be included in 7.2 (ab).

5. The applicant shall remain on the territory of the Member State where he or she is required to be present, **or where he or she is present pending the procedure for a transfer** in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation).⁵¹
6. The applicant shall comply with obligations to report regularly to the competent authorities or to appear before them in person without delay or at a specified time or to remain in a designated area on its territory in accordance with Directive XXX/XXX/EU (Reception Conditions Directive), as imposed by the Member State in which he or she is ~~required to be present in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation)~~⁵².
7. Where it is necessary for the ~~examination~~ **processing** of an application, the applicant may be required by the ~~responsible~~ **competent** authorities to be searched or have his or her items searched **in accordance with national law**. Without prejudice to any search carried out for security reasons, a search of the applicant's person ~~under this Regulation~~ shall be carried out by a person of the same sex with full respect for the principles of human dignity and of physical and psychological integrity.⁵³

⁵¹ **DE:** scrutiny reservation. **ES:** clarify the consequences in case of failure to meet this obligation. **IT:** the added part seems redundant, when a transfer decision is pending the applicant is required to be present.

⁵² **NL:** reservation (linked to RCD). **ES:** clarify this provision, in particular the consequences in case of failure to comply with the obligations. **SE:** scrutiny reservation; delete para as this should not be regulated both in APR and in the RCD.

⁵³ **SE:** scrutiny reservation. **BE, LU:** clarify "*Where it is necessary for the examination of an application*". **BE:** clarify what is meant by "have his or her items searched"; are laptops, telephones, tablets included? Does search include the possibility to read the content of electronic devices? **CZ:** this paragraph should be looked at in relation to Art. 13(2)(d); add "*in particular*" after "*Where it is necessary*" (the current text is too narrow. Similar text is missing in the new Dublin proposal).

Article 8

General guarantees for applicants⁵⁴

1. ~~During the administrative procedure referred to in Chapter III applicants shall enjoy the guarantees set out in paragraphs 2 to 8 of this Article.~~
2. **Unless otherwise provided for in this Regulation**, ~~T~~**the determining authority or, where applicable, other competent authorities shall inform the applicants, orally or in writing, at appropriate stages of the procedure**, in a language which ~~he or she~~ **they** understands or ~~is~~ **are** reasonably ~~meant~~ **supposed** to understand, of the following⁵⁵:
 - (a) the right to lodge an ~~individual~~ application;⁵⁶
 - (b) the **time-limits and stages of the** procedure ~~to be followed~~;
 - (c) **his or her** ~~their~~ rights and obligations during the procedure, **including the possible consequences for not complying with those obligations** ~~including the obligation to remain in the territory of the Member State in which they are required to be present in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation)~~;⁵⁷

⁵⁴ **ES, PT, SE, SI:** scrutiny reservation. **FI:** add "*information*" in the title.

⁵⁵ **DE, ES, LV, NL:** scrutiny reservation. **DE,** supported by **ES, NL:** the obligation to provide information should be extended to additional authorities (Article 5(3)) if possible, so that the purpose of providing information can be achieved. **NL:** NGOs would not be covered by this provision; the obligation related to language should apply only when the applicant is not assisted by a legal advisor.

⁵⁶ **PT:** not clear enough. **FI:** this separate stage does not exist at national level. Therefore, flexibility is needed.

⁵⁷ **DE:** delete "possibly" because the consequences are binding; the consequences this refers to need to be clarified (only those regulated by Art. 7?) **RO:** unclear what are the consequences of the applicant does not comply with these obligations; these should be explicitly mentioned in the Regulation; the situations stipulated in Art. 40 are not a result of non-compliance with the obligations under Art. 7.

- (d) ~~the possible consequences of not complying with their obligations and not cooperating with the authorities~~ **the procedure for submitting elements to substantiate his or her application for international protection;**
- (e) ~~the timeframe of the procedure~~ **the right to legal assistance free of charge in the administrative procedure and the right to free legal assistance and representation in the appeal procedure as referred to in Articles 15 and 15a, respectively,**⁵⁸
- (f) ~~the means at their disposal for fulfilling the obligation to submit the elements as referred to in Article 4 of Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation);~~
- (g) the consequences of an explicit or implicit withdrawal of the application;
- (h) the **result** ~~outcome~~ of the decision of the determining authority, the reasons for ~~that decision, as well as~~ **and** the consequences of a decision refusing to grant international protection **refugee status or subsidiary protection status** and the manner in which to challenge such a decision **as provided for in Article 35**⁵⁹.

⁵⁸ **EL, MT, SK:** reservation on the introduction of free legal assistance at the administrative procedure (first instance). **SE:** concerns regarding the scope of the right; clarify that the right is not without exceptions by making a reference to the general right to legal assistance in some cases and not a right for the particular applicant, since this will not have been examined at this stage; hence use "*scope of the right to*" instead of "*right to*".

⁵⁹ **SK:** scrutiny reservation. **BE, CY:** reservation. **BE:** concerns about the administrative burden, prefer the wording of Art. 12 (1) (f) APD. **IT:** modify letter (h) as follows: "*(h) the outcome of the decision of the determining authority, the reasons for ~~that decision, as well as the consequence of a decision according a status different from refugee status and for a decision refusing to grant international protection, their consequences and the manner in which to challenge such a decision~~ the two latter decisions.*" **PL:** reservation, it will generate costs. **RO:** what should the information on the reasons for the decision contain? could it refer to the full translation of the decision? what kind of information should be translated? **SI:** it is not necessary to give the grounds for decision. **COM:** it is important to inform the applicant; it is not new (see Art. 11 (2) and 12(1)(f) APD). **IE:** how detailed does it have to be? **MT:** no support for the provision of information in a language the applicant understands or is reasonably supposed to understand, either in writing or orally, in relation to the reasons and the consequences of a decision refusing to grant international protection, as this would incur a significant administrative burden and translation costs; redraft as follows: "*informed of the result of the decision by the determining authority and the manner in which to challenge such a decision in accordance with Article 53(1)*".

The information referred to in the first **this** paragraph shall be given in good **within reasonable** time to enable the applicants to exercise the rights guaranteed in this Regulation and for them to adequately comply with the obligations set out in Article 7.⁶⁰

3. ~~The determining authority shall provide~~ **A** applicants **shall be provided** with the services of an interpreter **free of charge** for submitting their case ~~to the determining authority as well as to courts or tribunals~~ whenever appropriate communication cannot be ensured without such services **and in particular for personal interviews**. ~~The interpretation services shall be paid for from public funds.~~⁶¹

⁶⁰ **IT:** replace "good" with "reasonable". **SI:** specify "in good time". **SE,** supported by **EL, RO:** due to the possible consequences of non-compliance with obligations, it is important that the applicant is duly informed; suggestion that the applicant should have to confirm that the information has been received and this should be added to the file. Hence, add the following at the end of the last sub-para: "*The applicant shall confirm that he or she has received the information. Such confirmation shall be documented in the applicant's file.*" **DE:** a second sentence should be inserted at the end, stating that sanctions will only be imposed if the applicant has been duly notified of the consequences of non-compliance - "*Consequences of non compliance shall only apply insofar as the applicant has been informed according to para 1.*" The link with point (c) is unclear.

⁶¹ **SE:** scrutiny reservation. **CZ:** reservation. **AT,** supported by **RO:** delete para (3). **DE,** supported by **EL, NL:** reservation; the right to the free services of an interpreter for the administrative procedure must be clearly defined and limited to the process of registering an application and the interview; the wording "*whenever appropriate communication cannot be ensured without such services*" is too imprecise and open to interpretation. It is not appropriate to have the asylum authority decide on interpreting services in court proceedings. It is up to the courts to take such a decision. Furthermore, this would be the wrong place to insert such a provision, because according to paragraph 1 this Article sets out the guarantees during the administrative procedure. **NL:** leave open who will provide the service. **PL:** too vague; to make it parallel to Art. 12(1)(b) APD. **SI:** provision too wide. **COM:** the intention is not to say that the determining authority is responsible to provide interpretation service.

4. The ~~determining~~ **competent** authorities shall provide applicants with the opportunity to communicate with the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees or with any other organisation providing legal advice or other counselling to applicants in accordance with national law.⁶²
5. The determining authority shall ensure that applicants and, where applicable, their **representatives** ~~guardians,~~ **or** legal advisers **admitted or permitted as such under national law ("legal advisers")** ~~or other counsellors~~ have access to the information referred to in Article 33(2)(~~eb~~) **and (c)** required for the examination of applications and to the information provided by the experts referred to in Article 33(3), where the determining authority ~~has taken~~ **takes** that information into consideration for the purpose of taking a decision on their application⁶³.
6. ~~The determining authority shall give applicants notice within a reasonable time of the decision taken on their application. Where a guardian, legal adviser or other counsellor is legally representing the applicant, the determining authority may give notice of the decision to him or her instead of to the applicant⁶⁴.~~

⁶² **RO:** what would be the practical implementation of this obligation at the level of the determining authority? It is the applicant choice which entity wants to communicate with (UNHCR or any other any other organisation)? **PRES:** the principle is from APD and should already be applied. **SI:** "*any other organisation*": should this organisation have a link with the UNHCR? **COM:** it depends on what the national law provides.

⁶³ **AT, FR, SE:** scrutiny reservation. **SE:** in order for the applicant to fully present his or her case, this delegation thinks that access to the information in 8.5 should be given before a decision is taken. Hence replace "*has taken*" with "*will take*". **HU,** supported by **RO:** delete "*other counsellor*" as it could refer to anybody - a civil or even a human trafficker. Only the presence of a legal counsellor is acceptable. **PL:** unclear how to guarantee data protection during the proceedings. **PRES:** no personal data should be exchanged according to Art. 33 (2) (b) and (c). **SI:** provision to be deleted. **NL:** add "*without prejudice to Article 16 (2)*" in the beginning.

⁶⁴ **PRES:** provision was moved to article 35, where it is more appropriate and relevant.

6a. The Commission may specify, by means of implementing acts, the content of the information to be provided to applicants when the application is made, drawn up in the form of a common leaflet. Those implementing acts shall be adopted in accordance with the examination procedure referred to in Article 58(2).

Article 9

Right to remain pending during the administrative procedure examination of the application⁶⁵

1. **An applicants shall have the right to remain in the territory of the Member State where he or she is required to be present in accordance with Article 4(2a) of Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX [Dublin Regulation] responsible, for the sole purpose of the procedure, until the determining authority has taken a decision on the application is taken by the Member State responsible in accordance with the administrative procedure provided for in Chapter III and without prejudice to the implementation of transfer decisions in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX [Dublin Regulation].⁶⁶**

⁶⁵ **BE, DE, EL, ES, IT, PT:** scrutiny reservation. **FR:** reservation.

⁶⁶ **PL, SE:** scrutiny reservation. **DE,** supported by **EL:** the provision does not specify the applicable right to remain during the Dublin procedure. It needs to be clarified that the right to remain also applies while the responsible MS is being identified. **HU,** supported by **RO:** clarify that it refers to only the first administrative procedure. **DE:** what are the cases to be covered "*without prejudice to the implementation of transfer decisions in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX [Dublin Regulation]*"? Is this wording and the provision compatible with Art. 7 (1) no. 1 of the Dublin Implementing Regulation (transfer on own initiative)? **SE:** it should be read together with Dublin (comment valid also for para (1a)).

- 1a. *[Where an applicant is in a Member State other than the one where he or she is required to be present in accordance with the Dublin Regulation, the provisions of that Regulation apply and that applicant is not considered as illegally staying in the territory of Member States within the meaning of Directive 2008/115/EC.⁶⁷]*
2. The right to remain shall not constitute an entitlement to a residence permit ~~and it shall not give the applicant the right to travel to the territory of other Member States without authorisation as referred to in Article 6 of Directive XXX/XXX/EU (Reception Conditions Directive).~~

⁶⁷ **CY, CZ, DE, IE, IT, SE:** scrutiny reservation. **EL:** reservation on the reference to Art. 20 of Dublin. **CZ:** the text should be moved to Dublin and discussed in that framework. **SE:** not appropriate to state in a Regulation the way a Directive should apply. **PRES: this text will be moved to recitals.**

3. The ~~responsible~~ **competent** authorities of Member States may **provide for an exception from revoke** the applicant's right to remain on their territory during **the** administrative procedure where⁶⁸:
- (a) ~~a person makes a subsequent application in accordance with Article 42 and in accordance with the conditions laid down in Article 43~~ **are fulfilled**,⁶⁹

⁶⁸ **CZ** (supported by **PL, SI, SK**): the "may" clause should be justified; modify this as follows: "~~The responsible authorities of Member States may revoke the applicant's right to remain on their~~ the territory of Member States may be considered as revoked during administrative procedure where:" (the aim of this modification is to keep the mechanism of the current APD, where it is possible to revoke the right to remain ex lege and no decision is necessary). **IT**: should be a "shall" clause; "*competent authorities*" instead of "*determining authorities*". **FR**: scrutiny reservation to assess if there are other cases which may justify to limit the right to remain. **AT**: reservation on the relation between "shall" and "may". **RO**: unclear wording, keep initial drafting ("revoke"); it is necessary to clarify the legal situation of the asylum procedure of the applicant when the right to remain on the territory is revoked and the alien is removed from the territory of the Member State. Also, clarifications are needed regarding the provisions of letter (b) in terms of both the legal consequences of extradition / surrender and re-extradition procedure. Thus, what happens when a MS receives an application for international protection from a third country / stateless national residing in a third country, having at the same time an arrest warrant issued by another MS? Who is responsible for examining the application for international protection? Does the Dublin Regulation also apply if the person filed a new application for international protection in the MS that issued the arrest warrant? What happens to the asylum procedure in MS in which the first application was filed? Should this be terminated without a decision? **SE**: scrutiny reservation; unclear how this should be dealt with in practice. Is it a general decision that in all these cases there is no right, or is it determined on a case by case basis? If on a case by case basis a specific decision would have to be taken that would be appealable. If a general decision is taken it should be by the MS and not by the authorities. **NL**: add a new point drafted as follows: "*a person is a danger for public order or the national security, without prejudice to Art. 12 and 18 of the Qualification Regulation*".

⁶⁹ **IT**: this must be better coordinated with Art. 19 (2) (c) of RCD. **NL**: include public order. **SE**: clarify this provision. **EL**: reservation, leads to a possible refusal of the right to an effective remedy after a subsequent application is considered inadmissible, delete it.

(b) a person is surrendered or extradited, as appropriate, to another Member State pursuant to obligations in accordance with a European arrest warrant⁷⁰ or to a third country ~~or to international criminal courts or tribunals;~~⁷¹

(ba) a person is extradited, surrendered or transferred to another Member State, a third country, the international criminal court or another international court or tribunal for the purpose of judicial proceedings or for the execution of a sentence.

4. A Member State may extradite an applicant to a third country pursuant to paragraphs 3(b) only where the determining competent authority **considers** ~~is satisfied~~ that an extradition decision will not result in direct or indirect *refoulement* in breach of the international and Union obligations of that Member State⁷². **In the case of an extradition, a surrender or transfer to a third country, the international criminal court or another international court or tribunal pursuant to paragraph 3(ba), the determining authority or a national court or tribunal may take into account elements in the decision which may be relevant for an assessment of the risk of direct or indirect refoulement.**

⁷⁰ Council Framework Decision 2002/584/JHA of 13 June 2002 on the European arrest warrant and the surrender procedures between Member States (OJ L 190, 18.7.2002, p. 1).

⁷¹ **DE:** reservation: it must be up to the MS to decide which authority examines the prerequisites of paragraph (4). **IT:** add a letter (c) that would read as follows: "*(c) a person is a danger for public security, without prejudice to art. 12 and 18 of the Regulation [...] on standards for the qualification [...].*" **PL:** add a point (c): a person poses a clear danger to public security. **EL:** reservation, delete "or to a third country"; not possible to guarantee the safeguard of para (4), that in the third country where the applicant will be extradited, the principle of non refoulement will be respected.

⁷² **IT, PT:** scrutiny reservation. **RO:** reservation, reword the second sentence as follows: "*the competent authorities to deal with the extradition request must also consider the risk of direct or indirect return*". **CZ** (supported by **SI**): justify the "may" clause. **DE:** reservation; it must be up to the MS to decide which authority examines the prerequisites of paragraph (4). **EL:** the drafting suggests that the determining authority can question the extradition decision. **IT:** understands that the determining authority simply gives an opinion on a decision issued by another authority on extradition before the decision is enforced; therefore, replace "*is satisfied*" with "*has given an opinion*". **BE, IE, SK:** "*competent authority*" instead of "*determining authority*". **FI:** at national level different authorities are involved in the procedure; therefore this provision needs to be clarified. We should also take into account the safe third country of origin. **SE:** the added part is redundant; a Regulation does need to state what a court may take into account.

SECTION II

PERSONAL INTERVIEWS

Article 10

*Admissibility interview*⁷³

⁷³ **EL, ES, DE, IE, MT, SE:** scrutiny reservation. **PL:** the obligation to have this interview makes it impossible to accomplish the obligations provided for in Art. 34 (1), the admissibility interview should be optional. **CZ:** the relation between Articles 10 and 11 is not clear; if the substantive interview is carried out, there is no need for the admissibility interview. **FR, IT:** reservation (same as for the mandatory admissibility interview under Dublin); unclear if two different authorities are needed for the two interviews; the interviews will create an administrative workload for the determining authorities. **EL:** it doesn't make sense to have the two interviews; not clear if the admissibility should be checked only when there are reasons of Art 36 (1) or always. It would be burdensome to conduct an admissibility procedure if the third country does not fulfil the requirements of the safe third country, is not designated as such at the EU level and has not provided assurances to take back the applicant. **FI:** in case of repeated applications, Art. 10 should not apply, this exception should be stated clearly; unclear who conducts the admissibility interview. **BE:** scrutiny reservation (link with Dublin Reg.). **ES:** unclear if the admissibility and substantive interview could take place at the same time, unclear who will conduct the admissibility interview. **DE:** it must be clear that a special admissibility interview and an explicit decision on the admissibility of an asylum application are necessary only if the MS intends to reject the application as inadmissible. **COM:** it should be carried out in one month; applicants should be given the opportunity to explain why the grounds relating to safe CoO and first country of asylum do not apply to them; the admissibility and substantive interview under APR could be carried out at the same time; the responsible authorities are the determining authorities who can be assisted by authorities of other MS and by EASO experts; the admissibility under APR and Dublin could be carried out at the same time; the admissibility and the substantive interview under APR are carried out by the determining authorities, the admissibility under Dublin could be carried out by other authorities.

1. Before a decision is taken by the determining authority on the inadmissibility of an application for international protection in accordance with Article 36 (1a), the applicant shall be given the opportunity of an **admissibility** interview on the admissibility of his or her application⁷⁴.
 2. In the ~~admissibility~~ **such** interview, the applicant shall be given an opportunity to ~~provide adequate reasons~~ **submit all elements explaining** as to why the inadmissibility grounds provided for in Article 36(1a) would not be applicable to his or her particular circumstances⁷⁵.
- 2a. **The admissibility interview may be conducted at the same time as the interview conducted to facilitate the determination of the Member State responsible for examining an application for international protection as referred to in Article 7 of Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation).**⁷⁶
 - 2b. **Where the admissibility interview is conducted in the Member State responsible, that interview may be conducted at the same time as the substantive interview referred to in Article 11.**

⁷⁴ **DE:** scrutiny reservation; not clear if the authorities mentioned in Art. 5 (1) carry out this interview and what is the link to Dublin. **COM:** it is linked to Article 36 and to Dublin (see COM explanation in the previous footnote); if the applicant doesn't cooperate it is considered implicit withdrawal. **CZ:** change para (1) as follows: "*Before a decision is taken by the determining authority decides on the admissibility of an application for international protection, the applicant shall be given the opportunity of an interview on the admissibility of his or her application unless the application is admissible on the basis of evidence available.*" (see also the proposed change in Art 12 (5) (a)). **BE:** explicit reference should be made to the exceptions in the field of interview (Art. 42 (3) of APR).

⁷⁵ **FR:** reservation. **SE:** delete "*admissibility grounds provided for in Article 36(1) would not be applicable to his or her particular circumstances*" and replace with "*application is admissible*". **EL:** the wording is different compared to Art. 11 (2).

⁷⁶ **EL:** reservation; the Dublin procedure on the determination of the MS responsible should take precedence over the admissibility procedure. **SE:** not sure if this needs to be specified here (comment also valid for para (2b)).

Article 11

Substantive interview⁷⁷

1. Before a decision is taken by the determining authority on the merits of an application for international protection, the applicant shall be given the opportunity of a substantive interview on his or her application⁷⁸.
2. In the substantive interview, the applicant shall be given an ~~adequate~~⁷⁹ opportunity to present the elements needed to substantiate his or her application in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation), and he or she shall provide all the elements at his or her disposal as completely as possible. The applicant shall be given the opportunity to provide an explanation regarding elements which may be missing or any inconsistencies or contradictions in the applicant's statements.
3. ~~A person who conducts the substantive interview of an application shall not wear a military or law enforcement uniform.~~⁸⁰

⁷⁷ **EL:** scrutiny reservation. **PL:** unclear if "*applicant*" include all persons comprised by the application; against interviewing all of them; if they want to be interviewed, they can launch their own application; interviewing minors is problematic.

⁷⁸ **DE:** unclear if other authorities can be involved. **SE:** COM proposal is preferable since not all applications are examined on the merits.

⁷⁹ **DE:** clarification needed as to why this has been deleted.

⁸⁰ **PRES:** this paragraph was moved to Article 12, as it refers to the requirements of the interview, rather than explaining what the substantive interview stands for.

Article 12

Requirements for personal interviews⁸¹

1. The **Every** applicant shall be given an opportunity of a personal interview on his or her application, **including dependent adults without legal capacity under national law and minors** in accordance with **subject to** the conditions established in this Regulation.
2. ~~The personal interviews shall be conducted under conditions which ensure appropriate confidentiality and which allow applicants to present the grounds for their applications in a comprehensive manner.~~⁸²

⁸¹ **BE, LV:** reservation. **DE, ES, IE:** scrutiny reservation. **HU:** the deadline for the interview should be clarified. **FR:** the applicant should provide evidence; a reference to Art. 43 (2) should be included. **NL:** prefers to have separate interviews for each adult as provided for in Article 14(1) of APD. **LV,** supported by **PL:** there should be a possibility also for other national institutions, not only the determining authority, to conduct admissibility interviews. Current wording of Article 12(3) and 12(4) already allows the determining authority to be assisted by the personnel of institutions of other MS or future European Union Agency for Asylum. However, a more general/flexible approach, which would provide for a possibility for other national authorities to conduct admissibility interviews would be preferable. In such a way MS could retain their national practice as regards the division of tasks among national authorities involved in the asylum procedure, which works well in practice and is integrated with other elements of the procedure. Furthermore, admissibility interviews take place in the very beginning of the procedure, and are rather limited in their scope, therefore, we believe, that the involvement of other authorities is possible and does not have a negative impact on the procedure or the rights of the applicant. It should also be noted that in any case high standards for the quality of interviews and qualification of relevant personnel are complied with. **BE, ES:** keep current acquis as to whom should conduct the interview and include the use of electronic means (videoconference). **DE:** unclear if the use of videoconference is acceptable. **IT:** the possibility to merge the administrative and substantive interview should be clearly stated, it should be clear that/if other authorities can be involved. **COM:** the admissibility and substantive interview under APR could be carried out at the same time; the responsible authorities are the determining authorities who can be assisted by authorities of other MS and by EASO experts; the admissibility interviews under APR and Dublin could be carried out at the same time; the admissibility and the substantive interview under APR are carried out by the determining authorities, the Dublin interview could be carried out by other authorities.

⁸² **DE:** clarification needed as to why (1) and (2) have been deleted.

3. Personal interviews shall be conducted by the personnel of the determining authority, which may be assisted **for that purpose** by the personnel of **the determining** authorities of other Member States referred to in Article 5a(41)(a) or experts deployed by the European Union Agency for Asylum referred to in Article 5a(42)(b).⁸³
4. **In addition, W**where simultaneous applications for international protection by a disproportionate number of third-country nationals or stateless persons make it difficult in practice for the determining authority to conduct timely personal interviews of each applicant, the determining authority **of the Member State where the application is made and lodged or of the Member State responsible** may be assisted by the personnel of **other** authorities **of that Member State** ~~of other Member States referred to in Article 5(4)(a) and experts deployed by the European Union Agency for Asylum referred to in Article 5(4)(b), to conduct such interviews.~~⁸⁴
- 4a. **A person who conducts the substantive interview of an application shall not wear a military or law enforcement uniform.**⁸⁵

⁸³ **DE:** this provision should not only cover personnel of the determining authority but also persons having the necessary skills. **SE:** delete (3) and (4). **NL:** merge (3) and (4).

⁸⁴ **FR, PL:** scrutiny reservation; add "*other officials who have been trained in asylum law*". **RO:** clarifications on the following issues: what would be the assistance given by the authorities of other Member States or the one given by experts sent by the European Union Agency for Asylum? **DE:** clarification needed regarding the reasons of the deletion and the way paras (3) and (4) interact.

⁸⁵ **FR,** supported by **EL** and **ES:** this should be the case not only for substantive interviews but also for admissibility interviews. **SE:** add "*Personal interviews shall be conducted by the personnel of the determining authority.*" as a first sentence.

5. **In addition to Article 42(3),** ~~t~~The personal interview may be omitted in the following situations where the determining authority⁸⁶:
- (a) is able to take a positive decision with regard to refugee status or ~~a decision declaring~~ **considers that** the application **is** admissible on the basis of evidence available⁸⁷; or
 - (b) is of the opinion that the applicant is unfit or unable to be interviewed owing to enduring circumstances beyond his or her control.⁸⁸

The absence of a personal interview pursuant to point (b) shall not adversely affect the decision of the determining authority. **Nevertheless, in the absence of such an interview,** ~~That~~ **the determining** authority shall give the applicant an effective opportunity to submit further information **in writing**. When in doubt as to the condition of the applicant, the determining authority shall consult a medical professional to establish whether the condition that makes the applicant unfit or unable to be interviewed is of a temporary or enduring nature⁸⁹.

⁸⁶ **PL, SE:** scrutiny reservation on para (5). **SI:** reservation on para (5). **PL:** the list of reasons should be extended - no interview if the person has not mentioned any harm or persecution. **COM:** an interview is needed even if the person does not mention persecution or harm. **SE:** delete "*in the following situations*" and "*the determining authority*". **MT:** point (a) means that the substantive interview may be omitted if the determining authority is able to take a positive decision in relation to the granting of refugee status, while the admissibility interview may be omitted in case the determining authority is able to consider the application admissible. Therefore, instead of referring to the generic term "*personal interview*", we should clearly differentiate between the two to improve clarity.

⁸⁷ **ES:** there should also be a reference to subsidiary protection status. **COM:** the reference is only to refugees because of QR: first it is assessed if the applicant qualifies for refugee protection and then if he/she qualifies for subsidiary protection. **IT:** add the following: "*(a) is able to take a positive decision with regard to refugee status or subsidiary protection or a decision...*". **SE:** add "the determining authority" in the beginning.

⁸⁸ **SE:** delete "*is of the opinion*" (unnecessary).

⁸⁹ **HU:** "*effective opportunity*" needs clarification. **FR:** second part of para (5) - unclear if it is up to the determining authority to check if the applicant is truly unable to participate in the interview; in FR the doctor gives a certificate. **COM:** this is meant to include the French practice. **RO:** replace "*condition*" with "*situation*". **SE:** delete "*nevertheless*"; "*may if necessary*" instead of "*shall*".

- 5a. Applicants shall be present at the personal interview and shall be required to respond in person to the questions asked. By way of derogation, a personal interview may be held by video conference provided that the determining authority provides for the necessary facilities and, where the applicant is assisted by a legal adviser or an interpreter, that legal adviser or interpreter is present with the applicant.⁹⁰
- 5b. An applicant shall be allowed to bring to a personal interview a legal advisor, who assists the applicant. The absence of the legal advisor shall not prevent the determining authority from conducting the interview. Where a legal advisor participates in the personal interview, he or she shall be authorised to intervene at the end of the personal interview.⁹¹
6. The person conducting the interview shall be competent to take account of the personal and general circumstances surrounding the application, including the applicant's cultural origin, age, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity and **special procedural needs** vulnerability. Personnel interviewing applicants shall also have acquired general knowledge of ~~problems~~ **factors** which could adversely affect the applicant's ability to be interviewed, such as indications that the person may have been tortured in the past.

⁹⁰ **SE:** an obligation to appear for an interview also exists in Art. 7.

⁹¹ **BE:** reservation. **NL:** scrutiny reservation. **IT:** add "*according to a specific mandate*" at the end of the first sentence. **MT:** add "*within the framework set by the person who conducts the interview, and*" after "*intervene*".

7. The personnel interviewing applicants, including experts deployed by the European Union Agency for Asylum, shall have received ~~relevant~~ training in advance which shall include ~~the~~ **relevant** elements **from those** listed in Article 7(45) of Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (EU Asylum Agency Regulation), ~~including as regards international human rights law, Union asylum law, and rules on access to the international protection procedure, including for persons who could require special procedural guarantees~~⁹².

⁹² **RO:** not all items listed in Article 7 (5) of Regulation (EU) no. XXX / XXX (Agency Regulation Asylum EU), are relevant for the training of the personnel interviewing applicants (eg. The preparation of relocation, reception conditions, etc.). Opposition to the imperative requirement that the personnel interviewing applicants shall have received relevant training in advance which shall include the elements listed in Article 7(5) of Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (EU Asylum Agency Regulation), including as regards international human rights law, Union asylum law, and rules on access to the international protection procedure, including for persons who could require special procedural guarantees. This requirement could create blockages in the examination process of applications for international protection, in the context that asylum seekers may require proof that the interviewing personnel had previously received appropriate training. MS and the Agency for Asylum of the European Union should ensure in advance that the interviewing personnel of the determining authority or experts sent by EASO to assist during the interviews, have adequate knowledge to fulfil their obligations. In addition, MS should ensure adequate training of personnel concerned including the relevant elements listed in Article 7(5) of Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (EU Asylum Agency Regulation), including as regards international human rights law, Union asylum law, and rules on access to the international protection procedure, including for persons who could require special procedural guarantees. Redraft as follows: "*relevant elements of those listed in Article 7*". **FR:** scrutiny reservation, exact modalities to be examined further. **COM:** it is important for the personnel to have the necessary knowledge hence the necessity of training. **EL:** special training for interviewing minors could be necessary. **AT:** scrutiny reservation regarding the organisation of the training.

8. An interpreter who is able to ensure appropriate communication between the applicant and the person conducting the interview shall be provided for the personal interview. The communication shall take place in ~~the language preferred by the applicant unless there is another~~ a language which ~~he or she~~ the applicant understands and in which he or she is able to communicate clearly⁹³.
- 8a. Where requested by the applicant **and where possible**, the determining authority shall ensure that the interviewers and interpreters are of the ~~same~~ sex **that** as the applicant **prefers**, ~~provided that this is possible and the determining authority does not~~ **unless it** ~~has~~ reasons to believe **consider** that such a request **does** ~~is based on grounds which are not related to~~ difficulties on the part of the applicant to present the grounds of his or her application ~~in a~~ **comprehensive manner**.
- 8b. **The personal interviews shall be conducted under conditions which ensure appropriate privacy and confidentiality. Where the determining authority considers it necessary for an appropriate examination of the application, it may authorise the presence of family members or third parties at the personal interviews.**
9. The absence of a personal interview, **where it is omitted pursuant to paragraph 5 or where the applicant does not appear for it**, shall not prevent the determining authority from taking a decision on an application for international protection⁹⁴.

⁹³ **SI:** reservation, prefers the current wording. **IT,** supported by **CZ** and **RO:** change the second sentence as follows: "*The communication shall take place in the language ~~preferred~~ spoken by the applicant ~~unless there is~~ or in another language which he or she understands and in which he or she is able to communicate clearly.*" **COM:** second part of para (8) is meant to prevent abuse as applicants use this as an excuse, it is up to the MS to see if this is true, relevant.

⁹⁴ **SE:** the interview cannot be omitted where the applicant does not appear. There may be justified reasons for not appearing and in any event the applicant's need for protection must be examined. This must also be read together with article 39. Redraft as follows: "*Where the personal interview is omitted pursuant to paragraph 5, it shall not prevent the determining authority from taking a decision on an application for international protection.*" **IE:** "attend the interview" instead of "appear".

Report and recording of personal interviews

1. The determining authority or any other authority or experts assisting it ~~or~~ **with** conducting the personal interview shall make a thorough and factual report containing all substantive elements **of the personal interview** or a transcript **of the recording** of ~~every personal~~ **such an interview**⁹⁵.
2. The personal interview ~~shall~~ **may** be recorded using audio or audio-visual means of recording. The applicant shall be informed in advance of such recording⁹⁶. **Where a recording is made, the determining authority shall ensure that the recording or the transcript of the recording is included in the applicant's file.**
3. The applicant shall be given the opportunity to make comments or provide clarification orally or in writing with regard to any incorrect translations or misunderstandings appearing in the report or in the transcript **of the recording**, at the end of the personal interview or within a specified time limit before the determining authority takes a decision. To that end, the applicant shall be informed of the entire content of the report or of the ~~substantive elements of the transcript~~ **of the recording**, with the assistance of an interpreter, where necessary. **Where there is both a report and a transcript of the recording, the applicant shall be requested to make comments on either one of them.** ~~The applicant shall then be requested to confirm that the content of the report or the transcript correctly reflect the personal interview.~~

⁹⁵ **HU:** it allows the authorities to make a „*transcript*” instead of „*thorough and factual report*”, but it can cause problems at courts, because applicants can say that the transcript has not been recorded appropriately, so it could prolong the procedures.

⁹⁶ **DE, ES:** scrutiny reservation. **EL, PL:** reservation. **FR:** reservation on paras (2), (3) and (4); strong opposition to the double procedure implying the recording of the interview (para 2) and the comments collection procedure (para 3). **RO:** no support for this provision in this form. It involves costs and can not be justified as long as the applicant for international protection signs the detailed and factual report or transcript confirming the contents of the document that includes the reported issues. What happens if the applicant does not agree with the recording? Insert "*transcript*" after "*report*". **PRES:** then the interview should in any case be recorded. **EL:** a report is needed however. **BE:** superfluous as the recording is already mentioned in point (1).

4. **The applicant shall be requested to confirm that the content of the report or the transcript of the recording correctly reflects the personal interview⁹⁷.** Where an applicant **he or she** refuses to confirm that the content of the report or the transcript correctly reflects the personal interview, the reasons for his or her refusal shall be entered in ~~the applicant's~~ **his or her** file. That refusal shall not prevent the determining authority from taking a decision on the application⁹⁸.

Where the personal interview is recorded and the recording is admissible as evidence in the appeal procedure, the applicant does not have to be requested to confirm that the content of the report or of the transcript of the recording correctly reflects the interview.

5. Applicants and, **where applicable**, their legal advisers ~~or other counsellors~~ shall have access to the report or the transcript **of the recording** and ~~or the recording~~ before the determining authority takes a decision⁹⁹. **By way of exception, where there is both a report and a transcript of the recording, access to the recording does not have to be provided in the administrative procedure. Access to the recording shall be provided in the appeal procedure.**
6. ~~Where the application is examined in accordance with the accelerated examination procedure, the determining authority may grant access to the report or the transcript of the recording at the same time as the decision is made.~~¹⁰⁰

⁹⁷ **LT, PT, SE:** scrutiny reservation. **NL:** negative assessment, increase of administrative burden, possibility of abuse. **RO:** see comments on para (2). **BE:** include the exceptions from APD on the right to correct and confirm (comment valid for paras (3) and (4)).

⁹⁸ **NL:** negative assessment.

⁹⁹ **DE:** scrutiny reservation. **PL:** scrutiny reservation regarding the access before the decision is taken. **RO:** clarification on the following issues: why is access granted to both applicants and their legal advisers? (costly measure). Given the observation on para (2), the text should be amended so that access to the recording is granted, if applicable (if such a record was made). What should be done in case of a conflict between the report and the recording? **BE:** we should avoid listening to hours of recording during appeals. **EL:** a reference to Art. 14 should be included. **COM:** access before a decision is taken is a deliberate change, currently it is only for appeal.

¹⁰⁰ **DE:** clarification needed as to the reasons of this deletion.

7. The ~~responsible~~ **competent** authorities shall store either the recording or the transcript of **the recording** for ten years from the date of a final decision. The recording **or the transcript of the recording, as relevant**, shall be erased upon expiry of that period or where it is related to a person who has acquired citizenship of any Member State before expiry of that period as soon as the Member State becomes aware that the person concerned has acquired such citizenship¹⁰¹.

¹⁰¹ **FR, NL, SK:** scrutiny reservation. **SE, SI:** reservation. **RO:** clarification on the following issues: what happens with the report or transcript after 10 years? Regarding the 10 years retention term of personal data – we think it could be interpreted as too high, it should therefore be assessed whether additional guarantees regarding retention of personal data are needed in the Regulation. **PRES:** after 10 years data should be deleted. **FR:** 10 years is too long, the recording should be kept only during the examining of the application + appeals. **SE:** not sure this provision is necessary in a Regulation, it should be up to the MS. **PL:** this requirement should be justified. **NL:** link with Eurodac; 10 years is too short. **LT:** the period should be decided by the MS; the period is too short. **EL:** 5 years instead of 10. **PT:** 10 years is too long, it should be up to MS to establish the storing period. **LV:** should be "*at least 10 years*" or left to MS to decide. **ES:** not clear when the 10 years period starts to apply **FI, RO, SK:** MS should decide on the period. **COM:** the para aims at harmonising the retention period in view of the current data protection provisions; 10 years is necessary considering subsequent applications; can assess if longer is necessary. **HU:** 10 years is too long, determining the time of storing the recording or the transcript should be a national competence, not an EU competence. **SE, LT:** that rules regarding storage, which generally also apply to other areas than the asylum procedure, should be left to national legislation. Alternatively, a general article regarding storage with reference to national legislation could be added to chapter six. Hence, replace this para with the following text "*7. Member States shall provide for legislation on storage of the documentation of the personal interview. The documentation shall be stored for at least ten years from the date of the final decision.*" **IT:** the report (or minutes) of the interview is to be stored for later reference even after ten years. **MT:** the 10 year retention period as regards the recording or transcript, together with the storage of data referred to in Articles 27 and 28 of this Regulation should start anew every time the applicant's file is updated by the competent authorities.

SECTION III¹⁰²

PROVISION OF LEGAL ASSISTANCE AND REPRESENTATION

Article 14

Right to legal assistance and representation¹⁰³

1. ~~An Applicants~~ shall have the right, **at his or her own costs**, to consult, **be assisted or represented by** a legal adviser ~~or other counsellor, admitted or permitted as such under national law~~, on matters relating to ~~their~~ **his or her** applications, at all stages of the procedure.¹⁰⁴

¹⁰² **AT, DE, ES, LU:** scrutiny reservation. **BE:** reservation. **RO:** reservation regarding MS' obligation to provide free legal assistance and representation during the administrative phase of the procedure – it involves too much administrative burden and considerable costs.

¹⁰³ **IE, IT, NL, PT:** scrutiny reservation. **CY, CZ, EL, FR, LV, SI:** reservation. **SI:** the relation between (1) and (2) is not clear. **LV:** no support for the proposal that makes it mandatory for the Member States to ensure free legal assistance and representation at all stages of the asylum procedure due to huge financial and administrative impact and burden that will be created on the MS; would prefer to return to the existing system provided for in the APD, where MS are obliged to ensure free legal aid only in the appeal stage. This system is balanced and realistic, at the same time safeguarding the rights of the applicants in the procedure. **PT:** can't accept the drafting (legal advisor, counsellor etc.), in PT the legal assistance is given by NGOs (not lawyers, but legal experts). **EL:** free legal assistance at the administrative stage of the procedure is costly and it would require a lot of time for implementation. **BE** (supported by **IT**): it should be clarified from when this legal representation should be provided. **IT:** not clear what happens with the stages of the procedure completed without legal assistance **COM:** para (1) has a general nature, an applicant can seek his/her own assistance; para (2) has a more specific nature, it concerns the free legal assistance. It applies to the administrative phase and the appeal phase. NGOs are not excluded (see Art. 17). The type of experts that can provide advice at administrative stage depends on the national law; what "other counsellor" means depends on what is recognised by the national law (reply to PT and PL). General remark - what is now done by NGOs should be done more systematically. **CY:** no support for the extension of this right to the administrative procedure. This will add to the administrative and financial burden of the MS. Recommendation: as the APD foresees, applicants should be entitled to receive free legal and procedural information during the administrative procedure, and they should receive free legal assistance only at the stage of the first level of appeal.

¹⁰⁴ **BE:** reservation.

2. Without prejudice to **paragraph 1** ~~the applicant's right to choose his or her own legal adviser or other counsellor at his or her own cost~~, an applicant may request **and is entitled to** legal assistance **free of charge** ~~and representation in the administrative procedure and free legal assistance and representation in the appeal procedure subject to the exceptions set out in Articles 15 (3) and 15a(2), respectively~~ ~~at all stages of the procedure in accordance with Articles 15 to 17. The applicant shall be informed of his or her right to request free legal assistance and representation at all stages of the procedure~~¹⁰⁵.

¹⁰⁵ **DE:** scrutiny reservation. **CY, EL, ES, FR, HR, MT, SK:** reservation. **HR:** free legal assistance should be only before courts, otherwise it is too costly. **CZ:** cannot agree, that doesn't exist for the citizens; if it does, it is done by the NGOs. **PL:** opposed on the substance; free legal assistance during the administrative stage of the procedure will not limit the number of appeals. At national level, free legal assistance is given by NGOs, not financed from public funds; it would be too costly. **PRES:** according to Article 17 (1) legal assistance can be provided by legal advisers or other counsellors admitted or permitted under national law to assist or represent the applicants, including non-governmental organisations accredited under national law to provide advisory services or representation. **DE:** administrative burden + significant costs. The provision is superfluous. The obligation to provide information on the possibility of free legal assistance already results from Article 8 (2) (c). If a provision specifically mentioning this obligation is considered necessary the right place would be Article 8 (2). There is no reference to the conditions under which an applicant may request free legal assistance and representation. Why was the reference to Art. 15 to 17 removed? **CY:** difficult and costly. **FR:** makes sense only for appeal. **ES:** Free legal assistance only may be provided to applicants without financial resources and this must be a basic and sine qua non requirement; redraft as follows (drafting similar to Article 4 (1) of the Directive 2016/1919): "*Without prejudice to paragraph 1, an applicant who lacks sufficient resources to pay for the assistance of a lawyer may request free legal assistance and representation in the administrative procedure and in the appeal [when the interest of justice so require]*". **AT:** not ok with free legal assistance during all the stages of the procedure, not clear how Art. 14 and 15 articulate. **IT:** add the following sentence at the end of para (2): "*Free legal assistance in the appeal procedure is subject to national legislation.*"; free legal assistance in the administrative procedure is not sustainable in those MS with a high number of applications. **EL, SK:** the introduction of free legal assistance in the administrative procedure (first instance) is problematic. **MT:** the provision of free legal assistance should be limited to appeals, otherwise it could lead to unnecessary costs and a lengthening of the whole procedure.

Legal assistance free of charge in the administrative procedure ~~Free legal assistance and representation~~¹⁰⁶

¹⁰⁶ **DE, ES, IE, NL, PT, RO, SE, SI:** scrutiny reservation. **CZ, CY, IT, LV:** reservation. **CY:** opposition to extend this right to the administrative procedure. This will add to the administrative and financial burden of the MSs. Recommendation: as the APD foresees, applicants should be entitled to receive free legal and procedural information during the administrative procedure, and they should receive free legal assistance only at the stage of the first level of appeal. **HU:** it is necessary to clarify whether MS have to provide free legal assistance in any case or if they can make restrictions, as they can currently, according to the Directive (second option is preferable because in many cases free legal assistance is not available to citizens either, due to practical reasons. Drafting of the Directive is preferable. **EL:** not possible to provide legal assistance at all stages of the procedure. APD only provides it for appeals. **RO:** delete this para. **SE:** there should be more scope for exceptions from the right. **ES:** redraft as follows (drafting similar to Article 4 (2), (3) and (4) of Directive 2016/1919): "(1) *MS may apply a means test, a merits test, or both to determine whether free legal assistance is to be granted in accordance with Article 14 (2).* (2) *In the administrative procedure, Member States shall, upon the request of the applicant and following the lodging of the application, ensure that he or she is provided with free legal assistance and representation, which shall include assistance in the preparation of the personal interview and participation in the personal interview where requested by the applicant, according to Article 12.* (2a) *Where a Member State applies a means test, it shall take into account all relevant and objective factors, such as the income, capital and family situation of the person concerned, as well as the costs of the assistance of a lawyer and the standard of living in that Member State, in order to determine whether, in accordance with the applicable criteria in that Member State, an applicant lacks sufficient resources to pay for the assistance of a lawyer.* (3) *Where a Member State applies a merits test, it shall take into account the seriousness of the application and the complexity of the case, in order to determine whether the interests of justice require legal aid to be granted. In any event, the merits test shall be deemed not to have been met in the following situations: (a) in the cases referred to in Article 40(1)(a) and (b); or (b) where the application is a subsequent application.* (4) *In the appeal procedure, Member States shall, upon the request of the applicant, ensure that he or she is provided with free legal assistance and representation which shall include the preparation of the procedural documents required under national law, the preparation of the appeal and participation in the hearing before a court or tribunal.* (5) *The provision of free legal assistance and representation in the appeal procedure shall be provided in accordance with paragraphs 1, 2 a and 3 of this Article. In any event, the merits test shall be deemed not to have been met in the following situations: (a) where it is considered that the appeal does not have any tangible prospect of success; or (b) where the appeal or review is at a second level of appeal or higher as provided for under national law, including re-hearings or reviews of appeal.* (5a) *Where a decision not to grant free legal assistance and representation in the appeal procedure is taken by an authority which is not a court or tribunal on the ground set out in paragraph 5 (a) of this Article, the applicant shall have the right to an effective remedy before a court or tribunal against that decision.*" **PL:** clarify the definition of "legal assistance" and "legal representation".

1. ~~Member States shall, at the request of the applicant, provide free legal assistance and representation in the administrative procedure provided for in Chapter III and in the appeal procedure provided for in Chapter V.~~
2. ~~For the purposes of~~ **In the administrative procedure, Member States shall, upon the request of the applicant and following the lodging of the application, ensure that he or she is provided with the free legal assistance free of charge and representation, which shall, at least, include¹⁰⁷ ÷**
 - (a) **explanations of their rights and obligations and of the procedure to be followed in the light of the applicant's individual circumstances;** ~~the provision of information on the procedure in the light of the applicant's individual circumstances;~~
 - (b) **where an application is rejected with regard to refugee status or subsidiary protection status, the reasons for such decision and information on how to challenge it.** ~~assistance in the preparation of the application and personal interview, including and participation in the personal interview as necessary;~~
 - (c) ~~explanation of the reasons for and consequences of a decision refusing to grant international protection as well as information as to how to challenge that decision.~~

¹⁰⁷ **DE, HR:** scrutiny reservation. **SK:** reservation; no support for free legal assistance and representation in the administrative procedure. **FR:** delete "*and representation*". **HU:** can't support legal assistance at every stage of the procedure. **AT:** replace "*For the purposes of the administrative procedure, the free legal assistance and representation shall, at least, include:*" with "*In the administrative procedure provided for in Chapter III, Member States shall ensure that, on request, applicants are provided with legal and procedural information free of charge. This shall include:*" **DE:** the right to free legal representation in the administrative procedure extends far beyond the existing provision in Art. 19 of APD. This provision would increase costs for the MS and create additional administrative burden. **IT:** replace para (2) with the following text: "*In the administrative procedure provided for in Chapter III, applicants are provided with legal and procedural information free of charge, which shall include explanations of their rights and obligations and the preparation of their applications and the personal interview.*" **RO:** no support for para (2). **SE:** keep "*at least*", the list should not be exhaustive.

3. The provision of free legal assistance **free of charge** and representation in the administrative procedure may be excluded **by Member States** where¹⁰⁸:
- (a) **upon disclosure of his or her financial situation**, the applicant **is considered to have** sufficient resources¹⁰⁹;
- (b) ~~the application is considered as not having any tangible prospect of success~~¹¹⁰;

¹⁰⁸ **DE, HR:** scrutiny reservation. **SE:** reservation; redraft as follows: "*MS may provide for exceptions from the right to free legal assistance and representation in the administrative procedure:*". **NL:** an additional exclusion should be added - if there is a high chance of getting a refugee/subsidiary protection status. **FR:** delete "*and representation*". **HU:** unclear who can exclude the possibility of a legal counsellor. **COM:** there is an element of discretion regarding the exclusion (same for (5)). **AT:** modify as follows: "*The provision of free legal and procedural information free of charge assistance and representation in the administrative procedure may be excluded where:*" **IT:** delete para (3) as it is non-applicable if free legal representation is ruled out for the administrative stage of the procedure (see comment on para (2)). **RO:** no support for para (3).

¹⁰⁹ **EL:** "*sufficient resources*" needs to be clarified and also the means by which this should be monitored. **DE:** it must be ensured that the applicant discloses his/her financial situation. Proposal: "*where the applicant, who has to disclose his or her financial situation, is considered to have sufficient resources*". The aim is to make it clearer that applicants, when applying for legal assistance in the administrative procedure, are obliged to cooperate by disclosing their financial situation. **IE:** what constitutes "*sufficient resources*"? **PRES:** it is difficult to define it as the actual sums might differ in the MS but in any case it is discretionary decision of the competent authorities.

¹¹⁰ **CZ:** how does 15 (3) (b) articulate with 15 (2) (b)? **SI:** 15 (3) (b) and 15 (2) (b) are not aligned. **IT:** modify letter (b) as follows: "*(b) the application is ~~considered as not having any tangible prospect of success~~ manifestly unfounded;*" **DE:** text proposal: "*where the action the applicant intends to bring or his defence against an action that has been brought against him does not have sufficient prospects of success or seems frivolous*". It should be clearly stated that legal assistance may be denied if there are no clear prospects of success (cf Art. 16 (5) (b) APD).

- (c) the application is a subsequent application¹¹¹.

Article 15a

Free legal assistance and representation in the appeal procedure

- 41.** ~~For the purposes of~~ **In** the appeal procedure, **Member States shall, upon the request of the applicant, ensure that he or she is provided with** the free legal assistance and representation **which** shall, ~~at least,~~ include the preparation of the ~~required~~ procedural documents **required under national law**, the preparation of the appeal and participation in the hearing before a court or tribunal ~~on behalf of the applicant~~¹¹².

¹¹¹ **PL:** difficult to know when an application is a subsequent one. **BE, SE:** add "*which has not lead to the initiation of a new procedure*" in the end; if a subsequent application has led to the initiation of a new procedure the applicant should have the same right to free legal assistance and representation as other applicants. Add a new point and a last sub-para as follows: "*(d) the application is likely to be regarded as well-founded. If the provision of free legal assistance and representation has been excluded in accordance with (d) the applicant shall have the right to free legal assistance and representation before an application is rejected.*" **SK:** add a new point (d) as follows: "*d) where the applicant already has legal assistance or representation.*"

¹¹² **HU:** no support for legal assistance at every stage of the procedure. **SE:** keep "*at least*".

52. The provision of free legal assistance and representation in the appeal procedure may be excluded **by the Member States** where¹¹³:

- (a) **upon disclosure of his or her financial situation, the applicant is considered to have sufficient resources;**¹¹⁴
- (b) ~~the appeal~~ **it is considered as that the appeal does not have** any tangible prospect of success¹¹⁵;
- (c) the appeal or review is at a second level of appeal or higher as provided for under national law, including re-hearings or reviews of appeal.

¹¹³ **DE, IT:** scrutiny reservation. **HU:** unclear who can exclude the possibility of a legal counsellor. **DE:** it must be ensured in letter (a) that the applicant discloses his/her financial situation. Proposal: "*the applicant, who has to disclose his financial situation, has sufficient resources*". Furthermore letter (b) should focus on sufficient prospects of success. Proposal: "*the appeal is considered as not having any sufficient prospects of success or seems abusive*". **SE:** redraft as follows: "*MS may provide for exceptions from the right to free legal assistance and representation in the appeal procedure:*".

¹¹⁴ **IE:** what constitutes "*sufficient resources*"? **PRES:** it is difficult to define it as the actual sums might differ in the MS but in any case it is discretionary decision of the competent authorities. **DE:** it must be ensured that the applicant discloses his/her financial situation. Proposal: "*where the applicant, who has to disclose his or her financial situation, is considered to have sufficient resources*". The aim is to make it clearer that applicants, when applying for legal assistance in the administrative procedure, are obliged to cooperate by disclosing their financial situation.

¹¹⁵ **HU:** the expression "*the application is considered as not having any tangible prospect of success*" is not clear and not objective. **PRES:** as the provision refers to appeal procedure, it leaves a margin of manoeuvre for the courts.

- 3.** Where a decision not to grant free legal assistance and representation **in the appeal procedure** is taken by an authority which is not a court or tribunal **because** ~~on ground that~~ the appeal is considered as **not** having ~~no~~ **any** tangible prospect of success, the applicant shall have the right to an effective remedy before a court or tribunal against that decision, ~~and for that purpose he or she shall be entitled to request free legal assistance and representation~~¹¹⁶.

Article 16

Scope of legal assistance and representation¹¹⁷

1. A legal adviser ~~or other counsellor admitted or permitted as such under national law~~, who assists or represents an applicant ~~under the terms of national law~~, shall be granted access to the information in the applicant's file upon the basis of which a decision is or shall be ~~made~~ **taken**¹¹⁸.

¹¹⁶ **IT:** scrutiny reservation. **CZ, PL:** this sub-para should be removed, undue burden, almost impossible in practice. **AT:** this will lead to a prolongation of the procedure, delete this sub-para. **EL:** the sub-para mentions "courts" and "tribunals", not clear if other judicial bodies can intervene; for clarification add "*for the purposes of EU law*" after "court or tribunal". **COM:** this sub-para corresponds to Art 20 (3) of APD. **HU:** unclear who can exclude the possibility of a legal counsellor; the expression "*the appeal is considered as not having any tangible prospect of success*" is not clear and not objective. **IT:** "*not having any tangible prospects of success*" with "*manifestly unfounded*".

¹¹⁷ **CZ, LV:** reservation. **HR, IE, PT, SI, SK:** scrutiny reservation.

¹¹⁸ **SI:** if it can be an organisation, it should be specified in the text. **DE:** keep "*under the terms of national law*"; it clarifies that the respective national law is/should be the authoritative reference when it comes to the right to represent an applicant. **BE:** is the use of anonymous sources is covered by para (1) or by para (2)?

2. **By way of exception from paragraph 1,** ~~the determining competent authorities~~ may deny access to the information **or to the sources** in the applicant's file where the disclosure of information or sources would jeopardise national security, the security of the organisations or persons providing the information or the security of the persons to whom the information relates or where the investigative interests relating to the examination of applications for international protection by the competent authorities of the Member States or the international relations of the Member States would be compromised.¹¹⁹ In ~~these~~ **such** cases, ~~the determining authority shall~~¹²⁰ make access to such information or sources **shall be made** available to the courts or tribunals in the appeal procedure. ~~;~~ ~~and~~

The competent authorities shall ensure that the necessary procedures are in place for that the applicant's right of defence is **to be respected. **They may,** As regards point (b), ~~the determining authority shall,~~ in particular, grant access to information or sources to a legal adviser ~~or other counsellor~~ who has **first** undergone a security check ~~in accordance with national law,~~ insofar as the information is relevant for examining the application or for taking a decision to withdraw international protection¹²¹.**

¹¹⁹ **DE:** the need for secrecy or the right to secrecy concerning information of authorities or sources must be regulated by national law. **SE:** redraft the beginning of the first sentence as follows: "*By way of exception from paragraph 1, MS may, under the terms of national law,...*".

¹²⁰ **CZ:** problematic if confidential information is used. **LU:** scrutiny reservation on (2); currently Art 23 APD leave it up to the MS how to implement it. **SE:** reservation on (2); replace "*determining authority*" with "*Member States*", add "*under the terms of national law*" in the first line after "*may*" - detailed rules on publicity and confidentiality are determined by the Member States since they are essential for the administrative systems and not only the asylum systems. The wording of Art. 23(1) in APD could therefore be kept. **NL:** same reasoning as FR regarding "*shall*", prefer "*may*". **COM:** the determining authority is the holder of the file and it should decide on the access. **DE:** reservation on (2), same reasoning as FR and NL; at national level a court decides this, prefers current APD. **BE:** add "*to the info or to the sources*". **HU:** delete last part of para (2).

¹²¹ **HU:** delete the last sub-para of (2) (b). **IT:** for the last sup-para of (2) - not clear if the legal advisor has to be authorised before access or it is an ad hoc security check for every person; replace "*legal advisor*" with "*legal representative*" and delete the rest until the end. **COM:** the counsellor/legal advisor has to undergo a security check, which could be on an ad hoc basis or a general authorisation. **EL:** unclear what is meant by security check and under which procedure it shall be performed. **SE:** scrutiny reservation; no system of security check for the legal advisor in Sweden; this should be left to national law.

3. The legal adviser ~~or other counsellor~~ who assists or represents an applicant shall have access to closed areas, such as detention facilities and transit zones, ~~for the purpose of consulting that applicant,~~ in accordance with Directive XXX/XXX/EU (Reception Conditions Directive)¹²².
4. ~~An applicant shall be allowed to bring to a personal interview a legal adviser or other counsellor admitted or permitted as such under national law. The legal adviser or other counsellor shall be authorised to intervene during the personal interview.~~
5. ~~The determining authority may require the presence of the applicant at the personal interview, even if he or she is represented under the terms of national law by a legal adviser or counsellor, and may require the applicant to respond in person to the questions asked.~~
6. ~~Without prejudice to Article 22(5), the absence of a legal adviser or other counsellor shall not prevent the determining authority from conducting a personal interview with the applicant.~~

Article 17

Conditions for ~~the provision of free legal assistance and representation~~¹²³

1. **Member States may allow non-governmental organisations accredited under national law to provide legal assistance free of charge in the administrative procedure or ~~Free legal assistance and representation in the appeal procedure shall be provided by legal advisers or other counsellors permitted under national law to assist or represent the applicants, or non-governmental organisations accredited under national law to provide advisory services or representation~~**¹²⁴.

¹²² **HU:** delete "*other counsellor*". **IT:** replace "*advisor*" with "*representative*".

¹²³ **BE, CZ, ES, LV:** reservation. **FR, IE, PT, SI:** scrutiny reservation. **IT** (supported by **ES**): this article is redundant, so it should be deleted; the reference to national law is included as an amendment in Art. 15. Alternatively, it could become a recital. **PL:** against such a broad legal representation at the expense of the state. **COM:** Art 15 does not cover Art 17, so it should not be deleted.

¹²⁴ **DE:** scrutiny reservation concerning the admission of NGOs. This should remain a question for the MS to decide.

2. Member States shall lay down specific procedural rules concerning the modalities for filing and processing requests for the provision of **legal assistance free of charge and of** free legal assistance and representation in relation to applications for international protection or they shall apply the existing rules for domestic claims of a similar nature, provided that those rules do not render access **to legal assistance free of charge and** to free legal assistance and representation impossible or excessively difficult.
- 2a. **Member States shall lay down specific rules concerning the exclusion of the provision of legal assistance free of charge and of free legal assistance and representation in accordance with Article 15(3) and Article 15a(2), respectively.**¹²⁵
3. Member States may also impose monetary limits or time limits on the provision of **legal assistance free of charge and of** free legal assistance and representation, provided that such limits do not arbitrarily restrict access **to legal assistance free of charge and** to free legal assistance and representation. As regards fees and other costs, the treatment of applicants shall not be less favourable than the treatment generally given to their nationals in matters pertaining to legal assistance¹²⁶.
4. Member States may request total or partial reimbursement of any costs made if and when the applicant's financial situation considerably improves or where the decision to make such costs was taken on the basis of false information supplied by the applicant¹²⁷. **For that purpose, applicants shall be required to immediately inform the competent authorities of any significant change in their financial situation.**¹²⁸

¹²⁵ **CZ:** reservation; the language is more appropriate for a Directive. National courts or quasi-judicial bodies should have the power to decide when the legal assistance should not be granted. **SE:** clarify further.

¹²⁶ **DE:** in the first sentence introduce "*or make the provision of free legal assistance and representation subject to a small contribution by the applicant*" after "*provision of free legal assistance and representation*" and "*or contributions*" after "*limits*".

¹²⁷ **DE:** clarification needed; the state should be aware that the situation has changed so that reimbursement can be requested, hence a provision should be introduced requesting the applicant to inform the state that his/her situation has changed. **IT:** new added text is irrelevant because deprived of any sanction.

¹²⁸ **SE:** second sentence should also be a "may" provision.

Article 18

~~The role of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees~~

- 1.—~~Member States shall allow the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees:~~
- (a) ~~to have access to applicants, including those in reception centres, detention, at the border and in transit zones;~~
 - (b) ~~to have access to information on individual applications for international protection, on the course of the procedure and on the decisions taken, subject to the consent of the applicant;~~
 - (c) ~~to present its views, in the exercise of its supervisory responsibilities under Article 35 of the Geneva Convention, to any competent authorities regarding individual applications for international protection at any stage of the procedure.~~
- 2.—~~Paragraph 1 shall also apply to an organisation which is working in the territory of the Member State concerned on behalf of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees pursuant to an agreement with that Member State.~~

CHAPTER II

BASIC PRINCIPLES AND GUARANTEES

SECTION IV

SPECIAL GUARANTEES

Article 1920 [former Article 19]

Applicants in need of special procedural guarantees¹²⁹

1. ~~The determining authority shall systematically assess whether an individual applicant is in need of special procedural guarantees. That assessment may be integrated into existing national procedures or into the assessment referred to in Article 21 of Directive XXX/XXX/EU (Reception Conditions Directive),² and need not take the form of an administrative procedure.~~

~~For the purpose of that assessment, the determining authority shall respect the general principles for the assessment of special procedural needs set out in Article 20.~~

2. Where applicants have been identified as applicants **being** in need of special procedural guarantees, they shall be provided with **the necessary adequate¹³⁰ support allowing that allows** them to benefit from the rights and comply with the obligations under this Regulation ~~throughout the duration of the procedure for international protection.¹³¹~~

¹²⁹ **CZ:** reservation. **BE, IT, SI:** scrutiny reservation. **NL:** too detailed if the aim is to spot only the first signs; this already happens in practice; lack of clarity as to who does what; not everybody is qualified to spot such signs (comments also valid for Art. 20).

¹³⁰ **DE:** not clear what the consequences are if the support is not provided.

¹³¹ **BE, NL:** reservation; the new proposed text is too detailed, the determining authority should be able to make a decision according to the individual case. **BE:** add "*to the extent possible*". **PL:** delete the new added text in the end because it has no added value. **EL:** more clarity needed; "*sufficient time*" entails an extension of short deadlines.

3. Where, **in exceptional cases**, that adequate **the necessary** support cannot be provided within the framework of the accelerated examination procedure referred to in Article 40 or the border procedure referred to in Article 41, ~~in particular where the determining authority considers that the applicant is in need of special procedural guarantees as a result of torture, rape or other serious forms of psychological, physical, sexual violence or gender based violence,~~ the determining authority shall not apply or shall cease to apply those procedures to the applicant.¹³²
4. ~~The Commission may specify the details and specific measures for assessing and addressing the special procedural needs of applicants, including of unaccompanied minors, by means of implementing acts. Those implementing acts shall be adopted in accordance with the examination procedure referred to in Article 58.~~

¹³² **AT:** redraft as follows: *"Where that adequate support cannot be provided within the framework of the accelerated examination procedure referred to in Article 40 or the border procedure referred to in Article 41, in cases where the determining authority considers that the applicant is in need of special procedural guarantees, it shall not apply or cease to apply those procedures to the applicant."* As an alternative the whole enumeration could stay, but after "violence" it should be added "notably victims of trafficking of human beings". **CZ:** this para could lead to abuses. **DE:** scrutiny reservation on para (3); it is not clear what happens to the procedures already concluded. **IT:** not clear which procedures are referred to in the last line.

~~General principles for the a~~Assessment of special procedural needs¹³³

- 1. The competent authorities¹³⁴ shall assess whether an applicant is in need of special procedural guarantees. That assessment may be integrated into existing national procedures and need not take the form of an administrative procedure.

¹³³ **BE, CZ, HU, SI:** reservation. **DE, SE:** scrutiny reservation. **AT:** for legal clarity this article should be deleted, as proposed RCD regulates same issues with similar wording in Art. 21 where it is most fitting. Otherwise the Legal Service should assess whether the same issues should be regulated by a Regulation and a Directive simultaneously. **NL:** too detailed, no added value compared to 19, delete it. **SI:** no added value, not much difference between 20 and 23, a single article on medical examination should be enough. **COM:** Art 20 is based on the way Articles 5 is drafted; those authorities should only take note that they spotted certain vulnerabilities and indicate this; they don't need to assess them. **FI:** current drafting leaves room for incorrect interpretation; the idea was to raise awareness for all authorities working with applicants which should keep an open ear and take measures if necessary; the text should be shorter and more clear, details should be given in the preamble instead.

¹³⁴ **CZ, RO, SK:** scrutiny reservation on para (1). **ES:** reservation on para (1). **CZ, RO:** replace with "*determining authority*" because the assessment of the need of special procedural guarantees and the identification of the relevant support should lie with the authority which responsible for handling the asylum claims.

1. **The assessment referred to in paragraph -1 shall be initiated as early as possible after an application is made by** ~~The process of identifying~~ **assessing whether an applicant presents first indications that he or she may require** ~~applicants with special procedural needs guarantees, shall be initiated by authorities responsible for receiving and registering applications as early as possible after an application~~ **soon as an application is made and shall be continued by the determining authority once the application is lodged.**¹³⁵ **The identification shall be based on visible signs or the applicant's statements or behaviour or, where applicable, statements of the parents or representative of the applicant. The competent authorities shall include information on any such first indications in the applicant's file when registering the application and they shall inform the determining authority.**¹³⁶
- 2. ~~For that purpose, [those authorities] shall verify whether the applicant presents first indications of vulnerability based on physical signs or the applicant's statements or behaviour. When registering the application, [those authorities] shall include that information in the applicant's file together with a description of those first indications.~~

¹³⁵ **DE, SK:** scrutiny reservation. **CZ:** identification should be linked to lodging. **SK:** "as soon as possible" instead of "as soon as the application is made". **HU:** 20 (1) should be read in conjunction with 20 (5); it should be stated clearly that at any given moment during the procedure special needs should be identified. **BE:** police should not register and look for vulnerabilities (also valid for para (2)); align the wording with RCD. **NL:** too detailed; replace "authorities responsible for receiving and registering applications" by "competent authority" to maintain coherence with previous para. **IT:** replace "where applicable" with "in the case of a minor". **SK:** delete "after an application is made".

¹³⁶ **DE:** scrutiny reservation; further clarification needed (e.g. if the information may also be included in electronic files or in a data system, that the lack of assessments must not lead to any substantive conclusions as to the asylum proceedings).

2. ~~The personnel of the authorities responsible for receiving and registering applications shall, when registering the application, indicate whether or not an applicant presents first indications of vulnerability which may require special procedural guarantees and may be inferred from physical signs or from the applicant's statements or behaviour.~~

~~The information shall be included in the applicant's file together with the description of the signs of vulnerability presented by the applicant that could require special procedural guarantees.~~

~~Member States shall ensure that the personnel of the authorities referred to in Article 5 is trained to detect first signs of vulnerability of applicants that could require special procedural guarantees and that it shall receive instructions for that purpose.~~

3. ~~Where there are indications that applicants may have been victim of torture, rape or of another serious form of psychological, physical, sexual or gender-based violence and that this could adversely affect their ability to participate effectively in the procedure, the determining authority shall refer the applicants to a doctor or a psychologist for further assessment of their psychological and physical state.~~

~~The result of that examination, shall be taken into account by the determining authority for deciding on the type of special procedural support which may be provided to the applicant.~~

~~That shall be without prejudice to the medical examination referred to in Article 23 and Article 24.~~

The assessment referred to in paragraph -1 shall be continued and completed by the determining authority after the application is lodged, taking into account any information ~~included~~ in the applicant's file as referred to in paragraph -21. The assessment shall be reviewed in case of any changes in the applicant's circumstances.¹³⁷

- 3a. Before completing the assessment in accordance with paragraph 3, the determining authority may, subject to his or her prior consent, refer the applicant to the appropriate medical practitioner or psychologist for medical and psychological advice on the applicant's need for special procedural guarantees. The result of that assessment may be taken into account by the determining authority when deciding on the type of special procedural guarantees which may be provided to the applicant.¹³⁸

Where applicable, this assessment may be integrated with the medical examination referred to in Article 23 and Article 24.¹³⁹

¹³⁷ **BE, SE:** the term "*completed*" is no adequate as it implies that a decision should be taken. **DE:** scrutiny reservation in relation to the term "*completed*" (contradiction with para (4)); add "*at the latest*" before "*by the determining authority*" to clarify that all other competent authorities can make the necessary assessments and take the necessary measures. Applicants should be informed of the reason for the assessment. If they know the reasons why an assessment is made they can provide useful information. **SK:** redraft for more clarity as follows: "*The full assessment of whether the applicant has special reception needs shall be carried out by the determining authority (alternatively authority responsible for reception) after the application is lodged.*"

¹³⁸ **NL, SE, RO:** reservation. **DE:** scrutiny reservation; delete "*Before completing the assessment in accordance with paragraph 3*" because it is superfluous; clarify why the terms „*the appropriate*“ and „*or psychologist*“ were inserted; delete "*medical*" in the last sentence if "*psychologist*" is kept. **SE:** in the first sentence add "*where necessary*" after "*may*".

¹³⁹ **ES, SE:** scrutiny reservation on para (3). **DE:** reservation on para (3). **CZ, FR:** it is not clear what is the difference between 20 (3) and 23; the medical examinations should be streamlined. **COM:** 20 (3) refers to the first indications and the need to address them. The other articles on medical examination concern the substance. Because we speak of first indications it is important to do this when the application is made. **DE:** you need special training to spot the first signs, it is not possible for the registering authorities to do that; victims of trafficking should be included. **COM:** training of authorities can be supported by EASO. **SE:** para (3) is unclear. **ES:** doubts about the medical examination.

4. The ~~responsible~~ **competent** authorities shall address the need for special procedural guarantees ~~as set out in this Article~~ even where ~~that~~ **those** needs becomes apparent at a later stage of the procedure, without having to restart the procedure for international protection.¹⁴⁰
- 4a. **The personnel of the competent authorities assessing the need for special procedural guarantees shall receive appropriate training to enable them to detect signs that an applicant may need special procedural guarantees and to address those needs when identified.**¹⁴¹
- 4b. **The Commission may, in accordance with Article 12 of Regulation XXX/XXX [EUAA Regulation], request the European Union Agency for Asylum to develop operational standards on measures for assessing and addressing the special procedural needs of applicants.**¹⁴²

Article 21

Guarantees for minors¹⁴³

1. The best interests of the child shall be a primary consideration for **the competent authorities** ~~Member States~~ when applying this Regulation.

¹⁴⁰ **IT:** "*without having to restart the procedure for international protection*" is superfluous. **COM:** the sentence is not superfluous, it answers DE question (what happens with procedures concluded without spotting vulnerabilities?); no suspensive effects because it is not an assessment on substance. **NL:** add this para and add content to (-1).

¹⁴¹ **NL:** scrutiny reservation. **SK:** reservation. **IE:** a reference could be made to the assistance of the EU Agency for Asylum in providing training modules. **BE:** restrict the staff that should be trained to the staff in charge of identifying special procedural needs. **DE:** unclear what training measures are envisaged here.

¹⁴² **DE, IE:** scrutiny reservation. **BE, CY, NL, SK:** reservation. **BE:** the implications of the implementing acts are unclear; EASO should develop common practical and concrete guidelines. **IT:** EASO work on special procedural needs could be used instead of implementing acts. **SE:** not convinced by the need of implementing acts in this regard.

¹⁴³ **BE, CZ, ES, LU:** reservation. **NL:** scrutiny reservation. **LU:** increase of administrative burden, not drawing a distinction between minors is problematic.

2. The determining authority shall provide a minor **with** the opportunity of a personal interview **where such an interview is specifically requested by the minor or by the adult responsible or representative on behalf of the minor. In the absence of such a request,** including where an application is made on his or her own behalf in accordance with Article 31(6) and Article 32(1), unless this is manifestly not in the best interests of the child,¹⁴⁴ ~~In that case,~~ the determining authority **may organise a personal interview where this is in the best interests of the child, taking into account the age and maturity of the minor** shall give reasons for the decision not to provide a minor with the opportunity of a personal interview.

Any such personal interview shall be conducted by a person who has the necessary **appropriate** knowledge of the rights and special needs of minors. ~~and if~~ **This** shall be conducted in a child-sensitive and context-appropriate manner **that takes into consideration the age, maturity and best interests of the minor child.**¹⁴⁵

¹⁴⁴ **NL, SI:** include a specific age limit; for minors below that age an interview should only be considered if the parents or guardian indicate that the child has individual reasons for applying for international protection or if determining authorities have serious reasons to think it necessary. In all other situations an interview would be unnecessarily (emotionally) burdening for minors and would in addition be very costly and time consuming for MS. **IT:** a minor shouldn't be interviewed unless there is a conflict between him/her and their parents or guardian.

¹⁴⁵ **DE, SE:** scrutiny reservation on para (2). **BE, FR, IE, IT:** reservation on para (2). **CZ:** unclear what "*opportunity*" means. **FR:** age and best interest of a minor must be taken into account, an individual interview for an 8 years old might not be a good idea. **IT:** not in line with the Convention on the rights of the child; problematic with regards to the maturity of the child. **LV:** should be flexible and act in the best interest of the child (age, etc.). **DE:** "*may*" instead of "*shall*", delete "*unless this is manifestly not in the best interests of the child*"; guarantees should focus on unaccompanied minors, the other cases should go under family asylum. **COM:** for the interview it is necessary to take into consideration the age, maturity, etc. and it needs to be compatible with national legislation. **LU:** not clear who decides on the interest of the child. **PL:** the interview creates additional stress for the minor, the evidence they give is not reliable and there is additional administrative burden.

3. The personnel of the determining authority ~~decision on the application of a minor shall be prepared by personnel of the determining authority who have the necessary~~ **shall receive appropriate training** ~~knowledge of~~ **on** the rights and special needs of minors.¹⁴⁶

Article 22

Special guarantees for unaccompanied minors¹⁴⁷

-
- ¹⁴⁶ **EL:** we take note of the explanations provided by the COM at the last meeting of the WP, but we insist that there should be a more appropriate wording reflecting the obligation of adequate training and expertise. The present wording seems to imply an obligation of specialized category of personnel (which was actually a "*may provision*" in the APD). **IT:** reservation, it seems to suggest that special personnel should be in charge of the drafting of the decision. **COM:** 21 (3) is taken from RCD where it concerned unaccompanied minors and APR extends this; special needs knowledge will be needed among the staff. **EL:** "*may*" provision in RCD. **COM:** 21 (3) extends an obligation, does not create a new one.
- ¹⁴⁷ **BE, ES, LU:** reservation. **FR, DE, IT, SE:** scrutiny reservation. **SE:** less detailed provisions would be preferable. **FR:** general comment regarding the guardianship system: a distinction should be drawn between the tasks of a person who should safeguard the overall integrity and well-being of the applicant rapidly after the claim is made but should not have the capacity to act legally on behalf of the minor; and the tasks of a representative, who should compensate for the lack of legal capacity of the minor, but whose designation would necessary take more time as it implies judicial procedures. It should also be clarified that, when an unaccompanied minor has no legal capacity according to the national law of the Member State where he or she intends to make his or her application, the representative should be appointed before the registration of the claim. This proposal aims at replacing "*temporary representative*" with "*a person responsible for safeguarding the general well-being of the applicant*". This person would among others ensure that the applicant is provided with the relevant information on the asylum procedure and on his/her rights and obligations; this person would however have no legal capacity and would not represent the applicant within Dublin and asylum procedures. It is impossible within 48hrs to designate a representative with legal capacity, even if only a temporary one. In any case, a representative can only be designated after the age was assessed (if there are doubts in that regard), whereas the person responsible for ensuring the general well-being of the applicant may be designated as soon as the claim is made. Indeed, designating a representative to a person who might be an adult would equate to deny this person legal capacity, which would contravene his or her fundamental rights.

-1. The competent authorities shall ensure that unaccompanied minors are represented and assisted in such a way so as to enable them to benefit from the rights and comply with the obligations under this Regulation, Regulation (EU) No XXXX/XXXX [Dublin Regulation] and Regulation (EU) No XXXX/XXXX [Eurodac Regulation].¹⁴⁸

1. ~~The responsible~~ **Where** an application is made by a person who claims to be a minor¹⁴⁹, or in relation to whom there are objective grounds¹⁵⁰ to believe that he or she is a minor, the competent authorities shall, ~~as soon as possible and not later than five working days from the moment when an unaccompanied minor makes an application, appoint a person or an organisation as a guardian.~~ **designate:**

(a) a person who is suitable to assist him or her until a representative is designated;

(b) a representative as soon as possible but not later than fifteen working days from when the application is made.¹⁵¹

¹⁴⁸ **NL:** scrutiny reservation on the reference to Dublin and Eurodac. **AT,** supported by **CZ:** add an explicit reference to Brussels IIA as in Art 23 RCD to clarify the strict distinction between the scope of the “Brussels IIA” Regulation and the ambit of the CEAS instruments.

DE: clarify if the youth welfare offices are included in the competent authorities.

¹⁴⁹ **SK:** reservation, not acceptable for a minor to make an application on his/her own. **FR:** add "*and without prejudice to situations where the applicant is found to be a minor after the application is lodged*" after "*paragraph -1*".

¹⁵⁰ **EL:** the notion of "*objective grounds*" should be clarified further as it seems to indicate the is practically a certainty that someone is a minor; in Art. 24 the wording is "*relevant indications*"

¹⁵¹ **AT, DE:** fifteen days is too short. **IT:** "*as soon as possible*" instead of "*fifteen working days*". **SE:** no support for the idea of a temporary representative - administrative and financial burden; instead a representative should be appointed as soon as possible and until then MS should be obliged to ensure that the child has sufficient support to benefit from the rights and comply with the obligations under this regulation. **CZ:** delete the 15 days (consistency with RCD). **FR:** replace this para with the following text: "*Where the age needs to be assessed in accordance with article 24, no representative shall be designated prior to the positive outcome of this assessment. The tasks of the person mentioned in point (a) and of the representative may be carried out by the same person.*"

In case of a disproportionate number of simultaneous applications made by unaccompanied minors, the time limit for designating a representative may be extended by ten working days.

This paragraph shall not apply where an application is made by a person who claims to be a minor but who is evidently above the age of eighteen years.

The duties of the representative shall cease when it is considered that the applicant is not a minor, or is no longer an unaccompanied minor.¹⁵²

- 1a. Where an organisation is ~~appointed~~ **designated** as a representative, it shall designate a **natural** person ~~responsible~~ for carrying out the ~~duties~~ **tasks of a representative** of a guardian.¹⁵³
- 1b. The representative provided for in paragraph 1 of this Article may be the same as **that provided for in Article 23 of Directive (EU) No XXXX /XXXX [Reception Conditions Directive].**¹⁵⁴
- 1c. The ~~determining~~ **competent** authorities shall **immediately**:
- (a) inform the unaccompanied minor ~~immediately of the appointment of his or her guardian~~, in a child-friendly manner and in a language he or she can reasonably be expected to understand, of the designation of **the person suitable to assist him or her and of his or her representative and about how to lodge a complaint against the representative in confidence and safety.**¹⁵⁵

¹⁵² **DE:** scrutiny reservation.

¹⁵³ **FR:** replace "*temporary representative*" with "*responsible for safeguarding the general well-being of the applicant*".

¹⁵⁴ **FR:** replace "*temporary representative*" with "*person responsible for safeguarding the general well-being of the applicant*".

¹⁵⁵ **FR:** other authorities should be allowed to inform the minor; add "*the person mentioned in point (a) of paragraph 1 and of*" after "*designation of*" and delete "*temporary representative or*". **LU:** too much administrative burden, the guardian should inform. **IE:** redraft as follows: "*...how to lodge a complaint against ~~any of them~~ the temporary representative or the representative, in confidence and safety*". **IT:** difficult to understand the added value of "*and about how to lodge a complaint against any of them in confidence and safety*".

(b) inform the determining authority that a representative has been designated for the unaccompanied minor¹⁵⁶; and

(c) inform the person assisting the unaccompanied minor and the representative of the relevant facts, procedural steps and time-limits pertaining to the application of the unaccompanied minor.

1d. The person assisting the unaccompanied minor¹⁵⁷ shall carry out the following tasks:¹⁵⁸

(a) provide him or her with relevant information in relation to the procedures provided for in this Regulation;¹⁵⁹

(b) where applicable, assist him or her in relation to the age assessment procedure referred to in Article 24;¹⁶⁰

(c) where applicable, provide him or her with the relevant information and assist him or her in relation to the procedures provided for in Regulation (EU) No XXXX/XXXX [Dublin Regulation] and Regulation (EU) No XXXX/XXXX [Eurodac Regulation].

1e. The representative shall meet the unaccompanied minor and shall carry out the following tasks:¹⁶¹

(a) where applicable, provide him or her with relevant information in relation to the procedures provided for in this Regulation;

¹⁵⁶ **FR:** add "*authority in charge of registering the claim as well as the*" and delete "*temporary representative or*".

¹⁵⁷ **IT:** meeting the unaccompanied minor is not indispensable when (1a) is applied.

¹⁵⁸ **SE:** delete (1d). **FR:** replace "*temporary representative*" with "*person mentioned in point (a) of paragraph 1*". **NL:** merge (1d) and (1e).

¹⁵⁹ **DE:** scrutiny reservation.

¹⁶⁰ **DE:** add "*and represent*" (comment also valid for point (d) and for para (1d) (a) and (d)).

¹⁶¹ **SE:** delete the first subparagraph (with points (a), (b) and (c)) of (1e). **DE:** scrutiny reservation on the changes introduced in points (a) - (d).

- (b) where applicable, assist with the age assessment procedure referred to in Article 24;
- (c) assist with the lodging of the application or lodge the application on his or her behalf in accordance with Article 32;¹⁶²
- (d) where applicable, assist with and be present for the personal interview and inform about possible consequences of the personal interview and about how to prepare for that interview;
- (e) where applicable, provide him or her with the relevant information and assist him or her in relation to the procedures provided for in Regulation (EU) No XXXX/XXXX [Dublin Regulation] and Regulation (EU) No XXXX/XXXX [Eurodac Regulation].

In the personal interview, the representative shall have an opportunity to ask questions or make comments within the framework set by the person conducting the interview.¹⁶³

2. ~~The determining authority shall inform the guardian of all relevant facts, procedural steps and time limits pertaining to the unaccompanied minor.~~

¹⁶² **SK:** scrutiny reservation. **EL:** the national legislation requires the minor to be present at the moment of lodging; exceptions could be applied only in cases of *force majeure*.

¹⁶³ **NL,** supported by **FR, PL:** reservation; this paragraph leaves no room for the determining authority to continue the procedure if the guardian fails to be present at the interview. **CY:** scrutiny reservation.

3. ~~The guardian shall, with a view to safeguarding the best interests of the child and the general well-being of the unaccompanied minor:~~
- a) ~~represent and assist the unaccompanied minor during the procedures provided for in this Regulation and~~
- b) ~~enable the unaccompanied minor to benefit from the rights and comply with the obligations under this Regulation.~~¹⁶⁴
4. The ~~guardian~~ **representative** shall perform his or her ~~duties~~ **tasks** in accordance with the principle of the best interests of the child. **A representative** shall have the necessary ~~expertise~~ **knowledge of the rights and special needs of minors**, and shall not have a verified record of child-related crimes ~~or~~ **and offences, or crimes and offences that lead to serious doubts about their ability to assume a role of responsibility with regard to minors**¹⁶⁵.
- 4a. The ~~person acting as a guardian~~ **representative** shall be changed **where necessary, in particular** only when the ~~responsible~~ **competent** authorities consider that he or she has not adequately performed his or her tasks ~~as a guardian~~. Organisations or ~~individuals~~ **natural persons** whose interests conflict or could potentially conflict with those of the unaccompanied minor shall not be ~~appointed~~ **designated** as ~~guardian~~ **representative**.
5. The ~~responsible~~ **competent** authorities shall ~~not~~ place a ~~guardian~~ **representative** in charge of a ~~disproportionate~~ **proportionate and limited** number of unaccompanied minors at the same time, ~~which would render him or her unable to ensure that he or she is able to perform his or her tasks effectively.~~¹⁶⁶

¹⁶⁴ **SE:** this is preferable to the list of tasks currently in Art. 22 (1e).

¹⁶⁵ **PL:** add "*or pose a threat to the national security*"; current drafting is too strict, it should refer only to intentional crimes. **FR:** replace "*temporary representative*" with "*person mentioned in point (a) of paragraph 1*" in paras (4), (4a), (5) and (5a). **EL:** the representative should not have a criminal record at all.

¹⁶⁶ **AT, SK:** this should be regulated at national level, delete it. **NL:** scrutiny reservation on para (5). **IE:** replace "*and*" with "*or*" and "*adequate*" with "*proportionate*"; preferable to delete this para as it refers more to operational matters which are outside the scope of APR.

- 5a. Member States shall appoint **administrative or judicial authorities or other** entities or persons responsible for the performance of guardians' tasks and for ~~to~~ supervising and monitoring at regular intervals that guardians **the representative properly** performs their his or her tasks in a satisfactory manner. Those **administrative or judicial authorities or other** entities or persons shall review complaints lodged by unaccompanied minors against ~~their guardian his or her representative~~.¹⁶⁷
6. ~~The guardian shall inform the unaccompanied minor about the meaning and possible consequences of the personal interview and, where appropriate, about how to prepare himself or herself for the personal interview. The guardian and, where applicable, a legal adviser or other counsellor as admitted or permitted as such under national law, shall be present together with the unaccompanied minor at that interview and have an opportunity to ask questions or make comments, within the framework set by the person who conducts the interview. The determining authority may require the presence of the unaccompanied minor at the personal interview, even if the guardian is present.~~

¹⁶⁷ **IT, SI:** reservation. **DE:** scrutiny reservation.

SECTION V

MEDICAL EXAMINATIONS AND AGE ASSESSMENT

Article 23

Medical examination¹⁶⁸

1. Where the determining authority deems it relevant for the ~~assessment~~ **examination** of an application for international protection in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation), ~~and it shall~~ **it may**, subject to the applicant's consent, ~~it shall~~ arrange for a medical examination of the applicant concerning signs and symptoms that might indicate past persecution or serious harm.¹⁶⁹
2. The medical examination shall be carried out by qualified medical professionals. Member States may designate the medical professionals who may carry out such medical examinations. Those medical examinations **organised by the determining authority** shall be **free of charge** ~~paid for from public funds~~.¹⁷⁰
3. When no medical examination is carried out in accordance with paragraph 1, the determining authority shall inform applicants that they may, on their own initiative and at their own cost, arrange for a medical examination concerning signs and symptoms that might indicate past persecution or serious harm.¹⁷¹

¹⁶⁸ **CZ:** scrutiny reservation on the article, medical checks should be in one provision. **FR:** reservation linked to reservation on Art 20.

¹⁶⁹ **SE:** scrutiny reservation. **FR, IT, RO, SK:** "*full respect*" as in 24 (3) should appear also in 23. **BE:** replace "*might*" with "*most probably*".

¹⁷⁰ **DE:** clarify "*qualified*".

¹⁷¹ **DE:** can applicants request a medical examination?

4. The results of the medical examination ~~shall be submitted to the determining authority as soon as possible and~~ shall be assessed by the determining authority along with the other elements of the application.¹⁷²
5. An applicant's refusal to undergo a medical examination shall not prevent the determining authority from taking a decision on the application for international protection.¹⁷³

Article 24

Medical examination Age assessment of unaccompanied minors¹⁷⁴

1. **In case of doubt concerning the applicant's age, the competent authorities shall assess whether the applicant is a minor, including on the basis of statements by the applicant or other relevant indications.**¹⁷⁵

¹⁷² **NL:** scrutiny reservation.

¹⁷³ **NL:** reservation.

¹⁷⁴ **SE, SK:** scrutiny reservation. **BE:** reservation. **FR:** the suggested changes aim at making clear that, if the minority is doubted, no representative is designated for the applicant. Indeed such a provision would be contrary to the mere definition of a representative – which is linked to the lack of legal capacity of the minors – and would as such be contrary to the fundamental rights of legally capable adults. It would also unnecessarily increase the administrative burden for Member States: a representative would have to be designated as soon as the claim is made but would cease his/her duties a few days later in case the outcome of the age assessment is negative; bearing in mind that representatives are a scarce resource, it would be wiser to focus them on applicants whose minority is undoubted. In the meanwhile, the applicant would receive the help of a person responsible for safeguarding their general well-being (see above, “Legal representation and assistance of unaccompanied minors”) and would benefit from adapted material reception conditions, as provided for in the RCD.

¹⁷⁵ **NL:** scrutiny reservation. **SE:** delete "*including on the basis of statements by the applicant or other relevant indications*" as it is also mentioned in the next subpara. **FR:** add "*and to determine whether the applicant is in need of a representative*" after "*doubts*". **DE:** does Art. 24 leave MS the choice if the age assessment is concluded through a legal act on its own or if it is just preliminary finding for the application of provisions concerning minors? If the age assessment is a legal act on its own it can be subject to judicial review. Otherwise the age assessment can only be subject to judicial review as part of other measures. Is there an assumption that an age assessment cannot be made before a temporary representative or a representative have been designated? Does the age assessment pose a separate administrative decision? Can age assessments be reviewed by the courts?

Medical examinations may **shall** be used **as a measure of last resort** to ~~determine~~ assess the age of ~~unaccompanied minors within the framework of the examination of an application an~~ **applicant**¹⁷⁶ where, following statements by the applicant or other relevant indications including a psychosocial assessment, there are **still** doubts as to whether or not the applicant is ~~under the age of 18~~ **a minor**.

Where the ~~result of the medical examination is not~~ **outcome of the age assessment referred to in this paragraph is not sufficiently** conclusive, ~~or includes an age range below 18 years,~~ **Member States the competent authorities** shall assume that the applicant is a minor.¹⁷⁷

2. ~~The medical examination to determine the age of unaccompanied minors shall not be carried out without their consent or the consent of their guardians.~~
3. Any medical examination¹⁷⁸ shall be **the least invasive possible and be** performed with full respect for the individual's dignity, ~~shall be the least invasive examination and. That~~ **examination** shall be carried out by qualified medical professionals allowing for the most reliable result possible.¹⁷⁹

¹⁷⁶ **SK:** "*unaccompanied minor*" is preferable instead of "*applicant*" in this subpara.

¹⁷⁷ **SE:** scrutiny reservation.

¹⁷⁸ **AT, NL, SK:** replace "*shall be the least invasive examination*" with "*causing no physical harm*"; „*least invasive*“ should be determined either in the operative part of the proposal or in a recital. **DE:** clarify at least in a recital that genital examination is excluded.

¹⁷⁹ **NL:** scrutiny reservation.

4. Where medical examinations are used to ~~determine the age of unaccompanied minors~~, **assess the age of an applicant**, the ~~determining competent~~ authority shall ensure that ~~unaccompanied minors applicants~~ are informed, prior to the examination of their application for international protection, and in a language that they understand or are reasonably ~~meant~~ **supposed**¹⁸⁰ to understand, of the possibility that their age be ~~determined~~ assessed by medical examination. This shall include information on the method of examination and possible consequences which the result of the medical examination may have for the examination of the application, as well as on the possibility and consequences of a refusal on ~~their part of the unaccompanied minor, or of his or her guardian~~, to undergo the medical examination.¹⁸¹

4a. A medical examination to assess the age of an applicant shall only be carried out where the applicant consents after having received the information provided for in paragraph 4¹⁸².

¹⁸⁰ **IT**, supported by **EL**: replace "*are reasonably meant*" with "*can reasonably be expected*" to align with Art. 22 (1c) (a).

¹⁸¹ **FR**: add "*or of the person mentioned in point (a) of paragraph 1 of Article 22 or his or her representative*" after "*their part*". **DE**: what information is envisaged in the last sentence?

¹⁸² **PT**: reservation. **IE**: prefers an adapted drafting of the original COM proposal: "*shall not be carried out without their consent or the consent of their temporary representative or representative*". **SE**: add "*only*" before "*be carried out*" - it would clarify that a medical examination can only be made with consent of the applicant. It should not be read as an obligation for the authorities to carry out an examination. **FR**: delete "*in consultation with*" and add "*or, when national law so provides, the person mentioned in point (a) of paragraph 1 of Article 22 or*" after "*applicant*", delete "*temporary representative or*".

5. The refusal by ~~the unaccompanied minors or their guardians~~ **an applicant** to ~~carry out~~ **undergo** ~~the a~~ **a** medical examination **for the assessment of his or her age** ~~may only be~~ considered as a ~~rebuttable presumption that the applicant is not a minor and~~ it shall not prevent the determining authority from taking a decision on the application for international protection. **Such refusal may only be considered as a rebuttable presumption that the applicant is not a minor.**¹⁸³
6. ~~A Member State~~ **The competent authorities may** ~~shall~~¹⁸⁴ **take into account** ~~recognise~~ age assessments ~~decisions taken~~ **made** by **competent authorities in** other Member States on the basis of a medical examination carried out in accordance with this Article and **when** based on methods which are recognised under its national law.¹⁸⁵

¹⁸³ **BE:** scrutiny reservation, link with Dublin not clear. **IT:** replace "to carry out" with "to undergo". **IT:** "may only" means "shall". **NL:** delete "only". **SE:** the applicant needs to consent for a physical examination to be conducted. To link a lack of consent to a presumption against the applicant's claimed age may put into question the possibility to refuse to consent. The burden of proof to demonstrate an age lies on the applicant. A medical examination may only be initiated when the applicant has not fulfilled this burden in other ways. As such, the lack of a medical examination will never be the sole reason behind a decision to reject an applicant's claimed age. Hence, replace the last sentence with the following text: "*The decision to reject an application for international protection by an unaccompanied minor who refused to undergo a medical examination shall not be based solely on that refusal.*"

¹⁸⁴ **AT:** "may" instead of "shall"; as European (medical) standards on age assessment are missing, "may" is appropriate.

¹⁸⁵ **BE, DE, FR, SK:** scrutiny reservation. **PT:** reservation. **CZ,** supported by **SK:** "age assessment conclusion" instead of "age assessment decision".

CHAPTER III

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE

SECTION I

ACCESS TO THE PROCEDURE¹⁸⁶

Article 25

Making an application for international protection¹⁸⁷

1. An application for international protection shall be **considered as made in a Member State** when a third-country national or stateless person expresses a wish **to receive** ~~for~~ international protection to:¹⁸⁸
 - (a) ~~officials~~ **personnel** of the determining authority, **of the police, of the immigration authorities, of the authorities responsible for detention facilities or of the border guards of that Member State;**¹⁸⁹

¹⁸⁶ **DE:** what are the legal consequences if MS fail to meet the deadlines in this Section?

¹⁸⁷ **CY, SE:** scrutiny reservation. **ES:** reservation. **HU:** reservation; no support for this Art.; definitions need to be clarified; see comments on Art. 5. **LV,** supported by **RO:** important to keep the possibility of making, lodging and registering an application at the same time; this should be stated clearly. **SK:** will MS be able to have all three stages of the procedure at the same time? **COM:** the three stages can take place at the same time.

¹⁸⁸ **IT:** "*a need for international protection*" instead of "*a wish to receive*" (it is the need which must objectively count not the wish).

¹⁸⁹ **IT, SE:** scrutiny reservation. **SK:** reservation; no support for the obligation of the determining authority (immigration authorities) to receive a wish of the third-country national or stateless person for international protection (make an application). **CZ:** redraft as follows: "*personnel of the determining authority, of the police, of the immigration authorities in relation to return or of the border guards of that Member State*". **NL:** clarify that it refers only to the competent personnel; align wording with Art. 5 (3). **SE:** there should be no reference to "*officials*" or "*personnel*".

- (b) ~~or other authorities~~ experts deployed by the European Union Agency for Asylum or personnel of authorities of other Member States as referred to in Article 5a (2) and (3) and (4).¹⁹⁰

~~Where those officials have doubt as to whether a certain declaration is to be construed as an application, they shall ask the person expressly whether he or she wishes to receive international protection.~~

1a. The authorities receiving an application for international protection shall inform the authorities responsible for the reception conditions pursuant to Directive XXX/XXX/EU (Reception Conditions Directive) of that application.

2. ~~Where a third-country national or stateless person makes an application for international protection, he or she shall be considered as an applicant for international protection until a final decision is taken on that application.~~

¹⁹⁰ **DE, PT:** scrutiny reservation on para (1). **BE:** reservation on para (1). **EL:** reservation related to Art. 5; in addition to the "*wish for international protection*" add a reference to the expression of fear of return to the country of origin or a third country. **SE:** delete point (b) and replace with the following text: "*If an application is made to an authority which is not responsible for the registration of the application, the authority shall refer the applicant to the right authority without undue delay.*" **AT:** redraft para (1) as follows in order to avoid legal uncertainties in practice and disproportionate administrative burden: "*When a third-country national or stateless person wants to be granted international protection, An application for international protection shall be made* ~~*when a third-country national or stateless person expresses a wish for international protection*~~ to officials of the determining authority or other authorities referred to in Article 5(3) or (4)." **IT,** supported by **PL:** replace "wish" (too subjective) with "need".

Article 26

Tasks of the responsible authorities when an application is made

1. ~~The authorities responsible for receiving and registering applications shall:~~
 - (a) ~~inform the applicants of their rights and obligations set out, in particular, in Articles 27, 28 and 31 as regards the registration and lodging of applications, Article 7 as regards the obligations of applicants and consequences of non-compliance with such obligations, Article 9 as regards the right of applicants to remain on the territory of the Member State responsible, and Article 8 as regards the general guarantees for applicants;~~
 - (b) ~~register the application in accordance with Article 27;~~
 - (c) ~~upon registration, inform the applicant as to where and how an application for international protection is to be lodged;~~
 - (d) ~~inform the authorities responsible for the reception conditions pursuant to Directive XXX/XXX/EU (Reception Conditions Directive) of the application.~~
2. ~~The Commission may specify the content of the information to be provided to applicants when an application is made by means of implementing acts. Those implementing acts shall be adopted in accordance with the examination procedure referred to in Article 58.~~

Registering applications for international protection¹⁹¹

1. The authorities ~~responsible for receiving and registering applications for international protection~~ **entrusted with registering applications or experts assisting them with that task** shall register an application promptly, and not later than three working days from when it is made. ~~They shall register also~~ **For that purpose they shall register** the following information:¹⁹²
- (a) the name, date and place of birth, ~~gender~~ sex, nationality, **family members** and other personal details of the applicant;¹⁹³
 - (b) **where available**, the type and number of any identity or travel document of the applicant **and the country that issued that document, as well as other civil documents of the applicant**;¹⁹⁴

¹⁹¹ **AT, CY, DE, LV, SE, SK:** scrutiny reservation. **SI:** reservation. **DE:** what is the relation with Eurodac Regulation, what are the legal consequences if an application is made but is not formally lodged later? Is it up to MS to specify the files they wish to store this information in? **FR,** supported by **BE, DE, IT, NL, SK:** fingerprints and facial image should be part of the required information; it should be clearly stated when the fingerprints should be taken; there could be a long period between registering and lodging and fingerprints could help prevent secondary movements; the consequences in case a person refuses to give his/her fingerprints should also be stated.

¹⁹² **DE:** scrutiny reservation. Would this Article allow the authorities, when registering a request pursuant to Article 26 (1), to collect data for other purposes at the same time, for instance for our Central Register of Foreigners? **EL,** supported by **ES, MT:** deadline too short. **IE:** "responsible" instead of "entrusted with".

¹⁹³ **NL:** reservation, keep "other personal details". **DE:** it should also include fingerprints and photographs. This information is very important for verifying identity. Fingerprints should therefore be taken at the time of registration rather than when the application is lodged.

¹⁹⁴ **NL:** reservation.

- (ba) the date of the application, place where the application was made and the authority to which the application was made;
- (bb) where applicable, the applicant's place of residence or address and a telephone number and an e-mail address where he or she may be reached;¹⁹⁵
- (bc) biometric data as provided for in Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Eurodac Regulation).**

~~Where the data referred to in points (a) and (b) has already been obtained by the Member States before the application is made, it shall not to be requested again.~~

1a. Where an application is made to one of the competent authorities referred to in Article 25(1)(a) but which is not entrusted with the task of registering applications, that authority shall inform one of the authorities competent for registering applications which shall then register the application within six working days from when the application is made.

2. Where **the application is registered by the determining authority, it may at the same time collect information necessary for purpose of the examination of the application other than the information listed in paragraph 1** ~~is collected by the determining authority or by another authority assisting it for the purpose of examining the application, additional data necessary for the examination of the application may also be collected at the time of registration.~~¹⁹⁶

¹⁹⁵ **IE:** delete "*where applicable*".

¹⁹⁶ **LV:** reservation, other competent institutions should be able to acquire information other than what is listed in para (1).

3. Where simultaneous applications for international protection by a disproportionate number of third-country nationals or stateless persons make it difficult in practice to register applications within **the deadlines provided for in paragraphs 1 and 1a** ~~three working days from when the application is made, the authorities of the Member State may extend that time limit to **the application shall be registered within**~~ ten working days.¹⁹⁷
4. The ~~responsible~~ **competent** authorities shall store each set of data referred to in paragraph 1 and any other relevant data collected under paragraph 2, for ten years from the date of a final decision. The data shall be erased upon expiry of that period or where it is related to a person who has acquired citizenship of any Member State before expiry of that period as soon as the Member State becomes aware that the person concerned has acquired such citizenship.¹⁹⁸

¹⁹⁷ **AT:** the wording "*disproportionate number of third-country nationals or stateless persons*" is not sufficiently defined and should be clarified by adding a ratio, e.g. consisting of the member state's population figure and the number of applicants for international protection. It should be linked to the ratio in the new Dublin Regulation. **DE:** clarification needed - which authorities are able to extend the time limit? **EL, ES:** deadline too short. **EL:** the deadline should be adapted when it is not possible to keep it. **IT:** "*disproportionate number*" is not determined.

¹⁹⁸ **EL, SK:** reservation. **EL:** storage period too long. **IT:** a decision is final after the expiry date for appeal or after a decision by the judiciary on appeal. At national level, there is no obligation to notify to the determining authority the ending date of an appeal procedure. Therefore, it is difficult to get to know when a ten year period starts to elapse. **LV:** ten years is too short (comment also valid for Art. 28 (6)); MS should be allowed to define the time limits for storage of data on a national level, or to suggest adding words "*at least*" before phrase "*for ten years*". **SE,** supported by **LT, NL:** replace para (4) with the following text: "*4. Member States shall provide for legislation on storage of data referred to in this article. The data shall be stored for at least ten years from the date of the final decision.*" - see comments on Art. 13 (7); alternatively a general article regarding storage with reference to national legislation may be added to chapter six. **FI, LT, SK, SI:** this should be regulated at national level. **BE:** reservation; storage period too short (in case of subsequent application or of family members that arrive later on the territory); should be regulated at national level.

Article 28

Lodging of an application for international protection¹⁹⁹

1. The applicant shall lodge the application **as soon as possible and no later than fifteen** ~~within~~ ~~ten~~ working days from ~~the date~~ when the application is registered provided that he or she is given an effective opportunity to do so ~~within that time-limit~~ **in accordance with this Article.**²⁰⁰

- 1a. The applicant shall lodge the application for international protection in person. The application shall be lodged at a designated time and place which shall be communicated to the applicant by the competent authorities. This does not exclude the possibility that the application may be made, registered and lodged at the same time.**

By way of derogation, Member States may provide for the possibility for the applicant to lodge an application by means of a form. The application shall be considered to have been lodged provided that the applicant submits the application within the time-limit set out in paragraph 1. In such cases, the time-limit for the examination of the application shall start to run from when the application reaches the determining authority.

2. The authority responsible for receiving and registering applications for international protection shall give the applicant an effective opportunity to lodge an application within the time-limit established in paragraph 1.

¹⁹⁹ **AT, CZ, ES, FI, SE, SK:** scrutiny reservation. **BE:** reservation; 15 days too short, 10 years too short. **LV:** reservation, other authorities should also be able to lodge an application. **DE:** what are the consequences if the deadlines are not met? **IT:** deadlines too short.

²⁰⁰ **AT:** 21 instead of 10 working days. **EL:** reservation, deadline too short. **IT:** delete this para. **PL:** lodging should be done "*as soon as possible*". **ES:** deadline too short. **BE:** no deadline, "*as soon as possible*" instead (comment also valid for para (3)). **DE:** how are persons who are bedridden or in custody supposed to meet this requirement?

3. Where there is a disproportionate number of third-country nationals or stateless persons that apply simultaneously for international protection, making it difficult in practice to ~~enable the application to be lodged~~ **give the applicant an appointment** within the **that** time-limit established in paragraph 1, ~~the responsible authority shall give the applicant an effective opportunity to lodge~~ **shall be given an appointment** to lodge his or her application **at a date** not later than ~~one~~ **two** months from ~~the date~~ when the application is registered.²⁰¹
4. When lodging an application, applicants are required to submit all the elements **at their disposal** referred to in Article 4(2+) of Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation) needed for substantiating their application. ~~Following~~ **After** the lodging of their application, applicants shall be ~~authorised~~ **allowed** to submit any additional elements relevant for its examination until a decision under the administrative procedure is taken ~~on the application~~.²⁰²

~~The authority responsible for receiving and registering applications for international protection shall inform the applicant that after the decision is taken on the application he or she may bring forward only new elements which are relevant for the examination of his or her application and which he or she could not have been aware of at an earlier stage or which relate to changes to his or her situation.~~²⁰³

²⁰¹ **AT:** two months instead of one month; regarding "*disproportionate*", see comment for Art. 27 (3). **EL:** reservation, deadline too short, use the following wording instead: "*whenever this is possible and under priority*". **ES:** deadline too short.

²⁰² **NL:** reservation; more flexible wording should be used as to when the applicant is required to submit the elements to substantiate the application: "*Applicants are required to submit all the elements referred to in Article 4(1) of Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation) needed for substantiating their application as soon as possible. They shall be authorised to submit any additional elements relevant for its examination until a decision under the administrative procedure is taken on the application.*"

²⁰³ **DE:** why has this para been deleted?

5. ~~The applications for international protection shall be lodged in person and at a designated place. For that purpose, when the application is registered, the applicant shall be given an appointment with the authorities competent for the lodging of the application.~~
6. The ~~responsible~~ **competent** authorities shall store the data referred to in paragraph 4 for ten years from the date of a final decision. The data shall be erased upon expiry of that period or where it is related to a person who has acquired citizenship of any Member State before expiry of that period as soon as the Member State becomes aware that the person concerned has acquired such citizenship.²⁰⁴

²⁰⁴ **DE, FR:** scrutiny reservation. **SK, SI:** reservation. **EL:** reservation; storage period too long. **HU:** determining the time of storing the recording or the transcript should be a national competence, not an EU competence. **SE:** replace para (4) with the following text "6. *Member States shall provide for legislation on storage of data referred to in this article. The data shall be stored for at least ten years from the date of the final decision.*" - see comments on Art. 13 (7) and 27 (4). **LV, NL:** deadline too short. **BE, DE, ES, FI, FR, IE, LV, NL, SK, SI:** should be regulated at national level.

Article 29

Documents for the applicant²⁰⁵

1. The **competent** authorities of the Member State where an application for international protection is made shall upon registration, **in accordance with national law**, provide the applicant with a document certifying, in particular, **indicating** that an application has been made and stating that the applicant may remain on the territory of that Member State for the purposes of lodging his or her application as provided for in this Regulation.²⁰⁶

²⁰⁵ **CZ, DE, ES, IE, IT, LV, PT, SE, SK:** scrutiny reservation. **LV:** doubts as regards the necessity to establish two different documents for asylum seekers during the procedure; additional financial and administrative burden will be created with no tangible added value, especially as it is not clear at the moment what the format and content of those documents will be. The system of two different documents might be kept if it is defined as an option for those MS who opt for separating stages of registering an application and lodging an application. According to such reasoning, if there was just one stage, only one document would be needed. **PL:** add a provision, which would enable to cover the minors by the document issued to the applicant, if he wishes to do so. **NL:** it should be explicitly stated that this is necessary only when the three phases do not coincide or when the applicant remains within the reach of the competent authorities. **SK:** do accompanied minors under 15 need their own document? too much information to be included in such a document.

²⁰⁶ **AT:** delete para (1); alternatively add "*if necessary*" or "*if no document is issued according to para (2)*". **CZ:** "*after*" instead of "*when*"; add "*where necessary*" in the end; the document should not be issued upon registration and no document should be issued for a person in detention. **HU:** such a document could be misused; unclear what kind of document should be issued. **IT:** replace "*may*" with "*is allowed*". **BE:** state clearly that such a document should be valid only until lodging.

2. The **competent** authorities of the Member State where the application is lodged shall, within ~~three~~ **seven** working days ~~of from~~ the lodging of the application, ~~provide the applicant with~~ issue a document **for each applicant. That document shall not be considered to be an identity document. It shall include the following details, which shall be updated as necessary in his or her own name:**²⁰⁷
- (a) **the name, date and place of birth, sex, nationality**, stating the identity of the applicant by including ~~at least the data referred to in Article 267(1)(a) and (b), verified and updated where necessary, as well as a facial image of the applicant, and~~ signature, ~~current place of residence and the date of lodging of the application;~~²⁰⁸
 - (b) ~~stating~~ the issuing authority, date and place of issue and period of validity of the document;
 - (c) ~~certifying~~ the status of the individual as an applicant;
 - (d) ~~stating that the applicant has the right to remain on the territory of that Member State and indicating whether the applicant is free to move within all or part of the territory of that Member State;~~
 - (e) stating that the document is not a valid travel document ~~and indicating that the applicant is not allowed to travel without authorisation to the territory of other Member States until the procedure for the determination of the Member State responsible for the examination of the application in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation) has taken place;~~

²⁰⁷ **HU:** no relevant information is mentioned (e.g. address, other information, date of lodging of the application); unclear why two different documents are needed. **RO:** add "*and/or decision authorities*". **SE:** no deadline, "*as soon as possible*" instead. **SK:** add one more point in this paragraph which would enable MS to set out additional information which the document shall contain. MS should not be obliged to issue a separate document for an accompanied minor. In such a case, the accompanied minor would be registered in the parent's (adult responsible for him) document as an applicant.

²⁰⁸ **PL:** reservation, too many details to be included in the document. **SE:** add "*if applicable the applicant's case number*". **SK:** no need to issue such a document when the applicant is in prison either.

(f) ~~stating whether the applicant has permission to take up gainful employment.~~

2a. **The documents referred to in paragraphs 1 and 2 do not have to be issued when and for as long as the applicant is in detention and during the examination of an application for international protection made at the border.**²⁰⁹

3. ~~Where, following a procedure of determination~~ **transfer** in accordance with **Article 20(1)(a)** of Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation), ~~another Member State is designated as responsible for the examination of the application,~~ the authorities of ~~that~~ **the** Member State **responsible** shall ~~provide the applicant with~~ **issue** a document referred to in paragraph 2 within ~~three~~ **seven** working days from ~~the transfer of the~~ **when** the applicant ~~to that~~ **reports to the competent authorities of the Member State responsible.**²¹⁰

²⁰⁹ **IT:** scrutiny reservation. **MT:** add "*or is serving a custodial sentence*" after "*detention*".

RO: clarify if it includes administrative detention.

²¹⁰ **CZ:** scrutiny reservation. **EL:** unclear what the starting point is for the deadline - the transfer date or the date of the lodging of the application to that MS? In these Dublin cases the document should also be issued after lodging the application in the responsible MS. **FR:** further clarification necessary for better coherence with Art. 20 (1) of the Dublin Regulation (it should be clearly stated that only applicants are concerned by Art. 29 (3) APR, the other categories mentioned by Art. 20 (1) Dublin are excluded). Moreover, a difference should be made between Art. 10 (1) (a) and (b) of Dublin. Hence, delete para (3) or redraft as follows: "*à condition que le demandeur reste à la disposition des autorités compétentes pour délivrer un tel document, faute de quoi la demande sera considérée implicitement retirée*" (comment received in FR). **DE:** what happens if the deadline is exceeded? **PRES:** in any case as this is an obligation of the authority, the document needs to be issued in three days. **NL:** if the applicant has received a final negative decision in the responsible MS and he has no intention to make a new application, a document is not needed.

4. The document referred to in paragraph 2 shall be valid for ~~a period of up to six~~ **twelve** months **or until the applicant is transferred to another Member State in accordance with Regulation (EU) XXX/XXX [Dublin Regulation]. Where the document is issued by the Member State responsible the validity** ~~which shall be renewed accordingly to ensure that the validity of that document so as to~~ covers the period during which the applicant has a right to remain on the ~~its~~ territory ~~of the Member State responsible.~~²¹¹

The period of validity ~~indicated on~~ **of** the document does not constitute a right to remain ~~where that right was terminated or suspended~~ **in accordance with this Regulation.**

5. The Commission may specify the form and content of the documents to be given to the applicants at ~~registration and~~ **the** lodging by means of implementing acts. Those implementing acts shall be adopted in accordance with the examination procedure referred to in Article 58 (2).²¹²

²¹¹ **AT**, supported by **BE, IE, NL**: redraft as follows: "*The document referred to in paragraph 2 shall be valid for a period of six months which shall be renewed accordingly to ensure that the validity of that document covers the period during which as long as the applicant has a right to remain on the territory of the Member State responsible*". - this duration coincides with the duration of procedures until applicant obtains a legal status to stay or has to leave. Delete "*indicated on the document*" in the second sub-para. **DE**: could this period exceed the maximum validity period of six months? If yes, it should be ensured that – in view of the narrowly defined purpose of the document – the maximum period of validity indicated on the document does not exceed the six-month maximum also in these cases. If the transfer period should not exceed six months, the text could be amended as follows: "*... for a period not exceeding six months or, in the case of a transfer in accordance with the Dublin Regulation, only until the applicant is transferred to the responsible Member State.*"

²¹² **AT**: delete this para; details should be regulated at national level or via EUAA according to the principle of subsidiarity. **ES, PL, SI, SK**: reservation on the idea to use implementing acts to determine the form and the content of the document. **HU, ES, HR, NL, SK**: this should be regulated at national level. **BE**: not convinced of the added value of implementing acts.

Access to the procedure in detention facilities and at border crossing points²¹³

1. ~~Where there are indications that third-country nationals or stateless persons held in detention facilities or present at border crossing points, including transit zones, at external borders, may need international protection, the responsible authorities shall inform them of the possibility to apply for international protection, in particular, where:~~
 - (a) ~~it is likely that the person is an unaccompanied minor;~~
 - (b) ~~there are obvious indications that the person suffers from mental or other disorders that render him or her unable to ascertain a need for international protection;~~
 - (c) ~~the person has arrived from a specific country of origin and it is likely that he or she is in need of international protection due to a well-known situation in that third country.~~
2. **Where an applicant makes an application in detention facilities or at border crossing points, including transit zones, at external borders,** ~~the~~ **responsible competent** authorities shall make ~~the necessary~~ arrangements for interpretation services ~~to be available to~~ **the extent necessary** to facilitate access to the procedure for international protection.²¹⁴

²¹³ **CZ, IT, SI:** reservation. **DE:** add a definition of the term "border" or clarify each time if reference is made to internal or external EU borders.

²¹⁴ **CZ:** clarify "*necessary arrangements*", add "*and translation*" after "*interpretation*". **BE:** use a wording similar to Art. 8 (3).

3. Organisations and persons **accredited under national law to providing** advice and counselling shall have ~~effective~~ access to ~~third-country nationals~~ **applicants** held in detention facilities or present at border crossing points, including transit zones, at external borders. **Such access may be subject to a prior agreement with the competent authorities.**²¹⁵

Member States may impose limits to such access ~~where~~, by virtue of national law, **where** they are necessary for the security, public order or administrative management of a border crossing point, **including transit zones**, or of a detention facility, provided that access is not severely restricted or rendered impossible.²¹⁶

Article 31

Applications on behalf of an spouse, partner, accompanied minor or a dependent adult without legal capacity²¹⁷

1 (new). An accompanied minor shall have the right to lodge an application in his or her own name if he or she has the legal capacity to act in procedures according to the national law of the Member State concerned, or through an adult responsible for him or her, whether by law or by practice of the Member State concerned.

-
- ²¹⁵ **AT:** add a new first sub-para as follows: "*Member States may impose limits to the access of organisations and persons providing advice and counselling to third-country nationals held in detention facilities or present at border crossing points, including transit zones and at external borders where, they are necessary for the security, public order or administrative management of a border crossing point or of a detention facility.*" Delete "effective" and redraft the end of the current first sub-para as follows: "...including transit zones, ~~and~~ ~~at~~ external borders only in exceptional cases." (alternative: "*in concrete cases of need*"). Delete current second sub-para. **CZ:** add "*to refugees*" after "*advice*".
- ²¹⁶ **DE**, supported by **HU:** clarify why the possibility, allowed by the APD, for MS to make access dependent on an agreement with the organizations in question has been dropped; in the second sub-para add "*including transit zones*" after "*border crossing point*". **AT:** delete "*provided that access is not severely restricted or rendered impossible*".
- ²¹⁷ **IT, SK:** reservation. **AT:** delete article. **DE:** clarify if an application be lodged only for persons who have (also) requested protection and have been registered. **MT:** further clarification is also required with regard to meaning of the term "*dependent adult without legal capacity*". This reference should be kept only if it strictly refers to those cases where the person is medically impaired to lodge an application (e.g. persons with mental disability).

2 (new). Where the application is lodged on behalf of the minor, the adult responsible shall, when making his or her own application, inform the competent authorities that he or she intends to lodge an application on behalf of that minor. In that case, the application shall be lodged in accordance with Article 28.²¹⁸

3 (new). Where the adult responsible for the accompanied minor lodges the application on behalf of the minor, the minor shall be present for the lodging of the application.

4 (new). Where the adult responsible for the accompanied minor does not lodge an application on behalf of the minor and the minor does not have the legal capacity to act in procedures according to the national law of the Member State concerned, the application shall be rejected as implicitly withdrawn in accordance with Article 39. Where the minor has the legal capacity to act in procedures according to the national law of the Member State concerned, he or she shall be given the opportunity to lodge the application in his or her own name.

5 (new). An applicant who is an adult responsible shall, when making his or her own application, inform the competent authorities that he or she intends to lodge an application on behalf of a dependent adult without legal capacity under national law. In that case, the application shall be lodged in accordance with Article 28.

6 (new). Where the adult responsible for a dependent adult without legal capacity does not lodge an application on his or her behalf in accordance with Article 28, the competent authorities shall lodge an application on behalf of that dependent adult where it is considered that the dependent adult may need international protection.

²¹⁸ **DE, IE:** scrutiny reservation. **DE:** clarify which categories are meant by dependent adults without legal capacity and how the criterion of dependence is to be understood.

1. ~~An applicant may lodge an application on behalf of his or her spouse or partner in a stable and durable relationship, minors or dependent adults without legal capacity.~~
2. ~~The spouse or partner referred to in paragraph 1 shall be informed in private of the relevant procedural consequences of having the application lodged on his or her behalf and of his or her right to make a separate application for international protection. Where the spouse or partner does not consent to the lodging of an application on his or her behalf, he or she shall be given an opportunity to lodge an application in his or her own name.~~
3. ~~Where an applicant does not lodge an application on behalf of his or her spouse or partner as referred to in paragraph 1 within the ten working days referred to in Article 28(1), the spouse or partner shall be given an opportunity to lodge his or her application in his or her own name within another ten working day period starting from the expiry of the first ten working day period. Where the spouse or partner still does not lodge his or her application within these further ten working days, the application shall be rejected as abandoned in accordance with the procedure laid down in Article 39.~~
4. ~~Where an applicant does not lodge an application on behalf of his or her dependent adult as referred to in paragraph 1 within the ten working days referred to in Article 28(1), the determining authority shall lodge an application on behalf of that dependent adult if, on the basis of an individual assessment of his or her personal situation, it is of the opinion that the dependent adult may need international protection.~~

5. ~~Where a person has lodged an application on behalf of his or her spouse or partner in a stable and durable relationship or dependent adults without legal capacity, each of those persons shall be given the opportunity of a personal interview.~~
6. ~~A minor shall have the right to lodge an application in his or her own name if he or she has the legal capacity to act in procedures according to the national law of the Member State concerned, or through an adult responsible for him or her, whether by law or by practice of the Member State concerned, including his or her parents or other legal or customary caregiver, or adult family members in the case of an accompanied minor, or through a guardian in the case of an unaccompanied minor.~~
7. ~~In the case of an accompanied minor, the lodging of an application by the adult responsible for him or her as referred to in paragraph 6 shall also be considered to be the lodging of an application for international protection on behalf of the minor.~~
8. ~~Where the adult responsible for the accompanied minor does not make an application for himself or herself, the accompanied minor shall be clearly informed of the possibility and procedure for lodging an application in his or her own name at the time of the making of his or her application.~~
9. ~~Where the adult responsible for the accompanied minor does not lodge an application on behalf of the minor within the ten working days provided for in Article 28(1), the minor shall be informed of the possibility to lodge his or her application in his or her own name and given an opportunity to do so within a further ten working day period starting from the expiry of the first ten working day period if he or she has the legal capacity to act in procedures according to the national law of the Member State concerned. Where the minor does not lodge his or her application in his or her own name within these further ten working days, the application shall be rejected as abandoned in accordance with the procedure referred to in Article 39.~~

10. ~~For the purpose of taking a decision on the admissibility of an application in case of a separate application by a spouse, partner or minor pursuant to Article 36(1)(d), an application for international protection shall be subject to an initial examination as to whether there are facts relating to the situation of the spouse, partner or minor which justify a separate application.~~

~~Where there are facts relating to the situation of the spouse, partner or minor which justify a separate application, that separate application shall be further examined to take a decision on its merits. If not, that separate application shall be rejected as inadmissible, without prejudice to the proper examination of any application lodged on behalf of the spouse, partner or minor.~~

Article 32

Applications of unaccompanied minors²¹⁹

1. An unaccompanied minor shall **have the right to** lodge²²⁰ an application in his or her own name if he or she has the legal capacity to act in procedures according to the national law of the Member State concerned, or **through** his or her ~~guardian representative as referred to in Article 22~~ shall lodge it on his or her behalf.

~~The guardian shall assist and properly inform the unaccompanied minor of how and where an application is to be lodged.~~

²¹⁹ **DE, IE, SE, SK:** scrutiny reservation. **BE:** delete "legal capacity to act in procedures".

²²⁰ **SK,** supported by **CZ:** add "*make and*" before "*lodge*".

2. ~~In the case of an unaccompanied minor, the application shall be lodged not later than ten working days period for the lodging the application provided for in Article 28(1) shall only start to run from the moment a guardian~~ **the designated representative** of the unaccompanied minor is appointed and has met with him or her²²¹.

2a. ~~Where his or her guardian~~ **due to his or her negligence, the representative** does not lodge an application on behalf of the unaccompanied minor **within this time-limit, another representative shall be appointed.** ~~within those ten working days, the determining authority shall lodge an application on behalf of the unaccompanied minor if, on the basis of an individual assessment of his or her personal situation, it is of the opinion that the minor may need international protection.~~

2b. Where the representative of an unaccompanied minor lodges the application on behalf of the minor, the minor shall be present for the lodging of the application.

3. ~~The bodies referred to in Article 10 of Directive 2008/115/EC shall have the right lodge an application for international protection on behalf of an unaccompanied minor if, on the basis of an individual assessment of his or her personal situation, those bodies are of the opinion that the minor may need international protection.~~

²²¹ **LU, SK:** scrutiny reservation. **IT,** supported by **CZ, HR:** if the act of meeting a minor is referred to, there will be two (dies a quo) starting dates - which is the effective date? Delete "*and has met with him or her*". **PL,** supported by **CZ:** the time limit for representative to meet with the unaccompanied minor should be clearly defined (e.g. 5 days). The time limit for lodging an application shall start to run from the next day after the time limit to meet expired. If the application is not lodged, it should be considered as implicitly withdrawn. **SK:** the last part of the sentence will be hard to apply in practice. How will we know that the representative has met with unaccompanied minor? For various reasons, the meeting with the UAM can take place several days later from the moment the representative is designated. **DE, SE:** delete "*designated*".

SECTION II

EXAMINATION PROCEDURE

Article 33

Examination of applications

1. ~~Member States~~ **The determining authority** shall examine **and take decisions on** applications for international protection in accordance with the basic principles and guarantees set out in Chapter II.
2. ~~The determining authority shall take decisions on applications for international protection after an appropriate examination as to the admissibility or merits of an application.~~²²² The determining authority shall examine applications objectively, impartially and on an individual basis. For the purpose of examining ~~the~~ **an** application, ~~it~~ **the determining authority** shall take the following into account:
 - (a) the relevant statements and documentation presented by the applicant ~~including information on whether the applicant has been or may be subject to persecution or serious harm~~ **in accordance with Article 4(1) and (2) of Regulation No. XXX/XXX [Qualification Regulation];**

²²² **DE:** clarify the reasons for the deletion.

- (b) ~~all~~ relevant, accurate **precise** and up-to-date information relating to the situation prevailing in the country of origin of the applicant²²³ at the time of taking a decision on the application, including laws and regulations of the country of origin and the manner in which they are applied, ~~as well as any other relevant information obtained from the European Union Agency for Asylum, from the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees and relevant international human rights organisations, or from other sources;~~ obtained from relevant **and available national, Union and international sources, and where available** (e) the common analysis **on the situation in specific** of the countries of origin ~~information~~ **and the guidance notes** referred to in Article 10 of Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (~~[EU Asylum Agency Regulation]~~);
- (ca) **relevant, precise and up-to-date information relating to the situation prevailing in the third country being considered as a first country of asylum or a safe third country at the time of taking a decision on the application;**²²⁴
- (d) the individual position and personal circumstances of the applicant, ~~including factors~~ such as background, gender, age, sexual orientation and gender identity so as to assess whether, on the basis of the applicant's personal circumstances, the acts to which the applicant has been or could be exposed would amount to persecution or serious harm;²²⁵
- (e) whether the activities that the applicant was engaged in since leaving the country of origin were carried out by the applicant for the sole or main purpose of creating the necessary conditions for applying for international protection, so as to assess whether those activities would expose the applicant to persecution or serious harm if returned to that country **as referred to in Article 5 of Regulation No XXX/XXX [Qualification Regulation]**;

²²³ **AT, DE, SE:** add "*or in the third country*".

²²⁴ **HR:** reservation. **AT, RO, SE:** delete this point. **CZ:** clarify that the competent authority shall take into account the information according to this para. only in cases where the concepts of third safe countries would apply. **DE:** how does this relate to point (b)?

²²⁵ **SK:** "sex" instead of "gender".

- (f) whether the applicant could reasonably be expected to avail himself or herself of the protection of another country where he or she could assert citizenship;²²⁶
- (fa) **whether the applicant could benefit from the internal protection alternative as referred to in Article 8 of Regulation No XXX/XXX [Qualification Regulation].**
3. The personnel examining applications and taking decisions shall have sufficient knowledge of the relevant standards applicable in the field of asylum and refugee law **and shall have received adequate training including, where necessary, from the European Union Agency for Asylum.** They shall have the possibility to seek advice, whenever necessary, from experts on particular issues, such as medical, cultural, religious and child-related or gender issues. ~~Where necessary, t~~They may submit queries to the European Union Agency for Asylum in accordance with Article 9(2)(b) of Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (EU Asylum Agency Regulation).²²⁷
4. ~~Documents relevant for the examination of applications by the determining authority shall be translated, where necessary, for such examination.~~ **The determining authority shall assess which of the documents presented by the applicant are relevant for the examination of his or her application. Where necessary, the translation of those documents shall be ensured by the competent authorities. The applicant may ensure the translation, at his or her own cost, of documents, which are not identified by the determining authority as being relevant. In case of subsequent applications, the applicant shall be responsible for the translation of documents.**²²⁸

²²⁶ **DE:** scrutiny reservation; according to which provision is this aspect significant for decisions? **BE:** "*another country*" refers to a MS or to a third country? **NL:** mention also safe third countries.

²²⁷ **NL:** scrutiny reservation; delete "*including from*" add "*such as modules developed by*" after "*training*". **SE,** supported by **BE, HR:** add "*if available*" after "*advice*" because this should happen where there is such expertise available. However, it should be clarified that this does not pose an obligation for the Member States to ensure that there is such expertise available. **HU:** "*may*" provision. **RO, SE:** delete "*including from the European Union Agency for Asylum*" (staff may receive training from EUAA but it should not be mandatory).

²²⁸ **CZ:** scrutiny reservation. **AT:** delete para (4). **BE:** only the necessary passaged of the text should be translated.

5. An examination of an application for international protection may be prioritised in accordance with the basic principles and guarantees of Chapter II, in particular, where:²²⁹
- (a) the application is likely to be well-founded;
 - (b) the applicant has special reception needs within the meaning of Article 20 of Directive XXX/XXX/EU (Reception Conditions Directive), or is in need of special procedural guarantees, in particular where he or she is an unaccompanied minor.

²²⁹ **AT, CZ, PL:** delete para (5). **BE, IT, RO:** unclear how this articulates with the accelerated procedure. **SE:** "may" provision, give points (a) and (b) as examples.

Duration of the examination procedure²³⁰

1. The examination to determine the **in**admissibility of an application in accordance with Article 36(~~+~~ **1a**) shall not take longer than ~~one~~ **two** months from the lodging of an application.²³¹

The determining authority may extend that time-limit of two months by not more than a period of one month, where:

²³⁰ **SE:** scrutiny reservation. **DE:** scrutiny reservation on the extensions of the deadlines. **DE,** supported by **BE, HR, NL:** what are the legal consequences of failing to comply with the deadline? **EL:** presumably these time-limits refer only to the administrative procedure, as deadlines at appeal stage are regulated by Art. 55. **IE:** time limits unrealistic and challenging; failure to comply with time limits set out in the Regulation could leave MS open to judicial proceedings at national level; the maximum duration of 21 months provided for in the APD, which has been reduced to 15 months in this proposal, should also be reinstated. **MT:** the proposed time-limits are a cause for concern as these will place an administrative burden especially on small MS with limited resources, and on those MS that are faced by a large influx of asylum seekers. Moreover, the new time limits need to take into consideration the added burden and lengthening of the procedure as a result of the Commission's proposal to introduce free legal assistance at all stages of the procedure. **NL,** supported by **BE:** short and concrete deadlines are necessary, in order for the applicant to have a quick answer to his application, reduce reception costs and prevent misuse. However, these deadlines should not be fixed, or there should be a possibility to extend them, so that the determining authority will be able to process applications in time and meticulously, also when there is a high number of applicants. **SE,** supported by **IE:** no support for many and varying time limits. Time limits may create administrative burdens and lead to focus on cases which can be decided on within the time limits, on the cost of the most difficult cases. In any case, it is in the interest of all Member States to have as short processing times as possible, even without strict time limits. If there are time limits, it must always be some scope for exceptions for difficult cases.

²³¹ **EL:** reservation regarding the link with Dublin. **IT:** reservation in relation the prior examination of admissibility referred to in Art. 36 (1) (a) and (b). **SE:** no support for mandatory admissibility decisions in all cases which may provide for a considerable administrative burden. Also, these very short time limits may be difficult to uphold for the admissibility decisions which may be as, if not more, difficult than decisions on the merits.

- (a) a disproportionate number of third-country nationals or stateless persons simultaneously apply for international protection, making it difficult in practice to conclude the admissibility procedure within the time-limit of two months;²³² or
- (b) complex issues of fact or law are involved.

~~The time limit for such examination shall be ten working days where, in accordance with Article 3(3)(a) of Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation), the Member State of first application applies the concept of first country of asylum or safe third country referred to in Article 36(1)(a) and (b).~~²³³

The application shall not be considered as admissible where no decision on inadmissibility is taken within the time-limits set out in this provision.

- 1a. The determining authority shall conclude the accelerated examination procedure without delay and at the latest within three months from the lodging of the application. Where simultaneous applications for international protection by a disproportionate number of third-country nationals or stateless persons make it difficult in practice to conclude the accelerated examination procedure within the time-limit of three months, the determining authority may extend that period by not more than one month.**

²³² **EL:** unclear what "*simultaneously*" means; does it cover situations where the applications are made in large numbers in a steady pace but not necessarily simultaneously?

²³³ **CZ, DE:** scrutiny reservation on the deletion.

By way of exception, in the cases set out in Article 40 (1)(d) and (f), the determining authority shall conclude the accelerated examination procedure within fifteen working days.²³⁴

2. The determining authority shall ensure that an examination procedure on the merits is concluded as soon as possible and not later than six months from the lodging of the application, ~~without prejudice to an adequate and complete examination.~~²³⁵
3. The determining authority may extend that time-limit of six months by a period of not more than ~~three~~ **six** months²³⁶, where:
 - (a) a disproportionate number of third-country nationals or stateless persons simultaneously apply for international protection, making it difficult in practice to conclude the procedure within the six-month time limit;²³⁷ **or**

²³⁴ **CZ:** reservation; problematic deadline for the applications lodged by persons who are in prison, who may be removed from the territory on the basis of a criminal court decision. In these cases, there is no need for such a strict deadline. **IE:** the deadline could be challenging. **IT, NL:** scrutiny reservation regarding the time limits; when numbers of applications are very high, as was the case in 2015, it is not possible to carry out an interview within the two months term to decide if an application should be processed in an accelerated procedure. It is important that in those cases the decision can have the same effects as a decision in an accelerated procedure. It should be clarified that it is still possible to conclude the normal (non-accelerated) procedure within those time limits; therefore, the following sub-paragraph could be added: "*This is without prejudice to the possibility to conclude the examination procedures in other cases within these time limits.*". **EL:** the deadline is still problematic.

²³⁵ **DE:** does "*concluded*" mean the notification of the decision to the applicant pursuant to Art. 35 (1) of the Asylum Procedures Regulation? **EL:** extend the deadline if the examination on the merits has been preceded by an admissibility check.

²³⁶ **IE:** scrutiny reservation on para (3). **DE,** supported by **CZ:** reservation; an extension of 3 months instead of 9 as in APD does not seem sufficient to deal with as many arrivals as we experienced in autumn 2015. **HR, ES, NL:** 9 months instead of 3. **IE:** some flexibility is needed in the text of the proposal to provide for exceptional circumstances. In such a scenario, a three-month extension to the procedure would be an ineffective solution. **SK:** what will happen in situations, where the time limit for an examination procedure are not met by determining authority due to the reasons on the applicant's side?

²³⁷ **AT:** "*disproportionate number*" - unclear language.

(b) complex issues of fact or law are involved;²³⁸

(c) the applicant is responsible for the delay.

4. Where an application is subject to the procedure laid down in Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation), **and the applicant is already in the Member State responsible in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation)**, the time-limit referred to in paragraph 2, **and where applicable in paragraph 1**, shall start to run from the moment **the Member State responsible is determined. If the applicant is not in the Member State responsible, the time limit shall start to run from when the transfer is completed and the applicant reports to the competent authorities of** the Member State responsible ~~is determined in accordance with that Regulation, the applicant is on the territory of that Member State and he or she has been taken in charge in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation).~~²³⁹
5. The determining authority may postpone concluding the examination procedure where it cannot reasonably be expected to decide within the time-limits laid down in paragraphs **1a and 2** ~~and in Article 40(4) as regards the accelerated examination procedure~~ due to an uncertain situation in the country of origin which is expected to be temporary. In such cases, the determining authority shall:²⁴⁰

²³⁸ **AT:** "complex issues" - unclear language. **LU**, supported by **NL:** add a point (c) drafted as follows: "where the delay can clearly be attributed to the failure of the applicant to comply with his or her obligations" or "where the delay is clearly beyond the control of the determining authority". **DE:** another option should be added to para. 3: where it is impossible to comply with the time limit for reasons lying within the applicant's sphere.

²³⁹ **DE:** scrutiny reservation.

²⁴⁰ **IE:** scrutiny reservation on para (5). **DE:** does this provision assume a connection to nationality? Would the postponement then apply to all nationals from this country of origin? Or would it be possible with the help of additional criteria to apply the postponement only to certain groups from the same country of origin? **EL:** add "in accordance with a common approach and guidance at EU level" after "temporary". Given that there are particular difficulties on how to define as temporary an uncertain situation in a country of origin, and given that with this provision, a separate category of applicants is created as opposed to applicants of the regular procedure in which an application is examined and a decision is issued within 6 months from its lodging, we are of the opinion that this exceptional procedure should be triggered on the basis of a common approach and guidance at EU level and that the reviews referred to in this article should also be undertaken at EU level.

- (a) conduct reviews of the situation in that country of origin at least every ~~two~~ **three** months;²⁴¹
- (b) inform the applicants concerned within a reasonable time of the reasons for the postponement.²⁴²

The Member State shall inform the Commission and the European Union Agency for Asylum within a reasonable time of the postponement of procedures ~~for that country of origin~~. In any event, the determining authority shall conclude the examination procedure within 15 months from the lodging of an application.²⁴³

²⁴¹ **EL:** redraft as follows: "*(a) take into consideration ~~conduct~~ reviews of the situation in that country of origin at least every two months; these reviews will be undertaken by competent bodies at EU level.*" **BE, IE, LU, MT, NL, RO:** 6 months instead. **PL:** clarification needed on the relation between this provision and Art. 7 (4) of the Return Directive. The directive invokes the notion of "application for a legal stay". Does this notion also cover the application for international protection?

²⁴² **BE:** can the information be provided collectively to applicants in a similar situation?

²⁴³ **NL,** supported by **BE, IE, LU** and **SK:** keep the maximum term of 21 months. In many cases, if the situation in the country of origin improves, it will not be possible to examine the application and take a decision within a period of 15 months. **AT,** supported by **NL:** clarify that there are 2 possible consequences (infringement proceedings (fines) and sanctions according to national law) by adding a para (6) drafted as follows: "*The consequence of exceeding a time limit as provided in this article is subject to national legislation.*" **DE:** delete "*in any event*".

SECTION III

DECISIONS ON APPLICATIONS

Article 35

Decisions by the determining authority

1. A decision on an application for international protection shall be given in writing and it shall be notified to the applicant **in accordance with national law** without undue delay ~~in a language he or she understands or is reasonably meant to understand.~~²⁴⁴
2. Where an application is rejected as inadmissible, as unfounded with regard to refugee status or subsidiary protection status, ~~as explicitly withdrawn~~ or as ~~abandoned~~ **implicitly withdrawn**, the reasons in fact and in law shall be stated in the decision.²⁴⁵

²⁴⁴ **NL:** scrutiny reservation. **CY:** reservation. **BE, DE:** prefer the drafting of APD. **MT:** whereas the decision shall be given in writing, it is only the result of the decision that needs to be notified to the applicant in a language he or she understands or is reasonably meant to understand. Confirmation needed if the said notification can also be given orally.

²⁴⁵ **CY:** reservation. **SK,** supported by **CZ, HR:** in case of Article 38 and 39 when the application is explicitly or implicitly withdrawn and therefore it is not examined, it is more appropriate to discontinue the asylum procedure rather than reject application. This should be reflected also in this text. The paragraph would then read as follows (new text underlined): "*Where an application is rejected as inadmissible, or as unfounded with regard to refugee status or subsidiary protection status, or the examination procedure is discontinued where the application is implicitly or ~~as explicitly withdrawn or as abandoned~~, the reasons in fact and in law shall be stated in the decision. Information on how to challenge a decision refusing to grant international protection shall be given in writing, unless otherwise already provided to the applicant.*"

- 2a. **The applicant shall be informed of the result of the decision and he or she shall be given information on how to challenge a decision refusing to grant international protection shall be given in writing in a language that he or she understands or is reasonably supposed to understand when he or she is not assisted by a legal adviser, unless otherwise already provided to the applicant. Where the applicant is assisted by a legal adviser the information could be provided without being translated in a language which he or she understands or is reasonably supposed to understand.**²⁴⁶
3. In cases of applications on behalf of spouses, partners, minors or accompanied minors or dependent adults without legal capacity **under national law**, and whenever the application is based on the same grounds, the determining authority may, **following an individual assessment for each applicant**, take a single decision, covering all applicants, unless to do so would lead to the disclosure of particular circumstances of an applicant which could jeopardise his or her interests, in particular in cases involving gender, sexual orientation, gender identity or age-based persecution. In such cases, a separate decision shall be issued to the person concerned.²⁴⁷

²⁴⁶ **CY, HR, SK:** reservation. **AT:** clarify that this information can be included in the decision. **MT:** add a new para (2b) as follows: "*Where the determining authority is not able to provide in writing the information referred to in paragraph 2a in view of the particular language that an applicant understands or is reasonably supposed to understand, the information may be provided only through oral translation subject to the applicant's confirmation through oral translation that this information has been understood.*"

²⁴⁷ **SE:** add "*In all cases an individual assessment must be done for each applicant.*" because it's important to further clarify that an individual assessment must always be done.

Decision on the inadmissibility of the application²⁴⁸

1. ~~The determining authority shall assess the admissibility of an application, in accordance with the basic principles and guarantees provided for in Chapter II~~

²⁴⁸

AT, FR, IE, SE: scrutiny reservation. **CY, EL:** reservation; despite the effort to streamline procedures, the end result might be the opposite (too many procedures under Dublin and APR + appeals). **SE:** major administrative burden (assessment to be done following an interview? in written? how about appeals?). In practice, 3rd countries will have to be ready to take back the rejected persons so there will be few rejections on this ground. It should be clearly stated that an admissibility assessment only needs to be done if there are indications that there is a first country of asylum or a safe third country that the applicant could be returned to. This would limit the administrative burden but not the general applicability of the provision. **IE:** link with articles on first country of asylum or safe third country (not yet discussed), relation with Article 3 of the Dublin Regulation. **IT:** delete Article 36 for the following reasons: (1) the admissibility check of applications may result in a removal only where there is a readmission agreement in place or where a readmission agreement foresees a clause on readmission of third country nationals. Therefore, where readmission agreements or this clause are lacking, the admissibility check, even though compulsory, is useless. (2) the list of first countries of asylum and safe third countries should be European in order to ensure a uniform evaluation of admissibility cases. Art. 44 and 45 refer, instead, to national lists.

1a. **Without prejudice to Article 3 (3a) of Regulation No XXX/XXX [Dublin Regulation], the determining authority and shall may assess the admissibility of an application and** reject ~~an~~ **the** application as inadmissible where any of the following grounds applies:²⁴⁹

- (a) a country which is not a Member State is considered to be a first country of asylum for the applicant pursuant to Article 44, ~~unless it is clear that the applicant will not be admitted or~~ **provided that he or she shall be** readmitted to that country;
- (b) a country which is not a Member State is considered to be a safe third country for the applicant pursuant to Article 45, ~~unless it is clear that the applicant will not~~ **provided that he or she shall be** admitted or readmitted to that country;

²⁴⁹ **DE:** scrutiny reservation on para (2). **AT:** add a new point (c) as follows and renumber the following points: "*(c) the applicant prevents his or her return by setting actions such as absconding or using a false identity if a Member State is considered to be a first country of asylum for the applicant pursuant to Article 44 or a country which is not a Member State is considered to be a safe third country for the applicant pursuant to Article 45.*" **CZ:** reservation, "shall" clause is preferable. **NL:** it is not always possible to determine in the asylum procedure if the applicant will be admitted or readmitted to that country. Many times, this will only become apparent during the return process. It should be clarified that (a) and (b) will not be applied if it is clear beforehand (i.e. from COI or information from the applicant) that the applicant will not be admitted or readmitted. Otherwise, the determining authority may assume that he will be admitted/readmitted. Therefore, redraft as follows: "*(a) a country which is not a Member State is considered to be a first country of asylum for the applicant pursuant to Article 44, unless from country of origin information or information from the applicant it is clear beforehand that the applicant will not be admitted or readmitted to that country; (b) a country which is not a Member State is considered to be a safe third country for the applicant pursuant to Article 45, unless from country of origin information or information from the applicant it is clear beforehand that the applicant will not be admitted or readmitted to that country;" **PL:** redraft as follows: "*The determining authority shall may assess the admissibility of an application, in accordance with the basic principles and guarantees provided for in Chapter II, and ~~may~~ rejects an application as inadmissible where any of the following grounds applies: (...)*".*

- (c) ~~the application is a subsequent application where no new relevant elements or findings relating to the examination of whether the applicant qualifies as a beneficiary of international protection in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation) or relating to the inadmissibility ground previously applied, have arisen or have been presented by the applicant;~~
- (d) ~~a spouse or partner or accompanied minor lodges an application after he or she had consented to have an application lodged on his or her behalf, and there are no facts relating to the situation of the spouse, partner or minor which justify separate application.~~
2. ~~An application shall not be examined on its merits in the cases where an application is not examined in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation), including when another Member State has granted international protection to the applicant, or where an application is rejected as inadmissible in accordance with paragraph 1.~~
3. ~~Paragraph 1(a) and (b) shall not apply to a beneficiary of subsidiary protection who has been resettled under an expedited procedure in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Resettlement Regulation).~~^{250 251}
4. ~~Where after examining an application in accordance with Article 3(3)(a) of Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation), the first Member State in which the application is lodged considers it to be admissible, the provision of paragraph 1(a) and (b) need not be applied again by the Member State responsible.~~
5. Where the determining authority *prima facie* considers that an application may be rejected as manifestly unfounded, it shall not be obliged to pronounce itself on the admissibility of the application.

²⁵⁰ OJ L [...], [...], p. [...].

²⁵¹ **DE:** scrutiny reservation; clarify the reasons fro the deletion.

Decision on the merits of an application

-1. An application shall not be examined on the merits where:

(a) another Member State is responsible in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation), including when another Member State has granted international protection to the applicant;²⁵² or

(b) an application is rejected as inadmissible in accordance with Article 36(1a).²⁵³

1. When examining an application on the merits, the determining authority shall take a decision on whether the applicant qualifies as a refugee and, if not, it shall determine whether the applicant is eligible for subsidiary protection in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation).
2. The determining authority shall reject an application as unfounded where it has established that the applicant does not qualify for international protection pursuant to Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation).

²⁵² **CZ:** scrutiny reservation.

²⁵³ **SK:** reservation on para (-1). **CZ:** add a new point (c) drafted as follows: "*(c) an application is explicitly or implicitly withdrawn*". **SE:** delete para (-1).

3. The determining authority shall declare an unfounded application to be manifestly unfounded in the cases referred to in Article 40(1)(a), (b), (c), (d) and (e)²⁵⁴ **including where a decision is not taken within the time-limits referred to in Article 34 (1a). This shall not apply in the cases referred to in Article 40 (4).**

Article 38

Explicit withdrawal of applications²⁵⁵

1. An applicant may, of his or her own motion and at any time during the procedure, withdraw his or her application.²⁵⁶ **The applicant shall confirm the withdrawal in writing after he or she has been informed of the meaning and consequences of a withdrawal in a language he or she understands or is reasonably supposed to understand. In such a case, the determining authority shall terminate the examination of the application, shall enter a note to that effect in the applicant's file and shall inform the applicant that his or her application has been withdrawn.**

²⁵⁴ **DE, FR, IE, SE:** scrutiny reservation on para (3). **BE:** reservation on para (3). **SE,** supported by **DE:** rules regarding manifestly unfounded claims to be clarified since they are now a bit complicated. It must always be the merits of the claim and not the procedure used that should determine if an application is declared manifestly unfounded or not. Thus, also a case that is processed in an accelerated procedure may not be found manifestly unfounded and vice versa. Especially when it comes to the suspensive effect it must only be determined by the merits of the claim and not the procedure used. **SK:** add also reference to points (f) and (g). **PL:** clarification needed on the relation between this provision and Art. 7 (4) of the Return Directive. The directive invokes the notion of "application for a legal stay". Does this notion also cover the application for international protection?

²⁵⁵ **SK:** in case of Article 38 and 39 when the application is explicitly or implicitly withdrawn and therefore it is not examined, it is more appropriate to discontinue the asylum procedure rather than reject application.

²⁵⁶ **SE,** supported by **EL, FI, IE:** add a new subpara as follows: "*The applicant shall confirm the withdrawal in writing after he or she has been informed of the meaning and consequences of a withdrawal in a language he or she understands or is reasonably meant to understand.*"

2. Where an application is explicitly withdrawn by the applicant **at a stage when the determining authority already found that the applicant does not qualify for international protection pursuant to Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation)**, the determining authority shall take a decision to reject the application as explicitly withdrawn²⁵⁷ or as unfounded ~~where the determining authority has, at the stage that the application is explicitly withdrawn, already found that the applicant does not qualify for international protection pursuant to Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation).~~²⁵⁸

²⁵⁷ **EL:** is a decision by the determining authority necessary or could the application just be archived? **CZ, HR:** replace "reject" with "discontinue". **SE:** "dismiss or reject".

²⁵⁸ **IE,** supported by **SK:** reservation on para (2); a “decision” taken by the determining authority to reject the application suggests that there needs to be provision for an effective remedy against the decision. It should be clearly stated in the text that in a scenario where the applicant voluntarily chooses to explicitly withdraw their application there should be no right of appeal.

Implicit withdrawal of applications²⁵⁹

1. The determining authority shall reject²⁶⁰ an application as ~~abandoned~~ **implicitly withdrawn** where:²⁶¹
 - (a) ~~the applicant has~~ does not lodged his or her application in accordance with Article 28, despite having had an effective opportunity to do so;
 - (b) ~~a spouse, partner or minor has not lodged his or her application after the applicant failed to lodge the application on his or her own behalf as referred to in Article 31(3) and (8);~~

²⁵⁹ **DE, IE, IT, PT, SE:** scrutiny reservation. **BE, SI:** reservation. **HU:** the wording should be clarified - in case of withdrawal of the application, the procedure should be terminated, the application cannot be rejected.

²⁶⁰ **SE,** supported by **FI:** prefers a case being “*dismissed*”, as opposed to being “*rejected as abandoned*”. This would clarify the difference between cases that have been examined on the merits and cases that have been closed on administrative grounds. Para (1) should be redrafted as follows: “*The determining authority may discontinue the examination of an application if there is reasonable cause to consider that the applicant has implicitly withdrawn or abandoned the application where:*” **IT:** replace “*reject*” with “*consider*”. **CZ, HR:** replace “*reject*” with “*discontinue*”.

²⁶¹ **ES, FR:** reservation on para (1). **RO:** the cases provided in para (1) are mandatory and are related to the applicant’s behaviour and to the failure of respecting certain obligations, which does not necessary mean that the application is unfounded. The rejection of the application seems a sanction for not respecting certain obligations, which can not be legally justified. What if the applicant fulfils the conditions for granting international protection and at the same time finds himself in at least one of the cases stipulated in this paragraph? Therefore, replace “*shall*” with “*may*”. A possibility to consider that the application was withdrawn could also be provided (no assessment on the merits). **SE:** at this first stage the authority may discontinue the examination in order to determine whether the case should be dismissed or not at a later stage. It should also be clarified that the article is focusing on persons who no longer have an interest in having their application examined.

- (c) the applicant refuses to cooperate by not providing the necessary details for the application to be examined and **complying with any of the obligations set out in Article 7 (2) (a), (b) or (c)** by not providing his or her fingerprints and facial image pursuant to ~~Article 7(3)~~,²⁶²

(ca) the administrative procedure has already been suspended once pursuant to paragraph 1a.

1a. The determining authority shall suspend the examination of the application where:

- (~~da~~) the applicant has not appeared for a personal interview although he **or she** was required to do so pursuant to ~~Articles 10 to 12~~,²⁶³
- (~~eb~~) the applicant has, **without authorisation, left the assigned area or abandoned the specific his place of residence designated by the competent authorities of the Member State in accordance with Article 7(1) and (2) of Directive (EU) XXX/XXX (Reception Conditions Directive)**, without informing the competent authorities or ~~without authorisation as provided for in Article 7(4)~~,²⁶⁴
- (~~fc~~) the applicant has repeatedly not complied with reporting duties imposed on him or her in accordance with Article 7(35) of **Directive (EU) XXX/XXX (Reception Conditions Directive)**.²⁶⁵

²⁶² **EL, IE:** scrutiny reservation. **NL:** reservation. **IE:** difficult to accept that a persons who has not consented to having their fingerprints taken is an applicant. **EL:** considering the severity of the sanction (rejection of the application), the obligation for the applicant to provide the number of id and travel documents should be reconsidered; maybe add "*in case he or she is in possession of*" for element (b); the data that the applicant needs to provide according to Article 7 (2) (a)+27 (1) (a) and (b) needs to be clarified and detailed. **SK:** the conditions mentioned in that paragraph should not be met cumulatively; redraft as follows: "*the applicant refuses to cooperate by not providing the necessary details for the application to be examined ~~and~~ or by not providing his or her fingerprints and facial image pursuant to Article 7(3)*". **DE:** why are only certain obligations to cooperate included?

²⁶³ **DE:** scrutiny reservation on the deletion. **MT:** add "*without informing the determining authority and providing evidence that his or her failure to attend was due to circumstances beyond his or her control*". **SE:** add "*without due cause*" before "*not appeared*".

²⁶⁴ **NL:** reservation. **SE:** replace with the following: "*the applicant has abandoned his or her application*".

²⁶⁵ **SE:** delete point (f).

2. In the circumstances referred to in paragraph 1a, the determining authority shall ~~discontinue the examination of the application and send a written notice to the applicant at the place of residence or address referred to in Article 7 (4) informing him or her that the examination of his or her application has been discontinued and that the application will be definitely rejected~~ **the application** as ~~abandoned~~ **implicitly withdrawn** unless the applicant reports to the determining authority within a period of ~~one month~~ **one week** from the date **of suspension of the examination of the application** when the written notice is sent **and demonstrates that his or her failure was due to circumstances beyond his or her control.** ²⁶⁶

²⁶⁶ **FI:** scrutiny reservation. **CY, HR:** reservation. **AT,** supported by **IT:** the determining authority should not be obliged to send a written notice to the applicant. The applicant should get a similar information as proposed in the written notice when he or she makes the application as a pre-emptive measure. Hence, delete everything after "*examination of the application*" and replace with the following: "*given that the applicant has already received the information as mentioned in Art. 8 (1) lit i.*" Furthermore, add point (i) in Art. 8 as follows: "*i) The applicant's right to report to the determining authority and to demonstrate that his or her failure was due to circumstances beyond his or her control as soon as possible, if circumstances as described in Art. 39 (1) occur.*" **PL:** reservation on paras (2) - (5a) linked to administrative burden; delete this para, too complicated in practice; does the grace period of one month also apply in case of repeated absconding? **HU** (also valid for para (3), (5a), (5b)): delete the paragraph. **NL** (supported by **PL**): reservation, this provision can lead to abuse and obstruction of the admissibility procedure and the accelerated procedure as it would mean that an applicant who does not cooperate will get an extra month before the application can be rejected. It should suffice that MS make it clear right at the beginning of the procedure that it is crucial for the applicant to cooperate and what the consequences are of not cooperating. It is important that MS can reject these applications immediately, or at least within one week. **RO:** the rejection of the application based on the applicant not reporting within the term provided is not justified in this case; the application should be considered withdrawn. **SK:** the two weeks period is superfluous, mainly in cases where the applicant refuse to cooperate under point (c); it would be undue administrative burden to watch all time-limits, which will follow in this connection. Remove this period from the text. **LV:** reservation. **COM:** discontinuation exists on the basis of APD; however, the current system (application open for 9 months) does not work; Art. 39 attempts to strike a balance between the rights and the guarantees for the applicant and the need to be efficient and strict regarding the consequences. **LU:** para (2) will lead to an increased administrative burden. **EL:** reservation, two weeks is too short, it should be three months or at least one month; alternatively replace "*sent*" by "*serviced*"; the starting point for the deadline is not safe considering that a significant number of applicants might never receive the notice. **IT:** delete para (2) as information obligations are already provided for in Article 8. **MT:** delete para (2).

3. Where the applicant reports to the determining authority within ~~that one-month period~~ **the time-limit referred to in paragraph 2** and demonstrates that his or her failure was due to circumstances beyond his or her control, the determining authority shall resume the examination of the application ~~administrative procedure~~.²⁶⁷
4. ~~Where the applicant does not report to the determining authority within this one-month period and does not demonstrate that his or her failure was due to circumstances beyond his or her control, the determining authority shall consider that the application has been implicitly withdrawn.~~²⁶⁸
5. ~~Where an application is implicitly withdrawn, the determining authority shall take a decision to reject the application as abandoned or as unfounded where the determining authority has, at the stage that the application is implicitly withdrawn, already found that the applicant does not qualify for international protection pursuant to Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation).~~
- 5a. **Where the determining authority suspends the administrative procedure, the time-limits referred to in Articles 34 and 41(2) shall be suspended and shall continue to run from the moment that the applicant reports back to the determining authority.**²⁶⁹

²⁶⁷ **EL, ES, HR, LV:** reservation. **CZ, NL:** replace "and" with "or" ("*or does not demonstrate*"). **PL** (supported by **CZ**): the applicant should not have the right to resume his/her procedure more than once. **RO:** the lack of circumstances beyond the applicant's control for the failure of respecting certain obligations does not automatically imply the inexistence of a need for international protection and it should not lead to a rejection of an application only for this reason; the procedure should be resumed from where it was discontinued (comment valid for paras (3) to (5)). **SK:** scrutiny reservation, the two week period is superfluous. **EL:** "or" instead of "and"; deadline too short. **IT,** supported by **FI:** delete "*within the two-week period and demonstrates that his or her failure was due to circumstances beyond his or her control, the*", replace this part with "*this*".

²⁶⁸ **CZ, LV:** reservation. **CZ, NL:** replace "and" with "or" ("*Where the applicant does not report to the determining authority within this one-month period or does not demonstrate that...*"). **IT:** delete para (4).

²⁶⁹ **CZ:** does this mean that the time-limits start to run from zero again and again? **IT:** delete para (5a).

5b. In the cases referred to in paragraphs 1 and 2, an application may be rejected as unfounded where the determining authority has, at the stage that the application is implicitly withdrawn, already found that the applicant does not qualify for international protection pursuant to Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation).²⁷⁰

SECTION IV

SPECIAL PROCEDURES

Article 40

Accelerated examination procedure²⁷¹

1. **Without prejudice to Article 20(3),** ~~t~~The determining authority shall, in accordance with the basic principles and guarantees provided for in Chapter II, accelerate the examination on the merits of an application for international protection, in the cases where:²⁷²
 - (a) the applicant, in ~~submitting~~ **lodging** his or her application and presenting the facts, has only raised issues that are not relevant to the examination of whether he or she qualifies as a beneficiary of international protection in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation);

²⁷⁰ **NL:** scrutiny reservation.

²⁷¹ **BE, IE, FI, IT:** scrutiny reservation. **SI:** reservation. **IE:** "may" provision is preferable. **SE:** it should also be clarified what happens if the time limits cannot be upheld. Having an obligation to accelerate procedures in all cases that meet the criteria may involve a considerable burden for the authorities; besides, the grounds for accelerated procedures may not always be obvious already at the time of lodging. Delete references to subsequent applications.

²⁷² **NL,** supported by **ES, IT:** the determining authority should have the possibility to decide whether an accelerated procedure should be applied, based on the merits of the individual case. Either it should not be obligatory to apply the accelerated procedure, or the applicable (short) time limits should be extendable. Flexibility is needed to be able to cope with a high influx of manifestly unfounded cases.

- (b) the applicant has made clearly inconsistent and contradictory, clearly false or obviously improbable representations which contradict ~~sufficiently verified~~ **relevant and available** country of origin information, thus making his or her claim clearly unconvincing ~~in relation as~~ to whether he or she qualifies as a beneficiary of international protection by virtue of Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation);²⁷³
- (c) the applicant has misled the authorities by presenting false information or documents or by withholding relevant information ~~or documents with respect to his or her identity or nationality~~ that ~~could have had~~ a negative impact on the decision;²⁷⁴
- (ca) **the applicant withheld documents relevant with respect to his or her identity or nationality or he or she has destroyed or disposed of an identity or travel document in order to prevent the establishment of his or her identity or nationality**;²⁷⁵
- (d) the applicant is making an application merely to delay or frustrate the enforcement of an ~~earlier or imminent~~ decision ~~resulting in~~for his or her removal from the territory of a Member State;²⁷⁶
- (e) a third country may be considered as a safe country of origin for the applicant within the meaning of this Regulation;
- (f) ~~the applicant may, for serious reasons, be considered~~ **there are reasonable grounds to consider the applicant as** a danger to the national security or public order of the Member States, **or the applicant has been forcibly expelled for serious reasons of national security or public order under national law**;²⁷⁷

²⁷³ **CZ:** delete last part from "in relation to..." as it is too restrictive and inflexible.

²⁷⁴ **CZ:** delete "that could have had a negative impact on the decision". **NL:** redraft as follows: "documents with respect to his or her identity, nationality, travel route or reasons for applying for international protection...". **SE:** it cannot always be presumed that a person does not have protection needs due to e.g. providing false documents.

²⁷⁵ **CZ:** demonstrating "in bad faith" is almost impossible.

²⁷⁶ **HU:** redraft as follows: "decision by the authority or judicial decision".

²⁷⁷ **EL:** this should be looked at as a priority not under the accelerated procedure.

- (g) the applicant does not comply with the obligations set out in Article 4(1) and Article 204(3) of Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation), unless he or she demonstrates that his or her failure was due to circumstances beyond his or her control;²⁷⁸
- (h) the application is a subsequent application, ~~where the application is so clearly without substance or abusive that it has no tangible prospect of success.~~²⁷⁹
2. ~~The determining authority shall conclude the accelerated examination procedure within two months from the lodging of the application. By way of exception, in the cases set out in paragraph (1)(d), the determining authority shall conclude the accelerated examination procedure within eight working days.~~
3. ~~Where an application is subject to the procedure laid down in Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation), the time limits referred to in paragraph 2 shall start to run from the moment the Member State responsible is determined in accordance with that Regulation, the applicant is on the territory of that Member State and he or she has been taken in charge in accordance with Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation).~~

²⁷⁸ **EL, ES:** reservation linked to Dublin. **NL** (supported by **EL**): delete point (g); this might not lead to using the accelerated procedure in all cases. As this is not related to the asylum motives, this could also lead to an accelerated granting of a status. Also, if the case is complex it simply cannot be concluded within the short time limits of the accelerated procedure. Besides, the Dublin Regulation does not provide for the possibility for the applicant to demonstrate that his or her failure was due to circumstances beyond his or her control. **SE** (supported by **EL**): using accelerated procedures as a sanction may also not be an appropriate tool. For persons with protection needs it may be positive to have a shorter procedure. In addition, there will be an administrative burden for the determining authority to process also more complicated applications with very short time limits.

²⁷⁹ **PL:** delete point (h).

4. Where the determining authority considers that the examination of the application involves issues of fact or law that are complex to be examined under an accelerated examination procedure, it may continue the examination on the merits in accordance with Articles 34 and 37. ~~In that case, or where otherwise a decision cannot be taken within the time limits referred to in paragraph 2, the applicant concerned shall be informed of the change in the procedure.~~²⁸⁰
5. The accelerated examination procedure may be applied to unaccompanied minors only where:²⁸¹
- (a) the applicant comes from a third country **that may be** considered to be a safe country of origin in accordance with the conditions set out in Article 47;
 - (b) **there are reasonable grounds to consider** the applicant ~~may for serious reasons be considered to be~~ as a danger to the national security or public order of the Member State, or the applicant has been forcibly expelled for serious reasons of ~~public~~ **national** security or public order under national law;
- (ba) the application is a subsequent application.**

²⁸⁰ **CZ:** delete para (4) as it is superfluous and will lead to an increased administrative burden. **HU:** clarify if the procedure should be formally divided or not. **NL:** if the accelerated procedure cannot be concluded within the time limits mentioned here, it should still be possible to declare the application manifestly unfounded; redraft as follows: "(4) Without prejudice to Article 37(3), where the determining authority considers that the examination of the application involves issues of fact or law that are too complex to be examined under an accelerated examination procedure, it may continue the examination on the merits in accordance with Articles 34 and 37." **SK:** para (4) has no added value; not acceptable to have an obligation to inform the applicant about the change of the procedure, since it implies obligation to also inform the applicant that his/her application is examined in accelerated procedure - additional administrative burden; the last sentence should be removed.

²⁸¹ **AT:** delete (a) and (b) and redraft para (5) as follows: "5. The accelerated examination procedure may be applied to unaccompanied minors for the reasons as mentioned in para. 1 provided that special consideration is given to their vulnerability and special needs."

Article 41

Border procedure²⁸²

1. **Without prejudice to Article 20 (3),** ~~the~~ determining authority may, in accordance with the basic principles and guarantees provided for in Chapter II, **examine and** take a decision on an application at the **external** border or in transit zones of the Member State on:²⁸³
 - (a) the admissibility of an application made at such locations pursuant to Article 36(4)²⁸⁴;
or
 - (b) the merits of an application **made at such locations** in the cases subject to the accelerated examination procedure referred to in Article 40
2. A decision referred to in paragraph 1 shall be taken as soon as possible without prejudice to an adequate and complete examination of the application, and not longer than four weeks from when the application is lodged.²⁸⁵

2a. The competent authorities may carry out the procedure for determining the Member State responsible for examining the application as laid down in Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Dublin Regulation) at the external border or in transit zones of the Member State.

²⁸² **CZ, EL:** scrutiny reservation. **EL:** the term "*border*" needs to be clarified; *borders and transit zones are to be determined by MS?*

²⁸³ **NL:** there could be cases in which the Dublin procedure is applicable to an applicant who has not yet entered the Schengen area. We think in such cases it should be possible to carry out the Dublin procedure at the border. Furthermore, a rejection of an asylum application in a border procedure has to be followed by a refusal to enter the country. A rejected asylum application is not such a refusal in itself, which is not efficient. Therefore redraft as follows: add "*or (2)*" in point (a) and add a second sub-para along the following lines: "*Such a decision shall, pursuant to article 8, paragraph 3, under d, of [the Reception Conditions Directive] be considered as a refusal to enter the territory.*"

²⁸⁴ **CZ:** the reference should be "36 (2)" to reflect current renumbering.

²⁸⁵ **NL,** supported by **PL:** sometimes the responsibility for not concluding the procedure within 4 weeks belongs to the applicant (e.g. in cases of ID fraud, new document submitted very late etc); in such cases it should be possible to extend the period by another four weeks.

3. Where a ~~final~~ decision **in the administrative procedure** is not taken within four weeks referred to in paragraph 2, the applicant shall no longer be kept at the border or transit zones and shall be granted entry to the territory of the Member State for his or her application to be processed in accordance with the other provisions of this Regulation.²⁸⁶
4. In the event of arrivals involving a disproportionate number of third-country nationals or stateless persons lodging applications for international protection at the border or in a transit zone, making it difficult in practice to apply the provisions of paragraph 1 at such locations, the border procedure may also be applied at locations in proximity to the border or transit zone.²⁸⁷
5. The border procedure may be applied to unaccompanied minors, in accordance with Articles 8 to 11 of Directive (EU) No XXX/XXX (Reception Conditions Directive) only where:²⁸⁸
 - (a) the applicant comes from a third country **that may be** considered to be a safe country of origin in accordance with the conditions set out in Article 47;
 - (b) **there are reasonable grounds to consider** the applicant ~~may for serious reasons be considered to be as~~ a danger to the national security or public order of the Member State, or the applicant has been forcibly expelled for serious reasons of ~~public~~ **national** security or public order under national law;
 - (c) there are reasonable grounds to consider that a third country is a safe third country for the applicant in accordance with the conditions of Article 45;

(ca) **the applicant withheld documents relevant with respect to his or her identity or nationality or it is likely that he or she has destroyed or disposed of an identity or travel document that would have helped to establish his or her identity or nationality;**

²⁸⁶ **SK:** reservation; four weeks is not enough especially if reference is made to a final decision.

²⁸⁷ **NL:** add "*closed*" before "*locations*".

²⁸⁸ **EL:** reservation on para (5), prioritising the examination of application from UAM is a good approach but it is doubtful that their best interest can be safeguarded in the accelerated or border procedure.

- (d) the applicant has misled the authorities by presenting false information or documents or by withholding relevant information or documents with respect to his or her identity or nationality that could have had a negative impact on the decision.

Points (ca) and (d) shall only be applied where there are serious grounds for considering that the applicant is attempting to conceal relevant elements which would likely lead to a decision refusing to grant international protection and provided that the applicant has been given an effective opportunity to provide substantiated justifications for his actions.²⁸⁹

Article 42

Subsequent applications²⁹⁰

- 1. Where an application is made by the same applicant in a Member State before a final decision on the previous application is taken by the Member State responsible, that application shall be considered as a further representation and not as a new application.

That further representation shall be examined in the Member State responsible in the framework of the ongoing examination in the administrative procedure or in the framework of any ongoing appeal procedure in so far as the competent court or tribunal may take into account the elements underlying the further representation.²⁹¹

²⁸⁹ **EL:** reservation on point (d); this provision has a clearly punitive character; is this acceptable for UAM who are in a vulnerable position and have diminished responsibility?
NL: delete "*with respect to his or her identity*" as this should also concern documents needed to substantiate the application.

²⁹⁰ **AT, BE, CY, CZ, DE, IE, LV, NL, PT, SI:** scrutiny reservation. **NL:** the system has become too complicated, as there are now three possible grounds to reject a subsequent applications with different procedural rules and consequences.

²⁹¹ **IT:** "*presentation*" instead of "*representation*". It should be clarified how information on subsequent applications are supposed to be shared among Member States, and so how the responsible Member State could have access to a subsequent application in order to take it into account during the administrative or judicial procedure.

1. After a previous application had been rejected by means of a final decision, any further application made by the same applicant in any Member State shall be considered to be a subsequent application by the Member State responsible.²⁹²
2. A subsequent application shall be subject to a preliminary examination in which the determining authority shall establish whether ~~relevant~~ new elements ~~or findings~~ have arisen or have been presented by the applicant **and** which:
 - (a) significantly increase the likelihood of the applicant **to** ~~qualifying~~ as a beneficiary of international protection by virtue of Regulation (EU) No XXX/XXX (Qualification Regulation); or

²⁹² **EL, NL:** reservation. **EL**, supported by **CY**: the definition is too broad; between two applications the situation in the country of origin may have deteriorated significantly, especially when the time lapse between the two is long enough. The current understanding of subsequent applications is that they are abusive and are lodged only to delay an eventual return or to prolong the stay in the m-s responsible. However, if the applicant is returned/readmitted and becomes again an asylum-seeker, several years later, due to an overall change of circumstances in his/her country of origin/country of readmission, then his/her second application cannot be examined as a subsequent application, i.e as an abusive one. A more appropriate definition is needed that will not risk restricting the rights of persons in real need; replace "any MS" by "the MS responsible". **NL:** reference to "final decision" and the definition of "final decision" in Art. 4 are problematic - if a decision becomes final only after the highest appeal this can prolong the procedure too much. Hence, modify the definition as follows: a decision is final when it "can no longer be subject to an appeal procedure pursuant to Article 53 in the Member State concerned". Reference to "any MS" is problematic in practice as authorities will need to access documents and files retrieved from the first Member States and then have them translated; this will lead to considerable costs and delay in the procedure. **IT**, supported by **CY**: "a MS" instead of "any MS" as these delegations oppose the principle of permanent responsibility (comment also valid for Art. 43 point (b)). Moreover, the verification of the existence of applications previously lodged in any MS is not feasible. Unclear which is the automated system the Commission referred to. **PL:** the "final decision" shall be a decision issued by first appeal authority/court. A right to an effective remedy in such situation should be understood only as a right to make an appeal against a decision issued by the first instance authority. The Commission's interpretation of this term (decision issued by the last appeal authority) increases a risk of extending the time limit needed to examine the application, imposing additional costs on MS (reception conditions for the applicants) and hampering the return procedures. Moreover, examining the application as a subsequent in a MS after examining the previous application by different MS seems to be incompatible with new Dublin Regulation and difficult to carry out in practice.

(b) ~~which~~ relate to **an inadmissibility ground previously applied, where** ~~the reasons for which~~ the previous application was rejected as inadmissible.²⁹³

3. The preliminary examination shall be carried out on the basis of written submissions ~~and~~ **or** a personal interview in accordance with the basic principles and guarantees provided for in Chapter II. **In particular,** ~~the~~ personal interview may be dispensed with in those instances where, from the written submissions, it is clear that the application does not give rise to ~~relevant~~ new elements **as referred to in paragraph 2** ~~or findings or that it is clearly without substance and has no tangible prospect of success.~~²⁹⁴

3a. The elements presented by the applicant shall be considered as being new only where the applicant was unable, through no fault on his or her own part, to present those elements in the context of the earlier application.

Any elements which could have been presented earlier by the applicant shall not be taken into account unless it would be unreasonable not to do so.

4. ~~A new procedure for the examination of the application for international protection shall be initiated w~~Where:

²⁹³ **NL**, supported by **PL**: reservation; in cases where an application is made merely to delay or frustrate the enforcement of a decision for removal (Article 40(1)(d)), the obligation to carry out a preliminary examination on written submissions would mean that the flight would have to be cancelled. This can lead to obstruction and abuse. For that reason it is necessary to make an exception for subsequent applications that are lodged shortly before a scheduled removal/flight. In that case it is preferable to conduct an ad hoc interview to quickly assess whether the applicant has any new relevant elements or findings or is just merely delaying or frustrating a decision for removal (comment also valid for para (3)). **AT**: delete point (b). **BE**: clarify this point and para (3a).

²⁹⁴ **IE**: the provision of a personal interview should not be mandatory. The written statement of the applicant should be sufficient for the preliminary examination of whether or not there are relevant new elements or findings to be taken into consideration.

(a) ~~relevant new elements as referred to in paragraph 2 or findings as referred to in paragraph 2(a) have arisen or have been presented by the applicant~~ **or have arisen, the application shall be further examined on its merits, unless the application may be considered as inadmissible on the basis of another ground provided for in Article 36(1a);**²⁹⁵

(b) ~~the applicant was unable, through no fault on his or her own part, to present those elements or findings during the procedure in the context of the earlier application, unless it is considered unreasonable not to take those elements or findings into account.~~²⁹⁶

5. **Where no new elements as referred to in paragraph 2 have been presented by the applicant or have arisen, the application may be rejected:**

(a) **as inadmissible pursuant to Article 36 (1a)(c); or**

(b) ~~the conditions for initiating a new procedure as set out in paragraph 4 are not met, the determining authority shall reject the application as inadmissible, or as manifestly unfounded where the application is so clearly without substance or abusive that it has no tangible prospect of success~~ **in the cases referred to in Article 40(1)(a) to (e).**

²⁹⁵ **AT:** delete "*on its merits*".

²⁹⁶ **IT:** last sentence of point (b) is difficult to understand. **BE:** are two steps necessary under para (4) - first the analysis of new elements, then the inadmissibility?

Exception from the right to remain in subsequent applications²⁹⁷

Without prejudice to the principle of *non-refoulement*,²⁹⁸ Member States may provide an exception from the right to remain on their territory and derogate from Article 54(1), **where as from when:**

- (a) a **first** subsequent application ~~has been~~ is rejected by the determining authority as inadmissible or manifestly unfounded;²⁹⁹
- (b) a second or further subsequent application is made in any Member State following a final decision rejecting a previous subsequent application as inadmissible, unfounded or manifestly unfounded.³⁰⁰

²⁹⁷ **NL:** reservation; this provision leaves insufficient room to process subsequent applications in a short time frame, especially where it concerns applications that are made merely to delay or frustrate the enforcement of a decision for removal. There is no longer the possibility to make an exception from the right to remain if the applicant makes a first subsequent application, even if such an application is lodged hours before the scheduled removal. This can lead to abuse and cancelling of the flight. This provision should give more possibilities to fulfil one of the objectives of the proposal, which is to diminish the abuse of asylum applications to obstruct the return. Therefore a reference to Art. 54 (4) should be added.

²⁹⁸ **EL:** unclear how this principle will be respected while at the same time, denying the right to an effective remedy to all rejected subsequent applications. **PL:** the first subsequent application should not protect from refoulement, as, in general, all the subsequent applications constitute the abuse of the asylum procedure; therefore redraft as follows: "*Without prejudice to the principle of non-refoulement, Member States may provide an exception from the right to remain on their territory and derogate from Article 54(1), where a subsequent application is made in any Member State following a final decision rejecting a previous application as inadmissible, unfounded or manifestly unfounded.*"

²⁹⁹ **EL:** reservation; according to this provision, there is no suspensive effect of the appeal in cases of subsequent applications that are rejected as inadmissible. This is problematic because it denies the right to an effective remedy. When the appeal will be examined by the court or tribunal and if the inadmissible decision is overturned, the applicant will no longer be in the MS in order to benefit from it. **AT:** add a new point as follows: "*a first subsequent application has been lodged, which is not further examined pursuant to Article 42(5), merely in order to delay or frustrate the enforcement of a decision which would result in his or her imminent removal from that Member State;*"

³⁰⁰ **EL, ES:** reservation regarding the reference to "*any MS*" (supported by **IT**) and "*final decision*".